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= Amerls Group is ene of America's leading life insurance and annuily companies. We ars intensely (ocused on our core =
businesses and ars commiited to delivering oulstanding value for our sustomers, distributors, associales and sharehelders. -
Several years age, we recegnized thal the markels ior 2ssel protestion and accumulalion predusts were undergsing
= deamatic changes. Customers were becoming more semsﬂﬂm io levels of risk and associated relurns. invesiment mariels ~
were becoming increasingly volaiele ndusiry- wud old produsis and strategies were failing to address consumer 8
demand for upside opporiunity with downside proteciion, as well 2s sharehelder demands for higher refurns. -
= YWe set oul i create a new Dusiness madel that would posilion AmsrUs Group for success in this changing environment.

.......

A model built on wetl-conceived producis, strong dislribution and the ability io guickly and eleclively execule on -
cmerging opportuniliss. & model designed to slrenglihen capitzl levels and deliver guality, predictable top ling growthin 1
a variety of markel condifions. & mode! supported by a disciplined, value-added {nvestmenl process and an expericnced,
siented team of assosiates focused on delivering outsianding botom-line resulis.

During 2003, the bensfits of this new medel became clsar, as it produced significant, positive resulls for your

= company-vunderscoring our story of accurale FORESIGHT, disciplined FOCUS and results-oriented EXECUTION.
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Seven years may not seem like & long time for a company whose
history dates back to 1896.

—
__J(:)

But in the seven years since our IPO came to market in 1997,
we have transformed AmerUs Group from a small, successful
regional player in the financial services industry to a nationwide
leader in both the life insurance and annuity marketplaces.

We completed three acquisitions and two demutualizations.
We divested our non-core businesses and recast our product
portfolio from low-return traditional life and annuity products
to higher-margin products designed to better serve the needs of
our target markets. We reinvented our distribution systems,
achieving multi-channel balance in our life insurance business
and creating a powerful, predominantly owned sales force for
our annuity business. Along the way, we delivered outstanding

results to our shareholders,

During the seven years ended December 31, 2003, AmerUs

Group assets grew seven-fold to $22 billion. Life and annuity
sales grew at a compound annual growth rates of 25 percent and
67 percé‘nf’ respectively. Operating earnings grew at a compound
annual growth rate of 20 percent. Operating return on equity
steadily advanced from less than eight percent to 12 percent.

Our vision was to create a company that could deliver strong,
sustainable earnings growth under a variety of market conditions.
And our performance in 2003 suggests that this vision has
already become reality, with future benefits emerging as we
continue to execute our strategy.

While low interest rates continued to pressure the fixed life
insurance and annuity markets, our refined product, distribution
and operating strategies enabled AmerUs Group to produce
record adjusted net operating income of $149 million in 2003,
Net income advanced 156 percent over 2002 results to $161.1
million. Book value (excluding accumulated other comprehensive

income) grew more than 12 percent in 2003 to $33.81 per

share and we achieved our goal of 12 percent return on equity. @

We also strengthened our management team, continued to
streamline operations and positioned the company, strategically,

tactically and financially, for additional success going forward.

Tlia (omesigt to "o products right”

One of the strengths of AmerUs Group is product innovation. 4

sustainable product strategy must deliver value to the company, as
well as to customers and distributors. That’s why all of our prod- |
ucts are designed and managed to increase competitiveness, §

'fability, effectively rﬁénage risk and accelerate the }

achieve these ob]ectwes We made the difficult but appropriate |
decision to eliminate the par whole life product line, which no §
longer delivered acceptable margins. And we shifted our
business away from term life products and traditional fixed §

annuities, which detract frém the valié 6f our enterprise in the

:f
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This Annual Report contains non-GAAP measures. Please see paps 12 for more N
information and reconcitiations te the most directly comparable GAAP measures, If. any. —|




current low interest rate environment. We continued to improve
our industry-leading equity-index products to deliver even greater
security and long-term value for customers and the company.
We utilize a disciplined, “fast-follower” approach to product
development, which means we won’t always be the first company
to enter a new marketplace. Instead, we study competitors’
% products and consumer demand, then enter a market only when
e We know we can effectively meet a well-defined need. We used
this fast-follower approach in the equity-index market, which
: enabled us to quickly build a significant presence in that
emerging and growing market. We studied what others were
doing, then delivered a better deéfg‘n, a leading edge

administrative system and a simpl'e,fvfconservative hedging

strategy to effectively manage risk. We will continue to

At the close of 2003, AmerUs Group ranked first in the $100

B ruillion’ equity-index life insurance market, with.a,52 percent :: ;

m market share. We ranked second in the $14 billion equity-index

M 5 nuity market, with a nine percent market share.

Be= During 2004, we will use our fast-follower approach to deliver

weenia competitive lifetime no-lapse guarantee for our universal life

= roducts. We are better attuned to the marketplace than
mm,;o've ever been. We are using our product discipline to

essclectively compete in the markets and segments that

#deliver the best risk/return profiles.

Q - : g [‘(Q

cusing en mope [ralilahle s sles
uring 2003, we significantly improved the margins in our
e ¢ products—and still delivered our second-highest sales year

bver, producing $119 million in new life insurance premiums.

=

Over the last six years, AmerUs Group life insurance sales have
grown at a compound annual growth rate of 14 percent, while
total sales in the life insurance industry grew by .an average of
less than three percent over the same period of time.”

As a result of our growth, AmerUs Group ranks among
America’s top 15 providers of fixed life insurance. Qur goal is to
be among the top ten, and we are planning for ten percent
growth in life insurance sales in 2004. 9

We continued to benefit from strong sales of our equity-index
life insurance products in 2003, which grew 13 percent to

$52 million. These well-conceived’ products address consumer

demand for upsiqé opportunity and downside protection,:

while delivering faster emergence of earnings to the company..

They have been embraced by both customers .and

distributors, and we expect sales of these products to continue
to grow in 2004. According to Advantage Compendium,

an independent research and consulting firm, AmerUs

Group was far-and-away the:mational leader in equity-index life.. .

insurance sales in 2003.

During 2003, we accomplished a number of other goals
designed to enhance earnings from our life insurance
operations. We completed the integration of Indianapolis Life
and reduced staff in our life insurance operations by 20
percent, We significantly strengthened our life group senior
management team, while aligning our brands and distribution

channels to reduce conflict and enhance future growth.

oy mld-chomel balans
i e distribution
Because we believe our customers benefit from the knowledge

and experience of professionally trained agents, we have always
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been an agent-based company. Agents like our innovative
products and advanced technology, as well as our willingness
to listen to their ideas and respond to the needs of their clients.
During 2003, we continued to enjoy success in attracting top
producers to our growing enterprise. At the close of the year,
more than 22,000 agents in four diversified distribution
channels were under contract to sell our products.

During the year, we also improved the quality of our
distribution infrastructure— eliminating marginal producers and

setting the stage for continued profitable growth.

Dutstinding eueelon 1o o apmily Husiness

The accumulation business is a strong compiement to our
protection business, and AmerUs Group continues to be a leader
in America’s fixed annuity industry.

During 2003, we held new annuity sales at §1.8 billion, which
- wag:in line-with 2002 sales. We prudently decided not to grow
sales, since low interest rates also continued to compress profit
margins on existing business.

Instead, we literally turned our production on a dime-shifting
new sales from traditional fixed annuities to equity-index
annuities. Equity-index annuities not only deliver attractive
returns and guarantees to customers, they also produce wider
spreads than those available on fixed products and create greater
long-term value for the company and our investors. Qur goal was
to grow equity-index annuities from a third of our sales in 2002
to two-thirds of our sales in 2003. We more than accomplished
this objective, with equity-index sales exceeding 75 percent of

our volume last year.

arieting:Renaniziio

Vg et - oy 108

Bonrolled anmuily CstPBMien 18 ¢
Simalegie auvaniage

We were able to achieve the dramatic shift to equity-inde :
annuity products because of our structure and our culture. Ratherg
than have contracts with thousands of agents—as many leadingl
annuity companies do—our model is designed to work with a ;
smaller number of professional agents who write significantig
amounts of business. By managing these agents primarilyli
through company-owned marketing organizations, we can mor
quickly and effectively control our sales mix to take advantag

of interest rate changes and marketplace opportumtxes




Our controlled distribution strategy produces additional MESSAGE FROM ROBER K. BRODKS

®
AT & ) E
benefits for customers, producers and the company. The _ c‘PM“RWJAN AND CEC

emphasis on active, professional agents has resulted in lower ] ) .
: P 8 One of our most impesient evenls ir 2003 was the

apnoiniment of Tem Godlasiy as prosidant and chied
pperating cificer of Amerls Grownp. This rasuited fiom
ery disciplined succession prosess which was pul
in place by our beard of ¢ivectors {o sasure hatl ws
have skrong maragsment sontinully in the company.

reioen)

= k= eliminate the costs of licensing and serving thousands of

& turnover among our producers as well as our customers. We
s unproductive agents, while creating exclusivity and greater value

Ml in our agent contract.

- %@[ 1, Uiseilinad Tvesiment pErluPmancs

----- : . : ' Tom Is well- :;maﬁ*”ed} for this new rols and he has my

“‘ During 2003, we took advantage of improving markets to ful! sonfidancs am support. Tom foined e mmmw

? generate $1 billion in net investment income. In addition, we in 1898, 2ad kas playad 2 HGVJ laadsrstin mfa Iﬂ‘ — :
improved our credit quality, further diversified our risk, | strzlagie mmmmmm. 5‘33 has guar 23 w@am of o

managemaen’ sxperience 2nd hes arovidad exeslisat 1

resulis-orianted leadarship lor 2 number of our 6ore

A{uzctiorns incleding our invesimsnt operations, ‘

e B R R - Infgrmation lechnelegy division, J@,mmvawmﬂ@ S

‘ apareticna! improvement initialive, and eiliers.

enhanced our asset allocation and significantly strengthened our

// T
Booause Toim is now loading ihe daily (mz_mvm..}
P operatiens of tha company, | havs more -~ e
—- . .- R Lo gecspmmeny]
< time to devota lo stralegic issues inmy ° - & emn
P 44‘ BT
. role of ghalrman and ehiel exsoulive . W/

offizer. Tom 23¢ | have 2 common s&1
o goals and ara commitied {o ereating

value fer our eonstituents. =N : =
LY %ﬂf ){/&ié/ .‘: .

Thomas C. Gmﬂﬂasky
President and COO
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a strong, high-quality investment portfolio supporting our products.

Throughout the year, we worked to refine our mix of assets-

reducing lower-rated securities and lowering single-issuer
credit exposure, while freeing up and enhancing capital. Qur

investment and asset-liability disciplines are strong, and we are

focused on managing risks and building long-term value for
our shareholders.
As evidence of this focus, our risk-based capital ratio grew t0 317

percent in 2003, above our target of 300 percent. To maintain

this superior capital position, we are now pricing all of our

products at the 300 percent risk-based capital level.

Our Gorporal QoVEPnance: &S imporiant and
48 Siramg 48 ever

We believe

that effective corporate governance is the
PR

ST - . R . .
‘cornerstone of our company. We have always had stréng,

independent directors who are committed to overseeing

company management and ensuring that the interests of the

.iu‘imiiddhuiqumuimusuum;lli:li. i

g i

____1 shareholders are served. The composition of our board, its -
0o we) i—
T processes, committees and overall spirit ensure that you, our i
:-;5 shareholders, are fully represented.

o -

Cur directors are talented individuals whose interests are

‘i

usasEAN U an g nagnunndlil

f—':_; aligned with those of our shareholders. Earlier this year RISKBASET— -
:‘E we were very pleased to add Stephen Strome, chairman ;_Mpﬂ,ﬁiﬂﬁlﬂ:.f -
and chief executive officer of the Handleman Company, to AmerUs L ®O0wB ]
—:g Group’s board. He is a respected leader and visionary in the -

i

|
|

prerecorded music distribution industry, and we look forward to

benefiting from his creativity and experience as we go forward.

NN




At our annual meeting thjs year, John Albers, a 21-year board
member, will retire. John has played a key role in the leadership

of our board. While his contributions are too numerous to list

in full, his guidance during our transition from a mutual
E%= insurance company to a publicly-held stock insurance company

and his sound judgment on corporate governance principles

have been a critical part of our success. We thank John for his

service and contributions.

Focusing oo e e

In 2004, we will continue to focus our resources on our two core
e ségments —protection and asset accumulation. We will continue
“:: to manage these Businesses in ways that enable us to maintain a
ma market leadership position in our target sectors while providing

[——

e value to our customers, distributors, associates and shareholders.

® Lf the current low interest rate envirgn

t persists, achieving
me= could be challenging. However, we will actively manage our
businesses to minimize this impact.

= Our plans include long-term goals of 11 to 13 percent

e compound annual growth in operating earnings, 13 to 14

il

percent operating return on equity, and 10 to 12 percent
amm cCompound annual growth in life and annuity sales. We are

pame cComnMmitted to delivering consistent, predictable, high-quality

— earnings growth.

We will continue to benefit from the skills and experience of

our management team and associates across America, whose

foresight, focus and ability to execute serve us well. We are

ositioned among the very best in our industry, but our work is

ot dore.

our targeted profit levels in our tradifional spread businesses

we will continue to execute our growth strategies, maintain
our operatiornal and financial discipline and efficiently manage
our aperations to deliver growing value to you.

Thank you for your continued trust and confidence.

e A Gt T O By

Thomas C. Godlasky
President and COO

Roger K. Brooks
Chairman and CEO
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Amerts %ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ RERES (s of March 15, 2004

Major Operating Subsidiaries

AmerUs Group currently has an annual dividend policy at a rate of $0.40 per share payable in December of each year.
This policy is subject to board of director approval.

amerUs Bankers American Indianapetis
FINANCIAL STRENGTH Life Life invastors Life Life
A.M. Best A A A A
Moody's A3 Not rated A3 A3
Standard & Poor's A+ A+ A+ A+
Senior Capital
CREDIT RATINGS Senior Dbt Subordinated Debt Securities
AM. Best bbb+ bbb bbb-
Moody's Baal Ba1 Bal
Standard & Pgor’s BBa+ BBB BBa-
A.M. Best's and Moody’s financial strength and credit rating outlook is currently negative.
Gomman Stock Pricas and Bividends
High ’ Low Dividends

2003
First Quarter $ 30.70 - $ 22.94 $ —
Second Quarter 28.41 . o 24.44 —
Third Quarter 35.89 _ 2770 —
Fourth Quarter 38.00 T 3448 0.40
2002
First Quarter $ 39.50 $ 34,00 § —
Second Quarter 3 39.90 34.45 —

. Third O_uarter 37.21 o —_
Fourth Quarter 32.26 0.40
DIVIBENDS
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Amerls Growp a1 4 Glanes

PROTEETION SERRIERT

COMPANY PROFILE

CHANNELS

e
oo

PRODUCTS

Amerls Life °
tnsurance Company o
Des foines, fowa °

{indianapolis Life o
Insurance Company °
indianapolis, Indiana °

Bankers Life °
insurance Company °
of New York °
Woodbury, New York °

Licensed in 49 states and the District of Columbia
Founded in 1896

$43.2 bitlion of insurance in force

$5.9 billion in statutory assets

Licensed in 48 states and the District of Columbia
Founded in 1905

$36.7 billion of insurance in force

$3.9 billion in statutory assets

Licensed in 13 states

Founded in 1958

$18.0 billion of insurance in force
$500 miltion in statutory assets

COWMPANY . . . PROFILE .

o Eight regional vice presidents

o 1,200 preferred producers

o 2,500 personal producing
general agents

°

Seven regional vice presidents

2,300 personal producing

general agents

< B7 independent marketing
organizations

« 9,500 independent agents

o

o Four regional vice presidents
o 150 personal progucing
general agents V

o 6,800 independent ageﬁ;ts

«

CHANNELS L e esremen

. FRODUCTS -

> Equity-Index Life Insurance

o Universal Life Insurance

o Term Life Insurance

+ Interest-Sensitive Life Insurance
¢ Equity-Index Annuities e
* Traditional Fixed Annuities -
o Equity-Index Life Insurance

° Interest-Sensitive Life insurance

o Universal Life Insurance
o Term Life Insurance
o Traditional Fixed Annuities

o Universal Life Insurance

o Equity-Index Life Insurance

o Interest-Sensitive Life Insurance
e Term Life Insurance . —
= Traditional Fixed Annuities ]

Smerican investers Lifs »
Insurance Company °
Topeka, Kansas .

Licensed in 49 states and the District of Columbia
Founded in 1965

$1.8 billion in annual premium

$8.0 billion in statutory assets

"576,000 licensed independent

agents/brokers
« 10 independent marketing
organizations

o Equity-Index Annuities
s Traditional Fixed Annuities




E%@MW% @ﬁﬂ@@@% AmerUs Group (unless otherwise indicated)

Roger K. Brooks Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Thomas C. Godlasky President and Chief Operating Officer

Gregory D. Boal Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer
Brian J. Clark Executive Vice President and Chief Product Officer |
Victor N. Daley Executive Vice President and Chief Administration and Human Resources Officer
Mark V. Heitz President and Chief Executive Officer—AmerUs Annuity Group

Gery R. McPhail President and Chief Executive Officer~AmerUs Life Insurance Group

Melinda S. Urion Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

e - "\ '\\m" = 2 o 3
Roger K. Brooks Thomas C. Godlasky  fjohn R. Albers David A. Arledge <  Alecia A. Thomas F. Gaffney * ¢
Chairman and CEO, President and COO, President and CEO, Chairman, Realty Group ~ DeCoudreaux 3 Principal, The Anderson
AmerUs Group AmerUs Group Fairfield Enterprises, Inc. of Naples, LLC Secretary and Deputy Group, Inc.

General Counsel,
Eli Lilly and Company

. .3
Lo
Ll - "
- » =
— john W. Norris Jr. +? Andrew ]. Peine Jr."*  Jack C. Pester *° Stephen Strome * John A, Wing * F. A. “Art”
“”E Chairman, Lennox Former President and Chairman and CEQ, Pester Chairman and CEQ, Partner, Dancing Wittern, jz. "*
- International, Inc. CEO, NBD Bank, N.A, Marketing Company Handleman Company Lion Partners Chairman and CEO,
P The Wittern Group
=
- 3
E .| . N
: L:J 'Audit Committee member

“Human Resources and Compensation Committee member
*Nominating and Cerporate Governance Committee member
‘Finance and Strategy Committee member

investment and Risk Management Committee member
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SECERITY LUSTiRIGS
Common Stock: AMH (NYSE)
Preferred: AMH A (NYSE)

RERUAL DRI

The annual meeting of shareholders
will be held on Thursday, May 13, 2004,
at2pm. COTat:

RECISTRAR AND TRARSFER AGHIT Amerls Cont cent
Melton tnvestor Services LLG merlis Lonrerence Lenier
Hub Tower, 3rd Floor
85 Chalienger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 075660 699 Walnut Street
agetie'c Fark, Des Moines, IA

{800)304-9709
www.melloninvestor.com Sharehoiders of record at the close
of business on March 8, 2004,

will be entitled to vots.

ELECTRURIG ACCESS 70 YOUR ACCOURT

Shareholders may access their accounts
= ” TOO for foreign shareholders: electronically through the folfowing website:
——~ {201)329-8354 www.melloninvestor.com under the Investor
vt ServiceDirect™ section. A partial listing of
pap RIEPERTENT AUDITARS teatures available includes:
Ell Ernst & Young LLP o selling your shares
T 801 Grand Avenue < printing duplicate tax information
Bl Des Moines, |A 50308 o certifying your taxpayer ID

- e changing your address

Ll R e i

Foreign shareholders;
(201)329-8660

B TDD for hearing impaired:
B (800)231-5469

F

{ 'x!f"

Forveed [o0ling Sketements -~

e requesting dividend reinvestment enroliment materiais -
S 3% K

FIRAREIAL AR (VESTOR RFORIATION

A copy of the most racent annual report and Form
10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, has been included for our shareholders
of record for the annual meeting and will be provided
free of charge to shareholders upon request. Written
requests shoutd be directed to:

Martin P. Ketelzar

Vice President, Investor Refations
AmerUs Group Co.

P.0. Box 1555

Des Moines, 1A 50306-1555
{515)362-3693 phane
(515)362-3648 fax
marty.ketelaar@amerus.com

TPORRATION DR TR (RSTERRSET
Information about AmerUs Group

is available on the Intermnet. Visit

our home page at: www.amerus.com

P e

B This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning

¥ of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In some

cases forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of words such

as “may,” “will,” “plan,” “intend,” “believe,” “expect,” “estimate,” “continue,”
g and similar expressions that refer to the future. Estimates, forecasts and other
B forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are based on many
B z2ssumptions about complex economic and operating factors that cannot be

Weme predicted accurately, and are subject to factors that may cause actual results 1o

differ materially from the views, beliefs and projections expressed in those
statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the state-
ment was made. AmerUs Group Co. undertakes no obligation to update or revise
any forward-looking statement. For further information on the factors that
could cause actual results to differ from the company’s expactations as well as
other factors that could affect the company’s financial statements, please refer

to the company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.




Mon-0RAP Measuras

The company presents financial information excluding certain items in addition to GAAP results in order to provide supplemental information on the company’s operating
performunce. The non-GAAF measures should not be viewed as a substitute for the most directly comparable GAAP measures. Non-GAAP measures included {n this Annuai Report
are adjusted nel operating income, operating earnings per share, book value per share excluding accumulated other comprehensive income, operating return on equity and sales,

- Sales have no comparable GAAP financial measure as revenue is driven by prior period as well as current period sales. Projecied operating income and projected operating return
- an equity cannot be reconciled to comparable GAAP measures due to the fact that management does not project certain items included in GAAP net income due to their
"3 unpredictability. For gll other non-GAAP measures, a reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial measure {s below.
AmerUs Life AmerUs Life AmerUs Life Amerls AmerUs Amerls AmerUs !
Holdings, Inc.  Holdings, Inc. Holdings, Inc. Group Co. Group Co. Group Co. Group Co. '
8in milions, excent per share amounts 1997 1298 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 §
Metlmeome ... ..o oiieiiiiii e $ 58059 § 62828 § 56,6804 3 51,840 § 72907 § 62,866 $ 161,147
Non-core realized losses (gains) ................ (9.431) 6,182 4,500 5,153 25,475 66,386 {20,941)
Net amortization of DAC and VOBA due
to non-core realized gains or 10Sses. ......... 423 (129) 1,387 (4,028) (3,613) {10,869) 5,889
Net effect of accounting differences
from the adoption of SFAS 133 .......... ... — - —_ - 6,417 14,638 (8,553)
— Reorganization costs .. ......ovvvin it — — 1,762 10,063 969 1,186 —
| Restructuring costs ............ooovieiiinnn - - — — 5,476 13,225 14,989
Rt Other income from non-instrance operations . .. ... - — — (717) (1,820) (2.898) (2,557)
L Cumulative effect of change in accounting. ........ - - - - 8,235 - 1,296
T Non-recurring reinsurance adjustments .. ........ — — — — — — (2,505)
"3 Atjusted Met Dperating lncoma (ANOY) .......... S 43050 § 58,882 $ 74,303 “3 62311 § 114047 $ 144534 $ 148,885
_l“; Diluted per share amounts: L
= Netincome . ......coviiiiiiiiiiiinn $ 246 3 186 § 220 § 246 3§ 195 3§ 156 $ 407
~B Adjusted Net Operating Income ............. 3 208 § 204 § 245 8. 296 8 ;305 .8 358 8 376. R

Weighted averagé comman shares outsfanding: ilé 2 < N : “,:
=#2:,035,518 37,453,428 40,398,378 39,618,217 .

Diluted ..o 23,572,259 33,695,752 30,306,649
Stockholders' equily:
Stockholders’ equity, Janvary t ... ... ... 457,510 927,991 850,198 - =772,030 827,955 1,238.517 1,262,948

less accumulated other

comprehensive income (AOCH) ............. (35,300) (65,747) (26,711) 87,974 17,188 {12,669) (88,522) N
Stackholders' equity, excluding AOCY, January 1 ... 422,210 872,244 823,487 840,004 845,143 1,225,848 1174426 ©W
Stockholders' equityl December 31 927,891 850,198 733,000 827,955 1,238,517 1,262,948 1,409,811 N

r onn ABSSAQC Lo v (85,747) . (26,711) 135,964 17188 ... .(12:669)-c... - .(88,522) - -(84,318)

"Stockholders"‘equ\ty excludmg AQCH, December 31. 872244 823,487 BBB,964 *° . B45,143 T 1,225:848~ 1,174,426 1,325,292
Operating Return on Equity: B
Average stockholders' equity excluding AOC! ... ... 647,227 847,866 846,226 842,574 1,035,496 1,200,137 1,249,859
Operating return on equity using ANG! . ....... ... 7.6% B.1% 8.8% 7.4% 11.0% 12.0% 11.9%
ANOI before minority interest .................. 86,117
Operating return on equity using

ANO! before minority interest .............. 10.2%
GAAP Relturn on Equity:
Average stockholders' equity .................. 692,751 889,095 791,599 799,993 1,033,236 1,250,733 1,336,380 -]
Return G egquity ... ooovve e 8.4% 7.1% 8.4% 6.5% 7.1% 5.0% 121% .
Book Value per Shave:
Number of shares outstanding at year-end .. ... ... 39,194,602
Book value per share excluding AGCH ............ 3 33.81

Book value per share on GAAP basis ............ ) 35.97
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
or
(O Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-15166

AmerUs Group Co.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in i1s charter)

lowa 42-1458424
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) {1.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
T 699 Walnut Street, Des Momes, Towa 50309-3948
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (515) 362-3600

"

Secun_ﬁes registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
. - Name of Each Exchange

Title of Each Class ' on Which Registered
Common Stock (noparvalue) ..ottt New York Stock Exchange
Income PRIDES™™ ... ... ... AU e New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to.Section 12(g) of the Act: None

][ndlcate by check mark whether the:Registrant-(1): has:filed all reports 1o be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange ‘Act of 1934 dunng the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K
(§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. 0J

Aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant as of March 2, 2004:
$1,590,914,318 .

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act) Yes R No O

Number of shares outstanding of each of the Registrant’s classes of common stock on March 2, 2004 was
as follows:

Common StOCK . ..ot e e 39,301,835 shares
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders to be held
May 13, 2004 are incorporated by reference into Part IIT of this Form 10-K.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, contains statements which constitute forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements relating to trends in
E= operations and financial results and the business and the products of the Registrant and its subsidiaries, as well
= as other statements including words such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”
= and other similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are made based upon management’s current
expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on the Company. Such
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Factors that may cause our actual
results to differ materially from those contemplated by these forward-looking statements include, among
others, the following possibilities: (a) general economic conditions and other factors, including prevailing
interest rate levels and stock and bond market performance, which may affect our ability to sell our products,
the market value of our investments and the lapse rate and profitability of our policies; (b} our ability to
achieve anticipated levels of operational efficiencies and cost-saving initiatives and to meet cash requirements
based upon projected liquidity sources; (c) customer response to new products, distribution channels and
marketing initiatives; (d) mortality, morbidity, and other factors which may affect the profitability of our
insurance products; (e) our ability to develop and maintain effective risk management policies and procedures
and to maintain adequate reserves for future policy benefits and claims; (f) changes in the federal income tax
and other federal laws, regulations and interpretations, including currently proposed federal measures that may
significantly affect the insurance business including limitations on antitrust immunity, minimum solvency
requirements, and changes to the tax advantages of life insurance and annuity products or programs with
- which they are used; (g) increasing competition in the sale of insurance and annuities and the recruitment of

. sales representatives; (h) regulatory changes, interpretations or pronouncements including those relating to -
the regulation of insurance companies and the regulation and sale of their products; (i) our ratings and those
of our subsidiaries by independent rating organizations which we believe are particularly important to the sale
of our products; (j) the performance of our investment portfolios; (k) the impact of changes in standards of r= - ¢ i
accounting; (1) our.ability:to integrate the business and operations of -acquired entities;- (m) expected. 2 . ,
protection products and accumulation products margins; (n) the impact of anticipated mvestmem fransac-:' i F
tions; and (o) unanticipated litigation or regulatory investigations or examinations. '
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There can be no assurance that other factors not currently anticipated by us will not materially and
adversely affect our results of operations. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-
looking statements made by us or on our behalf. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the
statement was made. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement.
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PART [

ITEM 1. Business

Web Access to Reperts

We make our periodic and current reports filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, available, free of charge at our website as soon as reasonably practicable
after such reports are filed electronically with or furnished to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
QOur internet website address to obtain such filings is www.amerus.com.

Definitions

When used in this document, the terms “AmerUs,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to AmerUs Group Co.
(including American Mutual Holding Company and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. as predecessor entities of

AmerUs Group Co.), an Iowa corporation, and our consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise specified or
indicated by the context.

General

We are a holding company whose subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the business of marketing,
underwriting and distributing a broad range of individual life, annuity and insurance deposit products to
individuals and businesses in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin Islands. We have two
reportable operating segments; ‘protection products and accumulation products. The primary offerings of the
protection products segment are interest-sensitive whole life, term life, universal life and equity-indexed life

insurance policies. The primary offerings of the accumulation products:segment are individual deferrcd fixed .
annumes, equity-indexed annuities and funding agreements. .. -z

We were founded in 1896 as the mutual insurer C‘cntral Life Assﬁf‘rance Company. In 1996, we became:

the first Mutual Holding Company, or MHC, a structure that allows mutuals to access the public equity -

markets, which AmerUs did in 1997 with its initial public offering, In"2000, AmerUs reorganized its MHC
structure through a full demutualization and became a 100% public stock company.

We have had positive organic growth in our businesses. We have also successfully executed a series of
strategic acquisitions that have helped generate sales growth, as well as balance our product and geographlc

- distribution, The following is a summary of these acquisitions and thefbenéfits-created:~

e In 1994, Central Life Assurance Company and American Mutual Life Insurance Co. merged providing
us with significant scale in our life insurance operations. The merger resulted in our becoming one of
the 25 largest mutual insurers in America at that time.

= In October 1997, the acquisition of Delta Life Corporation launched our annuity business. At the time
of the acquisition, Delta Life had about $2.0 billion in assets and specialized in single-premium
deferred annuity and equity-indexed annuity products.

> In December 1997, we acquired AmVestors Financial Corporation, predecessor to AmerUs Annuity
Group Co., which specialized in the sale of individual fixed annuity products. The acquisition further
strengthened our presence in asset accumulation and retirement and savings markets.

o In 2001, we acquired Indianapolis Life Insurance Company, an Indiana life insurance company, and its
subsidiaries which had approximately $6 billion in consolidated assets at the time of the acquisition,
The acquisition allowed us to strengthen our life insurance business and ultimately provided us with a
better balance of annuity and life insurance product sales.

2
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Subsidiaries

We have four main direct subsidiaries: AmerUs Life Insurance Company, or ALIC, an Iowa life
insurance company; AmerUs Annuity Group Co., or AAG, a Kansas corporation; AmerUs Capital Manage-
ment Group, Inc., or ACM, an Iowa corporation; and ILICO Holdings, Inc., an Indiana corporation.

AAG owns, directly or indirectly, two Kansas life insurance companies: American Investors Life
Insurance Company, Inc., or American; and Financial Benefit Life Insurance Company, or FBL. On
December 31, 2002, Delta Life and Annuity Company was merged into American.

ILICO Holdings, Inc., has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Indianapolis Life Insurance Company, or ILIC,
an Indiana life insurance company. ILIC. has two wholly-owned subsidiaries; Bankers Life Insurance
Company of New York, or Bankers Life, a New York life insurance company; and IL Securities, Inc., an
Indiana corporation. When used in this document, the term “ILICO” refers to ILICO Holdings, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. IL Annuity and Insurance Company, or IL Annuity, was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of ILIC which was merged into ILIC effective June 30, 2003. [LICO was owned by AmerUs Group Co.
(92.2%) and ALIC (7.8%). Effective September 30, 2003, ALIC dividended its ownership interest in ILICO
to AmerUs Group Co. resulting in AmerUs Group Co. owning 100% of ILICO.

Organization as of December 31, 2003

AmerUs Group Co.
: ]

il | I I . . i
AmerUs Annuity AmerUs Capital AmerUs Life ILICO -
Group Co. Management Group, Inc.| | Insurance Company Holdings Inc. -

- f - . b R s S "“"

i _l A - L -

American Investors Financial - ' 1 Indianapolis Life C i .
Life Insurance Ben%ﬁt Life Insurance Company a o
Company, Inc! Insurance Company ) i - o
—
. | i

- Barkers Life Insurance IL Securities, Inc -
o Company of New York -
b . . o ot I L BN m

Reorganization T T TEe .
o . . i
e We were formerly known as American Mutual Holding Company, or AMHC and were a mutual e
— insurance holding company, with our principal asset being a 58% interest in AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., or -

AILHI. Public stockholders owned the remaining 42% interest in ALHI with their interest referred to as .
minority interest. ALHI was a holding company which directly or indirectly owned ALIC and American, its =
principal life insurance subsidiaries. On September 20, 2000, we converted to stock form, changed our name to
AmerUs Group Co. and acquired the minority interest of ALHI by issuing our common stock in exchange for
the outstanding shares of ALHI held by the public. The value of the stock exchange was approximately
$298 million and ALHI was merged into us simultaneously with the stock exchange.

Prior to our conversion to a stock company, which is referred to as a demutualization, we were owned by
individuals and entities who held insurance palicies or annuity contracts issued by ALIC. Such individuals and
entities were considered members. In connection with our demutualization, we distributed cash, policy credits i
and our newly issued common stock to those members in exchange for their membership interests. The value =
of the distribution totaled approximately $792 million.

The acquisition of the minority interest of ALHI by us was accounted for as a purchase and 42% of the =
book value of the assets and liabilities of ALHI was adjusted to market value as of the acquisition date.

3
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Approximately 42% of the ALHI earnings for our fiscal periods prior to the acquisition date are deducted from
our results of operations on the line titled “minority interest” in our consolidated statements of income. From
the acquisition date forward, our results of operations include 100% of such earnings.

Closed Block

We have established two closed blocks of policies: (a) the first on June 30, 1996 in connection with the
reorganization of ALIC from a mutual company to a stock company, and (b) the second on March 31, 2000
in connection with the reorganization of ILIC from a mutual company to a stock company (collectively, the
closed block). Insurance policies which had a dividend scale in effect as of each closed block establishment
date were included in the closed block. The closed block was designed to give reasonable assurance to owners
of insurance policies that, after the reorganizations of ALIC and ILIC, assets would be available to maintain
the dividend scales and interest credits in effect prior to the reorganization, if the experience underlying such
scales and crediting continued. The assets, including revenue therefrom, allocated to the closed block will
accrue solely to the benefit of the owners of policies included in the closed block until the closed block no
longer exists, We will continue to pay guaranteed benefits under all policies, including policies included in the
closed block, in accordance with their terms. In the event that the closed block’s assets are insufficient to meet

the benefits of the closed block’s guaranteed benefits, general assets would be utilized to meet the contractual
benefits of the closed block’s policyholders.

Acquisition

On May 18, 2001, we completed the acquisition of ILICO for an amount of cash, policy credits and
shares of our common stock equal to the value of 9.3 million shares of ‘our common stock. The purchase price
totaled a value of approximately $326 million. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and the total
purchase price was allocated to the assets and liabilities of ILICO based on the relative fair values as of the
acquisition date. See further discussion in note {5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ILIC previously owned The Indianapolis Life Grodp of Companiés, Inc., or IL Group. IL Group-owned:

Bankers Life, IL Secunities, Inc., IL Annuity, and Western Security Life Insurance Company, or WSLIC, an -

Arizona life insurance company. Effective on March 5, 2002, IL Group was dissolved and its four wholly-
owned subsidiaries became direct subsidiaries of ILIC. In addition, on March 29, 2002, WSLIC was sold with
its insurance business transferred to ILIC prior to the sale. The sale of the corporate organization and
insurance licenses resulied in a gain of approximately $1.9 million which is included in realized gains and

losses on investments for the year ended December 31, 2002.. IL Aanuity .was. merged-into ILIC effective .

June 30, 2003 as part of a restructuring plan. See further discusiol in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In November 2003, we entered into an agreement to sell our residential financing operations. The assets,
liabilities and results of operations of the residential financing operations have been classified as discontinued
operations. The sale was completed in January 2004, resulting in an after-tax gain of approximately
$3.9 million to be recognized in 2004. See further discussion in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Financia! Information

Qur consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. See note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information about GAAP and our significant accounting policies.

We measure our profit or loss and total assets by operating segments. We have two reportable operating
segments: protection products and accumulation products. See a further discussion of our operating segments
in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.”

4




Protection Products Segment
Products

Our protection products segment consists of individual fixed life insurance premiums from traditional life
insurance products, universal life insurance products and equity-indexed life insurance products. Sales are
presented as annualized premiums, which are measured in accordance with industry practice, and represent
the amount of new business sold during the period. Sales are a non-GAAP financial measure for an insurance
company for which there is no comparable GAAP financial measure. We use sales to measure the productivity
of our distribution network and as a basis for compensation of sales and marketing employees and agents.
Sales are also a leading indicator of future revenue trends. However, revenues are driven by prior period sales
as well as current period sales and therefore, a reconciliation of sales to revenues would not be meaningful or
determinable. The following table summarizes sales by life insurance product:

Sales Activity by Product
For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(8 in thousznds)

Traditional life insurance:

Whole e ... o e $ 236 $§ 4236 $ 6,842
Interest-sensitive whole life. ........... . it 19,691 30,622 12,411
Term life ..o [P 14,588 16,390 7,763
Universal life. ... 32,476 32,570 21,794
Equity-indexed life........... ... .. i 51,644 45843 25865
037 (=71 S O 118,635 129,661 74,675
Private label term life premiums ............. .. i . .4,206 8,970 . 6,637
Total ......... e e e $122,841  $138,631~. $ 81,312 -

Traditional Life Insurance Products. Traditional life insurance products include whole hfe mterest- :

sensmve whole life and term life insurance products.

Whole life insurance is designed to provide benefits for the life of the insured. This product generally
provides for level premiums and a level death benefit and requires payments in excess of the mortality cost in
earlier years to offset increasing mortality costs in later years. 'Sales of whole life insurance decreased in 2003
and 2002, as compared to each prior year, due in part to our increased marketing focus on equity-indexed life

products, which has:restltedsin-a shift in sales from whole™life to equity-indexed. We ceascd taking new

applications for sales of whole life insurance on December 31, 2002.

Interest-sensitive whole life insurance also provides benefits for the life of the insured. However, this
product has cash value accumulation that is interest sensitive and responds to current interest and mortality
rates. These products are used in several markets, the largest of which is the pension plan market. Lower
interest-sensitive whole life sales were experienced in 2003 due to uncertainty in government tax policy and
regulation. Interest-sensitive whole life insurance sales increased in 2002 due to the acquisition of ILICO in
May 2001 since we owned ILICO for 12 months of 2002 as compared to just over six months in 2001.

Term life insurance provides life insurance protection for a specific time period (which generally can be *

renewed at an increased premium). Such policies are mortality-based and offer no cash accumuiation feature.
Term life insurance is a highly competitive and quickly changing market. Term life insurance sales increased
in 2002 due to the acquisition of ILICO and have remained approximately 12% of our total sales in 2003.

In prior years, ILIC had distributed term products primarily through strategic alliances with private label
partners. Under private label arrangements, ILIC manufactured products that were distributed through field
forces of other life insurance companies, its private label partners. Following a strategic decision to exit the
private label business, ILIC reached agreement with its joint venture partners to cease new business

5
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processing during 2003. In keeping with contractual obligations, ILIC continues to service in-force business
for existing joint venture partners.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, sales of interest-sensitive whole life and term life insurance
products represented 17% and 12%, respectively, of direct sales for individual life insurance products sold.

Universal Life Insurance Products. We offer universal life insurance products, which provide flexible
benefits for the insured. Within product limits and state regulations, policyowners may vary the amount and
timing of premiums and the amount of the death benefit of their policies and keep the policies in force, as long
as there are sufficient policy funds available to cover all policy charges for the next coverage period. Premiums,
net of specified expenses, are credited to the policy, as is interest, generally at a rate determined from time to
time by us. Specific charges are made against the policy for the cost of insurance and for expenses. We invest
the premiums we receive from the sale of universal life insurance products in our investment portfolio. Qur
gross margin from these products is the yield we earn on our investment portfolio plus the internal product
charges less interest credited to policies and less mortality and other expenses.

Sales of universal life were comparable between 2003 and 2002. In 2002, sales increased over 2001
primarily as a result of the acquisition of ILICO. Excluding ILICO, universal life sales decreased $1.9 million
in 2002 due to the growth in sales of equity-indexed life products. The weighted average crediting rate for
universal life insurance liabilities was 4.96% for the year 2003, 5.39% for the year 2002 and 5.63% for the year
2001. The crediting rate has been lowered as a result of reduced investment yields associated with the
declining interest rate environment. For the year ended December 31, 2003, sales of universal life insurance
products represented 27% of direct sales for individual life insurance products sold.

Equity-Indexed Life Products. We also offer equity-indexed life insurance products which are similar in

structure to universal life products but allow the policyowner to elect an interest earnings strategy for a portion

of the account value. Earnings are credited based in part on increases in the appropriate indices, primarily the
Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Stock Index @ (collectively, S&P 500 Index), excluding dividends. The

earnings credit is subject o a participation rate and an annual cap. Our gross margin on our equity-indexed life -
products is similar to that of our universal life insurance products. However, due to' the equity-indexed -

earnings strategies, we invest a portion of the premiums we receive from the sale of these products in call
options. We may affect the cost of the call options by adjusting interest crediting parameters that are provided
for in 'the policy. Our return on the call options is generally expected, in a growing equity market, to
correspond to the earnings we are contractually bound to credit on the equity-indexed strategies. The
remainder of the premium is invested in our investment portfolio to support the contractual minimum
guarantees that may come into effect if the equity index declines. The structure of our product, together with
the allocation of our equity-indexed life product premiums between call options and our investment portfolio,
are 1ntended to provide for a positive gross margm m both mcrcasmg and decreasing equity markets.

Equity-indexed life insurance salés. mcreased in 2003 and 2002 followmg our focus on product marketing
beginning in 2000. We are a leading writer of equity-indexed life products in the United States. Sales of the
equity-indexed life product, as a percentage of direct sales, was approximately 44% in 2003.
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Collected premiums are measured in accordance with industry practice, and represent the amount of
premiums received during the period. Collected premiums are a non-GAAP financial measure for an -
insurance company for which there is no comparable GAAP financial measure. We use collected premiums to
measure the productivity of our distribution network and as a basis for compensation of sales and marketing
employees and agents. The following table sets forth our collected life insurance premiums, including collected
premiums associated with the closed block, for the periods indicated:

Collected Premivms by Product -
For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
($ in thousands)

Individual life premiums collected:
Traditional life:

First year and single....... e e $116,252  $149,740  $113,126
REMEWal. .ttt i e e e e 343,067 344,715 274,784
Total L e 459,319 494 455 387,910
Universal life:
Firstyearandsingle. ... ... ..., 94,158 75,761 45,597
RenewWal. . oo 132,833 128,869 109,485
TOtAl Lottt 226991 204,630 155,082
Equity-indexed life: _
- Firstyearandsingle.............c..c oL S 84,478 78,797 40,504 i
Renewal. . ..ot e 35,344 14,526 4,212 -
o Total L e cee.. o 11982293323 44716
.. Total individual life .. ... vt Li....0% 806,132 . 792,408 . 587,708 3
. Reinsurance assumed.................... AU e :, 49,706 48,664 30,740
Reinsurance ceded .. ...l e e %(187,860) {220,589) - (74,152) -
Total individual life, net of reinsurance ............coovviivneon.. - $667,978  $620,483  $544,296 |

Individual life insurance premiums collected increased in 2003 as a result of increased universal life and
equity-indexed sales, which were partially offset by lower traditional life collected premiums, and in 2002 due
to the additional premiums from the acquisition of ILICO.

.~ Reinsurdni¢esassuined iacréased in 2002 due to the ILICO acquisition. ILIC .kad distributed termnis > oo
products and second-to-die products primarily through strategic alliances with private label partners.

Following a strategic decision to exit the private label business, ILIC reached agreement with its joint venture

partners to cease new business processing during 2003. In keeping with contractual obligations, ILIC

continues to service in-force business for certain existing joint venture partners.

ALIC has reinsurance arrangements that have reduced its retention to 10% of the net amount of risk on ‘.
any one policy not to exceed company retention limits for the majority of policies issued from July 1, 1996 -
through December 31, 1999, and for all new business commencing January 1, 2000. ALIC’s retention limits "
on any one life vary by age and rating table and are generally between $150,000 and $500,000. ALIC also has
a reinsurance agreement covering approximately 90% of the closed block net amount at risk not previously
reinsured. In addition, ALIC entered into an indemnity reinsurance agreement effective December 31, 2001
covering universal life policies of the open block issued prior to July 1, 1996, that was subsequently replaced by .
another indemnity reinsurance agreement effective October 1, 2002, covering 90% of the net amount at risk
not previously reinsured of any one policy. ALIC entered into an 80% statutory modified coinsurance quota
share and coinsurance agreement covering certain individual life policies of the closed block effective
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December 31, 2002. As a result of these agreements, ceded reinsurance premium for ALIC was $77.9 million
in 2003, $127.3 million in 2002 and $35.2 million in 2001.

ILIC entered into a statutory reinsurance agreement to cover 100% quota share of retained net amounts
at risk for certain open block and closed block policies in force at December 31, 2002, which was amended by
an indemnity reinsurance agreement effective July 1, 2003. Ceded premium from ILICO amounted to
$109.8 millicn in 2003, $93.3 million in 2002 and $39.0 million in 2001. ILICQO’s reinsurance agreements
effectively reduce ILICO’s retention limit to between $150,000 and $500,000.

The following table sets forth information regarding our life insurance in force for each date presented.
Protection products face amounts in force is a non-GAAP financial measure utilized by investors, analysts and
the Company to assess the Company’s position in the industry. We do not believe there is a comparable
GAAP financial measure.

Individual Life Insurance in Force
As of December 31,
2003 2002 2081
(8 in thousands)

Traditional life

Number of policies ....... ..., 446,961 451,933 405,077
GAAP Hife 1e5eIVeS ..ottt $ 3,465,853 $ 3,236,223 § 3,101,938
FaCE AIMOUNIS + vttt ettt et et e e e $57,474,000 $56,883,000 $49,655,000
Universal life
Number of policies .........cocoiii i, 145,525 147,469 151,982
GAAP life Teserves .. ......oooeleiinriieecnnaann, $ 1,517,227 $ 1,425,746  $ 1,380,379
Face amounts .. ...ttt e $20,529,000  $19,095,000 $18,792,000
Equity-indexed life e o , ,
Number of policies ........ S e e 35,133 23679 . 10,591
GAAP [ife TESEIVES « ... oo e e i e e enen I $ 224874 $ 126821 $. 51,004
Face amounts . .. ............ e N U $ 6,878,000 $ 4,574,000 $..2,028,000
Total life insurance. o . : : . )
Number of policies ....... ... ... .. ... o ... 627,619 623,081 567,650
GAAP life ESEIVES . ...\ $ 5,207,954 $ 4,788,790 § 4,533,321
Face amounts ... ..ottt e e .. $84381,000 $80,552,000  $70,475,000
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Distribmmﬁ Systems i -

Our subsidiaries sell life insurance in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
The states with the highest geographic concentration of sales, based on statutory premiums, are Califor-
nia, Illincis, Iowa, Minnesota, New York, Texas and Wisconsin in 2003. These states account for approxi-
mately 51% of cur statutory premiums.

Gur target customers are individuals in the middle and upper income brackets and small businesses. We
market our life insurance products on a national basis primarily through a Preferred Producer general agency
system, a Personal Producing General Agent (PPGA) distribution system and through Independent
Marketing Crganizations (IMOs). We currently employ 20 regional vice presidents who are responsible for
supervising these distribution systems within their assigned geographic regions.

Under the Preferred Producer general agency system, a contractual arrangement is entered into with the
Preferred Producer general agent for the sale of insurance products by the Preferred Producer general agents
and brokers assigned to the Preferred Producer general agent’s agency. The Preferred Producer general agents
are primarily compensated by receiving a percentage of the first year commissions paid to Preferred Producer
genera} agents and brokers in the Preferred Producer general agent’s agency and by renewal commissions on

8
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- Accumulatiop. Products Segment

premiums subsequently collected on that business. In addition, the Preferred Producers receive certain
benefits and other allowances.

The Preferred Producer general agents are independent contractors and are generally responsible for the
expenses of operating their agencies, including office and overhead expenses and the recruiting, selection,
contracting, training and development of Preferred Producer general agents and brokers in their agency. As of
December 31, 2003, we had 75 Preferred Producer general agents in 26 states, through which approximately
1,200 Preferred Producer general agents seli our products. While Preferred Producer general agents in the
Preferred Producer general agency system are non-exclusive, most agents use our products for a majority of
their new business for the type of products offered by us.

Preferred Producer general agents are also independent contractors and are primarily compensated by
commissions on first year and renewal premiums collected on business written by them plus certain benefits
and other allowances. In addition, Preferred Producer general agents can earn bonus commissions, graded by
production and persistency on their business.

Under the PPGA system, we contract primarily with individuals who are experienced individual agents or
who head a small group of experienced individual agents. These individuals are independent contractors and
are responsible for all of their own expenses. These individuals often sell products for other insurance
companies, and may offer selected products we offer rather than our full line of insurance products. The
PPGA system is comprised of approximately 1,100 PPGAs, with approximately 3,700 agents.

PPGAs are compensated by commissions on first year and renewal premiums collected on business
written by themselves and the agents in their units. In addition to a base commission,-PPGAs may earn bonus
commissions on their business, graded by production and persistency.

~We have also developed programs to sell life insurance through select IMOs. The customers targeted and

) " the products sold are similar to those of the Preferred Producer agency system and the PPGA system.

' Undef'the IMO system, a contractual arrangement is entered into with an IMO t6 promote. our insurarice
products to their network of agents and brokers. The IMO receives & commission and override commission on
the business produced. We currently have approximately 90 IMOs under contract. *

No single distribution organization (Preferred Producer general agency, PPGA, or IMO) accounted for
more than 6% of total direct sales.

.. AR A
R RS LA R A Y

Products

QOur accumulation products segment primary offerings consist of individual fixed annuities (comprised of
traditional fixed annuities and equity-indexed annuities) and funding agreements. Annuities provide for the
payment of periodic benefits over a specified time period. Benefits may commence immediately or may be
deferred to a future date. Fixed annuities generally are backed by a general investment account and credited
with a rate of return that is periodically reset. Funding agreements are arrangements for which we receive
deposit funds and for which we agree to repay the deposit and a contractual return for the duration of the
contract,

Deposits are presented as collected premiums, which are measured in accordance with industry practice,
and represent the amount of new business sold during the period. Deposits are a non-GAAP financial measure
for an insurance company for which there is no comparable GAAP financial measure. We use deposits to
measure the productivity of our distribution network and as a basis for compensation of sales and marketing
employees and agents. Our annuity deposits consisted of approximately 25% from traditional annuity products
and approximately 75% from equity-indexed annuity products in 2003. We ceased offering variable annuity
products in 2002. We still receive minimal premium additions to existing policies as shown in the table below.

9
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Funding agreement deposits totaled $875 million in 2002. The following table sets forth deposits for the
periods indicated:

Deposits by Product
For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
($ in thousands)

Annuities
Deferred fixed annuities:
Traditional annuities .. .......ociiir vt $ 443,220 $1,099,872  $1,322,725
Equity-indexed annuities .. ... ..ot e 1,311,409 683,819 612,043
Variable annuities . ... iiniii i s 3,254 6,230 27,483
Total annUItIES . ..ottt 1,757,883 1,789,921 1,962,251
Funding agreements................cooiiiiiiiiiii i — 875,000 —
1 | 1,757,883 2,664,921 1,962,251
Reinsurance assumed. . ... ..ot e — — 194,317
Reinsurance ceded . ....... ... i (25,080) (60,916} (175,485)
Total deposits, net of reinsurance. ............cooveeiein..... $1,732,803  $2,604,005 $1,981,083

Traditional Annuity Products. We offer a variety of interest rate crediting strategies on our traditional
annuity products. At December 31, 2003, the account value of traditional annuities totaled $7.0 billion of
which ‘approximately 97% have minimum guarantee rates ranging from 3% to 4%. For annuities with an

" account value of $5.0 billion, the credited rate was equal to the minimum guarantee rate, and as a result, the

credited rate cannot be lowered. We also offer an interest rate crediting strategy that credits the policy with a

* return’ generally based upon the interest rates it earns on assets supporting the respective pohcxcs less

managément fées. Traditional arinuities with aii'account value of $5.4 billion had a one-year interest guarantee
period while annuities with an account value of $1.2 billion had a multi-year guarantee for which the credlted
rate cannot bé decreased until the end of the multi-year period. At the end of the multi-year. period, we will
have the ablllty to lower the crediting rate to the minimum guaranteed rate by an average of, approximately
300 basis points. The remaining multi-year period is generally either one or two years.

We invest the deposits we receive from traditional annuity product sales in our investment portfolio. We
call the difference between the yield we earn on our investment portfolio and the interest we credit on our
traditional annuities our product spread. The product sprcad is a major driver of our proﬁtablhty of our

~ traditional annuity products... C s e T

Traditional annuity deposxts decreased $656.7 miillion in 2003 compared to 2002 as we slowed traditional
annuity sales due to the low interest rate environment and as we have focused on sales of higher margin
equity-indexed products. Traditional annuity deposits decreased $222.9 million in 2002 compared t0.2001 as a
result of deploying capital to funding agreements which are intended to provide a higher return on equity.

We previously had a reinsurance agreement to cede 35% of certain fixed annuity production on a modified
coinsurance basis. Fixed annuity production ceded under this agreement totaled approximately $160.3 million
in 2001. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the agreement was cancelled and the previously ceded premiums were
recaptured amounting to $194.3 million.

Equity-Indexed Annuities. We offer equity-indexed annuity products that provide various interest
crediting strategies, including strategies linked to equity and investment grade bond indices. For deposits
allocated to indexed crediting strategies, interest is credited to these products based in part on the increases in
the applicable indices, less any applicable fees and subject to any applicable caps. Similar to our traditional
annuity products, we invest the deposits we receive from equity-indexed annuity product sales in our
investment portfolio. At December 31, 2003, the GAAP reserves of equity-indexed annuities totaled
$4.4 billion which provide guaranteed rates based on a cumulative floor over the term of the product, In
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addition, for deposits allocated to equity-indexed crediting strategies, we use a portion of the deposits to
purchase call options. We may affect the cost of the call options by adjusting interest crediting parameters that
are provided for in the policy. Our return on the-call options is generally expected, in a growing equity market,
to correspond to the earnings we are contractually bound to credit on the equity-indexed strategies. The
remainder of the deposit is invested in our investment portfolio to support the contractual minimum
guarantees that may come into effect if the equity index declines. The product spread on deposits allocated to
our equity-indexed strategy is computed as:

Yield minus (cost of options and interest credited) = product spread

The product spread is 2 major driver of profitability of our equity-indexed annuity products, The structure
of our product, together with the allocation of our equity-indexed strategy deposits between call options and
our investment portfolio, is intended to provide for a positive product spread in both increasing and decreasing
equity markets.

Equity-indexed annuity sales increased in 2003 and 2002 as compared to the prior year periods due to its
popularity with consumers and agents. In the third quarter of 2002, we entered into a new modified
coinsurance reinsurance agreement to cede 25% of certain equity-indexed annuity products which amounted
to $25.1 million and $56.2 million of ceded premium in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Variable Annuities. Through our acquisition of ILICO, we obtained a variable annuity product line. In
the first quarter of 2002, we ceased new sales of these products, except for new policies issued as part of
existing employer-sponsored qualified plan contracts. All sales were discontinued effective September 30,
2002. Qur agents are encouraged to make new sales of variable annuities through the Ameritas Joint Venture.
As these sales are through the joint venture, they do not appear in our direct sales amounts. See the discussion
related to this joint venture in the “Ameritas Joint Venture” section. The assets and liabilities related to the
direct variable annuities are shown on the consolidated balance sheets as “separate account assets” and

“separate account liabilities.”

‘Funding Agreements. “We placed primarily ﬁxcd rate fundmg agreementsﬂotalmg $875,m11hon in 2002,
Funding agreements are insurance contracts for which we receive deposit funds and for which we agree to -
repay the deposit and a contractual return for the duration of the contract” In December 2003, a $250 million
funding agreement was terminated. Total funding agreements outstanding a as of December 31, 2003 amounted
to $875 million compared to $1.125 billion outstanding at December 31, 2002.

The following table sets forth information regarding fixed annuities in force for each date presented:

Annuities in Force
As of December 31,

- R 2003 2002 - 2000~
($ in thousands)

Deferred fixed annuities

Number of policies ........... ..ot 176,280 181,581 176,857

GAAP annuity T€86IVES . .o vv i i i $ 7,257,387 § 7,579,869 § 6,909,793
Equity-indexed annuities

Number of policies .........c.oiiiiiii oo, 91,550 76,863 73,921

GAAP annuity reserves.......cvovviirieneernnenneenn. $ 4,439,836 $ 3,724,598 § 3,749,971
Total fixed annuities

Number of policies ..., 267,830 258,444 250,778

GAAP annuity [85EIVES .. oo vt vt iitveiiee e n e nan. s $11,697,223  $11,304,467 $10,659,764

Distribution Systems

We sell annuities in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The states with
the highest geographic concentration of sales, based on statutory premiums, are California, Florida, Iowa,
Ohio, Pennsylvania and Texas in 2003. These states account for approximately 44% of our statutory premiums.

11



We direct our marketing efforts towards the asset accumulation, conservative savings and retirement
markets. We market our annuity products on a national basis primarily through networks of independent
agents. The independent agents are supervised by regional vice presidents and regional directors or IMOs. At
December 31, 2003, we had approximately 16,000 independent agents licensed to sell our annuity products. In
addition, the Preferred Producer agency and PPGA systems discussed previously are utilized to market certain
annuity products. :

QOur IMOs consist of approximately 10 contracted organizations, including five wholly-owned organiza-
tions and one organization which principally sells our proprietary products. The IMOs are responsible for
recruiting, servicing and educating agents in an effort to promote our products. The IMQOs receive an override
commission based on the business produced by their agents. Our wholly-owned and proprietary organizations
accounted for approximately 77% of our annuity sales in 2003. We do not have exclusive agency agreements
with our agents and we believe most of these agents sell products similar to ours for other insurance
companies.

Ameritas Joint Venture

We participate in a joint venture, the Ameritas Joint Venture, with Ameritas Life Insurance Corp. (or
Ameritas) through ALIC’s 34% ownership interest in AMAL Corporation, a Nebraska corporation. AMAL
Corporation’s operations are conducted through Ameritas Variable Life Insurance Company, {or AVLIC),
Ameritas Investment Corp. {or AIC), and The Advisors Group, Inc. {or TAG), its three wholly-owned
subsidiaries. AVLIC is licensed to conduct business in 47 states and the District of Columbia. AIC and TAG

" "are registered broker-dealers. Our partner in the Ameritas Joint Venture, Ameritas, is a Nebraska mutual life *
insurance company which has been in existence for more than 100 years.
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Our investment in the Ameritas Joint Venture provides access to a,line of existing variable life insurance .
. ..and annu1ty products while providing a.lower-cost entry into an estabhshed busmess, helpmg to ellmlnate "
51gn1ﬁcant start-up costs and allowmg for 1mmed1ate potennal earmngs . :
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The Ameritas Jomt Venture offers, through AVLIC, fixed annuity products, flexible premlum and single 5*
premium variable universal life insurance products, and variable annuities. Variable products provide for- =
allocation of funds to a general account or to one or more separate accounts under which the owner bears the
investment risk. Through AVLIC’s fund managers, owners of variable annuities and life insurance policies are
able to choose from a range of investment funds offered by each manager. Under the current terms of the joint
venture agreement, ALIC and Ameritas direct thcxr new vanablc armultles and vanablc life insurance through
the Ameritas Joint, Venture W, TR I .

The variable life insurance products and the fixed and variable annuities offered by the Ameritas Joint
Venture are distributed through our Preferred Producer general agency, PPGA systems and one IMO, as well -
as through the distribution systems of Ameritas and AVLIC. -

) Ey
< ]
st
=
~

—_—

il

|

Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, we purchased an additional 5% of AMAL Corporation in
March 2001, for $7.2 million as certain premium growth targets were met which brought our total ownership
in AMAL Corporation to 39%. During 2002, Ameritas contributed additional investments, certain in-force
business and other assets to the Ameritas Joint Venture which resulted in the reduction of our ownership from
39% to 34%. In addition, in December 2002, both Ameritas and ALIC contributed additional cash, which
amounted to $5 million by ALIC, to maintain our 34% interest. ALIC and Ameritas Life Insurance Company
each have guaranteed the policyholder obligations of AVLIC. The guarantee of each party is joint and several,
and will remain in effect until certain conditions are met.
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As of December 31, 2003, AMAL Corporation had total consolidated assets of $170.1 million and total
consolidated shareholder’s equity of $138.5 million on a GAAP basis. AVLIC had $3,253.0 million of
insurance in force and $97 million in surplus as of December 31, 2003, on a statutory basis. N
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Competition

We operate in a highly competitive industry. We compete with numerous life insurance companies and
other entities including banks and other financial institutions, many of which have greater financial and other
resources. We believe that the principal competitive factors in the sale of insurance products are product
features, price, commission structure, perceived stability of the insurer, financial strength ratings, value-added
service and name recognition. Many other companies are capable of competing for sales in our target markets
(including companies that do not presently compete in such markets). Qur ability to compete for sales is
dependent upon our ability to successfully address the competitive factors.

We are the national leader in market share of equity-indexed life production and are the fifteenth largest
fixed life company in the United States. We also rank second nationally in equity-indexed annuity sales and
sixth nationally in fixed annuity sales through independent agents. The rankings are based on industry
information from Advantage Compendium (formerly The Advantage Group) and Life Insurance Marketing
Research Associates.

In addition to competing for sales, we compete for qualified agents and brokers to distribute products.
Strong competition exists ameng insurance companies for agents and brokers with demonstrated ability. We
believe that the bases of competition for the services of such agents and brokers are commission structure,
support services, prior relationships and the strength of an insurer’s products. Although we believe that we
have good relationships with our agents and brokers, our ability to compete will depend on our continued
ability to attract and retain qualified persons.

Ratings

Ratings with respect to financial strength are an increasingly important factor in establishing the
competitive position of insurance companies. The following are the ratings as of March 2, 2004 for our major

. insurance subsidiaries currently writing new. business: _ )
4. Company - ‘ Rating Service: 3 "+ Rating Type /! = . Rating

American .........l..o.. .. Standard & Pd_br’s ins:ufér'ﬁnancijal'étreh’gth , A+ (strong)
American .......... I . A M. Best financial condition A (excellent)
American ................ Moody’s R insurance financial strength A3 (good)
ALIC. ... Standard & Poor’s insurer financial strength A+ (strong)
ALIC. ... A. M. Best financial condition A (excellent)
ALIC. ... Moody’s insurance financial strength A3 (good)

“Rankérs Life . ............. " Standard & Poor’s insurer financial*strength = =~ A% (strong)
Bankers Life .............. A. M. Best financial condition A (excellent)
ILICO..............oo 0. Standard & Poor’s insurer financial stréngth At (strong)
ILICO.........ovve .. A. M. Best financial condition A (excellent)
ILICO.... oo L Moody’s insurance financial strength A3 (good)

One of our insurance subsidiaries, FBL, is not currently writing new business. The ratings for FBL were a
Standard & Poor’s rating of BBB+ (good) and an A.M. Best rating of B+ (very good).

Standard & Poor’s ratings for insurance companies range from “AAA” to “R”. Standard & Poor’s
indicates that “A-+" ratings are assigned to companies that have demonstrated strong financial security. A.M.
Best’s ratings for insurance companies range from “A++" to “S”. A.M. Best indicates that an “A” rating is
assigned to those companies that in A.M. Best’s opinion have achieved superior performance when compared
to the norms of the life insurance industry and have demonstrated a strong ability to meet their policyowner
and other contractual obligations. Moody’s ratings for insurance companies range from “Aaa” to “C”.
Moody’s indicates that “A3” ratings are assigned to companies that have factors related to security of
principal and interest which are considered adequate; however, elements are present which may suggest a
susceptibility to impairment in the future. In evaluating a company’s financial and operating performance,
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these rating agencies review a company’s profitability, leverage and liquidity, book of business, adequacy and
soundness of reinsurance, quality and estimated market value of assets, adequacy of policy reserves, experience
and competency of management and other factors. Such ratings are neither a rating of securities nor a
recommendation to buy, hold or sell any security, including our common stock and they may be subject to
revision or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating agency. You should evaluate each rating
independently of any other rating.

On September 6, 2002, Moody’s Investor Services changed the rating outlook for all of our insurance
subsidiaries to negative from stable. Also, on May 22, 2003, A.M. Best Company changed the rating outlook
for all of our insurance subsidiaries to negative from stable. The changes occurred as part of Moody’s and
A.M. Best’s assessments of their current life insurers’ ratings given the current operating environment. A
negative outlook indicates that if certain trends continue or worsen, the rating agencies believe the insurance
subsidiaries ratings may have to be adjusted downward. There have been no further changes from either of
these rating agencies.

Insurance Underwriting

We follow detailed, uniform underwriting practices and procedures in our insurance business which are
designed to assess risks before issuing coverage to qualified applicants. We have professional underwriters who
evaluate policy applications on the basis of information provided by applicants and others.

Reinsurance

In accordance with industry practices, we reinsure portions of our life insurance exposure with unaffiliated
insurance companies under traditional indemnity reinsurance arrangemeénts., Such reinsurance arrangements
are in accordance with standard reinsurance practices within the industry. We enter into these arrangements to
assist in diversifying risks and to limit the maximum loss on risks- that exceed policy retention limits.
Indemnity reinsurance does not fully discharge our obligation to pay cldims on blsiness we reinsure. As the
ceding-comipany, we remain responsible for policy claims to the extent.the reinsurer fails to pay suéhi claims.- . 4q
We contmually monitor;the creditworthiness of our primary remsurers and have experienced no material. ::
relnsurance recoverability problems in recent years. ‘
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For accounting purposes, premiums and expenses in the income statement are reported net'of reinsurance
ceded. Future life and annuity policy benefits, policyowner funds and other related assets and liabilities are not
reduced for reinsurance ceded in the balance sheet, rather a reinsurance receivable is established for such
balance sheet items.

We reinsure. mortahty risk_on. individual life insurance policies., Our retention is general]y between .
$150,000 and $500,000 on ‘ahy smgle life depending on the respective aoc and rating table. Weé™also remsurt:T
certain annuity business primarily on a modified coinsurance basis.

Yooen

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we ceded life insurance with a face amount of $75.3 billion with 3%
unaffiliated reinsurers and life insurance with a face amount of $71.1 billion with 47 unaffiliated reinsurers,
respectively. The following is a summary of our principal life reinsurers as of December 31, 2003:

% of total
Face A.M. Best face amount
Reinsurer amount ceded rating reinsured
(in billions) .

RGA Reinsurance CoOmpany .. .....c..oovivvvirereeeinranns,. $19.9 A+ 26%
Swiss Re Life & Health Americalnc. ............. ... ... 144 A+ 19
Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance Company ............. 10.4 A+ 14
Reassure America Life Insurance Company ................... 7.4 A— 10
Employers Reassurance Corporation...........ooveeivv ... 5.1 A+
Allianz Life Insurance Company ...........c.viiiiiiinnannn 3.6 A+

Businessmen’s Assurance Company ...........c.oiiiiiain 2.8 A




At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we ceded traditional and equity-indexed annuities having reserves of
$1.2 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively. The following is a summary of our principal annuity reinsurers as of
December 31, 2003:

% of total
. Face A.M. Best face amount
Reinsurer amount ceded rating reinsured
(in billions)
Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance Company ............. $ 08 A+ 62%
RGA Reinsurance Company .....c..ooeiieriiiiinnnnanenean 0.4 A+ 33

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we had 1,113 full-time employees. None of these employees are covered by a
collective bargaining agreement and we believe that our relations with our employees are satisfactory.

Goverament Regulation

We are subject to regulation by the states in which our insurance subsidiaries are domiciled and/or
transact business. State insurance laws generally establish supervisory agencies with broad administrative and
supervisory powers related to granting and revoking licenses, transacting business, regulating the payment of
dividends to stockholders, establishing guaranty fund associations, licensing agents, approving policy forms,
regulating sales practices, regulating premium rates for some lines of business, establishing reserve require-
ments, prescribing the form and content of required-financial statements and reports, determining the
reasonableness and adequacy of statutory capital and surplus, and regulating the type and amount of
investments permitted.

LY A -

Every state in which oufiinsurancé companies are-licensed administers a.guaranty fund, which provides-:.

for assessments of licensed insurers for the protection-of policyowners of insolvent insurance companies.
Assessments can be partially recovered through a reduction in future premium taxes in some states. -

Risk-based capital, or RBC, standards for life insurance companies were adopted by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners, known as the NAIC, and require insurance companies to calculate
and report for statutory basis financial statements information under a risk-based capital formula. The RBC
requirements are intended to allow insurance regulators to identify at an early stage inadequately capitalized

insurance companies based upon the types and mixtures of risks inherent in such companies’ operations. The
- S, el g N N P . W 1L et SRS Loy SN oy T T L
" formula includes components for asset risk, liability risk, interest rate “exposure and other factors. As of

December 31, 2003, each of our life insurance companies’ RBC levels was in excess of authorized control level
RBC thresholds established by insurance regulators.

Although the federal government generally does not directly regulate the insurance business, federal
initiatives and changes in federal law can often have a material impact on the business in a variety of ways.
Current and proposed federal measures that may significantly affect the insurance business include limitations
on antitrust immunity, minimum solvency requirements, changes to the tax advantages of life insurance and
annuity products or the programs with which they are used, new savings and dividend proposals and the
removal of barriers restricting banks from engaging in the insurance and mutual fund business.
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Executive Cfficers of the Company

The following provides information about AmerUs Group Co.’s executive officers:

Name of Individual Age Tidle
Roger K. Brooks ...... FS 66  Chairman of the Board of Directors and
- Chief Executive Officer of AmerUs
: Group Co.
= Thomas C. Godlasky .................. 48  Director and President and Chief
E Operating Officer of AmerUs Group Co.
A Gregory D. Boal ................. ... 45  Executive Vice President and Chief
= Investment Officer of AmerUs Group Co.
—:: Brian J.Clark .......... ...t 38  Executive Vice President and Chief
3 Product Officer of AmerUs Group Co.
= Victor N.Daley......cooovvviinivnnn.. 60  Executive Vice President, Chief
= ‘ Administration and Human Resources
- Officer of AmerUs Group Co.
e Mark V.Heitz...............covuts. 51  President and Chief Executive Officer of
— AmerUs Annuity Group, American
B - Investors Life Insurance Company, and ' T
B : - Financial Benefit Life Insurance Company
= Gary R. McPhail..........0........... 55 President and Chief Executive Officer of
@ AmerUs Life Insurance Company and
P Indianapolis Life Insurance Company
E Melinda S. Urion ................cvvn. 50  Executive Vice President and Chief .
- Financial Officer of AmerUs Group Co. -
-3 . ROGER K. BROOKS — Des Moines, lowa. o k e e
E - Chairman and chlcf 'executive officer of AmerUs Group Co since May 1997, presxdent from May 1997 S(c Y A
= .i\ovember 2003, and president and chief executive officer from its formation in July 1996 to May 1997.
E ~ Previously, Mr. Brooks was the chief executive officer of predecessor or aﬁihated companies since 1974, He is
1{3 a director of AMAL. Mr. Brooks has been a director of AmerUs Group Co. since its formation in July 1996,
3 and previously served as a director of predecessor or affiliated companies since 1971, His current term expires
= in May 2004. .
_:5 T HOMAS C GODLASKY Des Moines, ]l'awaz -

g ARe R -

’ Pres1dent and chlcf operating officer of AmerUs Group Co since November 2003 and cxecutlve vice
president and chief investment officer of AmerUs Group Co. and predecessor or affiliated companies from
January 1995 to November 2003. Mr. Godlasky had also been president of AmerUs Capital Management
from January 1998 to November 2003. From February 1988 to January 1995, he was manager of the Fixed
Income and Derivatives Department of Providian' Corporation, Louisville, Kentucky. He is a director of
AMAL and AVLIC and AIC, wholly-owned subsidiaries of AMAL. Mr. Godlasky has been a director of
AmerUs Group Co. since November 2003. His current term expires in May 2004.
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GREGORY D. BOAL — Des Moines, lowe.

EATRIEAN xl i {

Executive vice president of AmerUs Group Co. and president and chief investment officer of AmerUs
Capital Management since November 2003 and executive vice president of AmerUs Group Co. since June
2003. Prior to joining AmerUs Group Co. in June 2003, he was managing director at Deutsche Bank Asset
Management in New York, New York beginning in June 2002. From January 2000 to June 2002 Mr. Boal -
was managing director at Zurich Scudder Investments in Chicago, Illinois (following Zurich Scudder .
Investments’ acquisition of ABN AMRO Asset Management (USA)). From January 1997 to January 2000
Mr. Boal was director of fixed investments at ABN AMRO Asset Management (USA). ”’
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BRIAN J. CLARK — Des Moines, Iowa.

Executive vice president and chief product officer of AmerUs Group Co. since November 2003 and
senior vice president and chief product officer from August 2001 to November 2003. Mr. Clark has been with
AmerUs Group Co. since 1988 and has previously served ALIC as chief financial officer and as senior vice
president in various departments and functions, including product development, product management and
asset and liability management.

VICTOR N. DALEY — Des Moines, Jowa.

Executive vice president, chief administration and human resources officer of AmerUs Group Co. since
February 2000, and senior vice president, chief administration and human resources officer of AmerUs Group
Co. and predecessor or affiliated companies since September 1995. From April 1989 to September 1995,
Mr. Daley was senior vice president and chief administrative officer of Royal Insurance, Charlotte, North
Carolina.

MARK V. HEITZ — Topeka, Kansas.

President and chief executive officer of AAG, American and FBL, Topeka, Kansas since December 1997,
Previously, Mr. Heitz served as the president, general counsel and director of AAG from December 1986 until
December 1997, Mr. Heitz also served as president, general counsel and director of American from Cctober
1986 until December 1997,

GARY R. McPHAIL — Des Moines, lowa.

President and chief executxve oﬁicer of ALIC since May 1997 and president and chief exccutive officer of
ILICO since October 20017 Mr. McPhail wds executive vice prcsxdent — marketing and individual operations
of New York Life Insurance Company, New York; New Yok, from July 1995 to November 1996: From June
1990 to July 1995, he was president—of  Lincoln National Sales Corporation, Fort Wayne, Indlana
Mr. McPhail is a director.of AMAL, AIC and AVLIC.

MELINDA 8. URION — Des Moines, lowa.

Executive vice president and chief financial officer of AmerUs Group Co. since March 2002. Prior to

" . joining AmerUs Group Co., she was senior vice president and ¢hieffinancial officer at Fortis Financial Group,

Woodbury, Minnesota, from December 1997 to April 2001. From July 1988 to November 1997, Ms. Urion
served in various accounting and executive positions with American Express Financial Corp, Minneapolis,

Minnesota, including senior vice president of finance and chief financial officer from November 1995 to
November 1997. Ms. Urion is a director of AVLIC.

Cede of Ethics

We have adopted a Cede of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers (Ethics Code) which summarizes long-
standing principles of conduct applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and
principal accounting officer (collectively, Financial Officers), to ensure our business is conducted with
integrity and in compliance with the law. A copy of our Ethics Code can be found on our website located at
www.amerus.com. Any change to, or waiver of, this Ethics Code for Financial Officers must be disclosed
promptly to our shareholders by a Form 8-K filing or by publishing a statement on our website.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
The following table summarizes the properties we lease and own at December 31, 2003:

;(Hxi‘ﬁ.

Square Feet Occupied by:

)
-

Protection  Accumulation Leased to Tata!
Property Address Products Products Other(1) Third Parties Square Feet Use of Other Square Feet
Properties leased from
unaffiliated parties;
699 Walnut Street ....... - — 53,000 16,000 69,000 Executive offices and corporate
Des Moines, lowa operations
611 Fifth Avenue........ 62,000 2,000 56,000 — 120,000  Technology, corporate opera-
Des Moines, Iowa ' tions and cafeteria facilities
65 Froehlich Farms :
Boulevard .............. 15,000 3,000 6,000 - 24,000 Technology and cafeteria
Woodbury, New York facilities
9200 Keystone,.......... 15,000 — — — 15,000
Suite 800
Indianapolis, Indiana
Varous ....ooovvnnnn. — — 33,000 — 33,000 Corporate operations, records
and supply storage
Properties owned:
555 South Kansas
- Avenue ................ —_— 60,000 - 45,000 105,000
Topeka, Kansas
L 2960 North Meridian. . . .. — — . — 14000 267,000 Facility listed for sale or lease
- Indianapolis, Indiana - | o _— L s .
FE s+ . - (1) Other includes shared services that are utilized by both protection products and accumulation products
= segments.
R ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS i
— In recent years, the life insurance industry, including the Company and its sub51d1ar1es have been subject
T to an increase in litigation pursued on behalf of purported classes of insurance purchasers, guestioning the

. conduct. of insurers in-the- marketmg of their preducts. The Company is routinely. involved in.litigation and...

" other proceedmgs, including class actions, reinsurance claims and’ regulatory proceedmgs, .arising in the
ordinary course of its business. Some of these claims and legal actions are in jurisdictions where juries are
given substantial latitude in assessing damages, including punitive damages. Although no assurances can be
given and no determinations can be made at this time, the Company believes that the ultimate liability, if any,
with respect to these claims and legal actions, would have no material effect on its results of operations and
financial position.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TC A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.

PART I¥

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Cur common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol v
“AMH.” The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of -
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-E AmerUs Group Co. common stock as quoted on the NYSE and the dividends per share declared during such
3 quarter.
:: AmerUs Common Steck
ks High Low  Dividends
< 2002 -
S FIrSt QUAITET . ot e e e $39.50  $34.00  $0.00 g
I Second QUAITET . . .ottt ettt e e $39.90 $34.45 $0.00
D55 B0 T £ V-3 P $37.21 %2821 $000
Fourth QUarter . ... ..ottt i e $32.26 32587  $0.40
2003
First Quarter . .............. P $30.70  $22.94 $0.00
Second QUAMTET. . ..ottt ettt e e e $28.41 $24.44 $0.00
Third QUAIET .. .ottt et e e $35.89 $27.70  $0.00 -
FoUrth QUAITEr v vttt ettt e e e e e $38.00 $34.48 $040 -
Holders
As of March 2, 2004, the number of holders of record of each class of common equity was as follows:
Number of
Holders
COMIMION STOCK + vt ettt et e s et et e e e 109,904

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31,

2003:
; o o : R . {c¢) Number of securities
““ (a) Number of iy remaining available for
Wi T securitles - P : future issuance under
- . to be issued upon (b) Weighted average equity compensation
: exercise of outstanding exercise price of plzns (excluding
. i options, warrants and outstanding options, securities refiected in
Plan Category rights warrapts and rights column{a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders .................. 4,889,392 $2743 1,657,248
Equity compensation plans not :
vs=-approved by security holders(1) ...... ... 584,160x0c. oo _29:89 awe 386,868 .
Total .........oi ool G .. 5,473,552 $27.57 2,084,116
(1) Includes stock units issued under the MIP Deferral Plan to senior executives and other management
employees and stock appreciation rights under the Non-Employee Plan which may be paid in cash or

s Company common stock. Prior to 2003, the Company’s practice under the MIP Deferral Plan has been
— to pay participants at the end of the deferral period relative to stock units in cash only. In 2003, the
Company instituted a policy of paying stock units in Company common stock at the end of the deferral
~— period. With respect 1o stock appreciation rights under the Non-Employee Stock Option Plan, the
i Company's practice has been to pay such grants in cash on exercise thereof.

i Equity Compensation Plans not Approved by Security Holders

At the Company's annual meeting, our shareholders are being asked to approve a provision in the
Company’s MIP Deferral Plan pursuant to which we will issue up to 180,000 shares of our common stock for
—— grants of Company matches made in stock during and after 2004.

The MIP Deferral Plan, which was begun in 1998, allows management employees and officers, to elect to
defer receipt of a portion of their year end cash incentive payments (Payment Amount) into stock units.
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Under the MIP Deferral Plan, cach stock unit is purchased by participants at the fair market value of a share
of Company common stock on the date of purchase. The Company matches a portion of participants’ deferrals
(Match), up to a certain specified limit, provided the employee remains employed with the Company for a
specified period. The human resources and compensation committee of the board of directors (Committee),
which administers the MIP Deferral Plan, determines each year the maximum portion of the Payment
Amount that can be deferred and the percentage Match of the Company. Following the end of the deferral
period, participants in the MIP Deferral Plan had historically exchanged their stock units for cash. Last year,
the Committee instituted a new policy under which the Company would pay Payment Amounts and Matches
in Company common stock.

For the current year, the Company matched up to 50 percent of the stock units purchased pursuant to the
MIP Deferral Plan up to a total of $10,000. On the third anniversary of the employee’s deferral, the employee
may elect to re-defer the Payment amount and the Match for an additional three years. If the employee elects
not to re-defer, the Company then pays the employee an amount in Company common stock equal to the
number of units purchased by the employee plus the number of units in the Match, provided the employee
continues to be employed by the Company or one of its subsidiaries on that date. The entire Match is forfeited
if the employee’s employment terminates prior to the third anniversary of the employee’s deferral.

On February 12, 1999, the Company adopted the AmerUs Group Co. Non-Employee Stock Cption Plan
(Non-Employee Plan) to give agents of the Company and/or its subsidiaries who make significant
contributions to the success of the Company and/or its subsidiaries an interest in the Company’s performance.
Under the Non-Employee Plan, participants may receive stock options and/ar stock appreciation rights. On

exercise of stock appreciation rights, a participant may be paid in cash or stock, at the discretion of the
Company. T

Dividends

. We had'declared and paid an‘annual dividend of $0.40-per share &f commion stock in 2001 through 2003.
The declaration and payment of dividends in‘the future is.subject to the-discretion of the Board of Directors
and will be dependent upon the financial condition, results of operations, cash.requirements, future prospects;’
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by the life insurance subsidiaries and other factors deemed
relevant by the Board of Directors.

Under our revolving credit agreement, we are prohibited from paying dividends on common stock in
excess of an amount equal to 3% of the consolidated net worth as of the last day of the preceding fiscal year.

- “*Ii’ conneCtion with thé '8.85% Capital Securities, Series A (the “Capital Sétutities”), i§sied in 1997 by
AmerUs Capital I, a subsidiary trusf, we have agreed not to declare or pay any dividends on the Company’s
capital stock (including the common stock) during any period for which we elect to extend interest payments
on our junior subordinated debentures, except for stock dividends where the dividend stock is the same stock
as that on which the dividend is being paid. Dividends on our capital stock cannot be paid until all accrued
interest on the Capital Securities has been paid. The Capital Securities have an outstanding principal balance
of $50.8 million at December 31, 2003.

On March 6, 2002, we issued and sold in a private placement $185 million aggregate original principal
amounts of optionally convertible equity-linked accreting notes (OCEANs). The OCEANSs are senior
subordinated debt and were issued and sold in an original principal amount of $1,000 per OCEAN, with a
principal amount at maturity of $1,270 per OCEAN. The maturity date of the OCEANs is March 6, 2032.
The OCEANS will have aggregate principal amount at maturity of $235 million. The notes are convertible into
shares of AmerUs Group Co.’s common stock at an initial conversion price (subject to adjustment) of
$37.60 per share only if the sale price of the common stock exceeds $47.85 per share for at least 20 trading
days in a 30-day trading period or in certain other limited circumstances. In connection with the OCCEANS, we
have agreed, with certain limited exceptions, not to declare or pay dividends on or make distributions with
respect to our capital stock during any period in which we have deferred stated interest on the OCEANs.
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On May 28, 2003, we issued $125 million of PRIDES®™ which were registered on Form S-3 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. On June 5, 2003, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment in
full and the Company issued an additional $18.8 million of PRIDES. The PRIDES initially consist of a $25
senior note and a contract requiring the holder to purchase the Company’s common stock. The note has a
minimum term of 4.75 years, which may be extended by the Company in certain circumstances. Under the
purchase contract, holders of each contract are required to purchase the Company’s common stock on the
settlement date of August 16, 2006 based on a specified settlement rate, which will vary according to the
applicable market value of the Company’s common stock at the settlement date. The value of the common =
stock to be issued upon settlement of each purchase contract will not exceed $25, the stated value of the
PRIDES, unless the applicable market value of the Company’s common stock (which is measured by the
common stock price over a 20-day trading day period) increases to more than $33.80 per share. In connection
with the PRIDES, we have agreed, with certain limited exceptions, not to declare or pay dividends on or make —
distributions with respect to our capital stock during any period in which we have deferred contract adjustment -
payments to holders of the PRIDES.

|- HEE i A

2
perd

As a holding company, our principal assets consist of all of the outstanding shares of the common stock of
our life insurance subsidiaries. Our ongoing ability to pay dividends to sharcholders and meet other
obligations, including operating expenses and any debt service, primarily depends upon the receipt of sufficient
funds from our life insurance subsidiaries in the form of dividends or interest payments.

Based on statutory insurance regulations and 2002 results, our insurance subsidiaries could have paid
approximately $82 million in dividends in 2003 without obtaining regulatory approval. Qur subsidiaries paid to
= us approximately $85 million in dividends in 2003 that included dividends for which we obtained regulatory
approval, Based on 2003 results, our subsidiaries can pay an estimated $78 million in dividends in 2004
without obtaining regulatory approval.

5] R o . . ! EN - T
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth certain financial and operating data of the Company.

As of or for the Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 (A) 2000 1999
($ in millions, except share data)

i‘:i‘lhh)iﬂd.di

Ceonsolidated Income Statement Data:

ill ‘llu‘% .Li

N Revenues:
- Insurance premiums ............... $ 2972 § 3513 $ 3059 § 2662 § 2686
B— Product charges ................... 181.4 144.5 146.1 99.9 90.8
R Net investment income .. ........... 1,001.9 1,001.3 . 873.2 699.5 665.4
p— Realized/unrealized gains (losses) on
o investment...................... 131.3 (149.9) (90.6) (29.0) (1.4)
_:_._g Ctherincome ..................... 68.3 68.5 45.7 35.0 2317
— Total TEVENUES ... vuvvvvvnnnnnn.. 1,630.1 1,415.7 1,280.3 1,071.6 1,047.1
T—-; Benefits and expenses:
e Policyowner benefits ............... 940.2 - 871.9 753.0 624.4 630.2
Total insurance and other expenses . .. 372.1 3243 283.1 227.5 216.0
Dividends to policyowners........... 98.4 104.9 98.9 74.3 70.8
Total benefits and expenses ....... 1,410.7 1,301.1 1,135.0 926.2 917.0
Income from continuing operations . . ... 1269.4 114.6 145.3 145.4 130.1
Interest expense ..................... 30.2 25.5 26.0 29.7 29.0
Income before tax expense and minority , .
interest............T .............. 239.2 89.1 1183 115.7 101.1
Income tax expense . .. .. PN L. 186 . 283 ' 395 425 . 337
Minority interest. ....... P e — — 217 .. 28.1.

Net income from continuing : '
OPerations ...........c..iiuinn... 160.6 60.8 79.8 51.5 39.3
Discontinued operations (net of tax):
Income (loss) from discontinued

OPErations ...................... 1.8 2.1 13 _ 0.3 {0.9)
“Net income before cumulative effect of** . R R - -
change in accounting ............... 162.4 62.9 81.1 51.8 384 -
Cumulative effect of change in ‘

accounting, net of tax .............. (1.3) — (8.2) — —

Netincome...........covvivvinnnn. $§ 1611 $ 629 $ 729 § 518 $ 384
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As of or for the Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 (A) 2000 1999
(% in millions, except share data)

Net income from continuing operations
per share (B):

Basic ... $§ 410 $ 152 8§ 216 § 246 § 226
Diluted .........coooovi i $ 405 $ 150 $ 213 § 244 § 226

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding (in millions) (B):

Basic ....vov i 39.2 40.0 36.9 20.9 17.4
Diluted ........................ 39.6 40.4 375 21.0 17.5
Dividends declared per common share
(C) oo $ 040 $ 040 3 040 $ 040 S —
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Total invested assets ................. $17,942.8 $16,932.5 $15,0524 § 96068 $ 9,059.7
Total assets . .......cviiiiin e o, $21,542.2  $20,293.7 §$18,299.2 $11,471.5 $11,091.9
Notes payable. ... .................. $ 5961 $ 5114 § 3846 $§ 4133 §$ 3879
Total liabilities ...................... " $20,132.4  $19,030.7 $17,060.6 $10,643.5 $10,010.8
Minority interest. . ...........ouien... $ — 3 — 8 - 3 — $ 309.1
Total stockholders’ equity ............. $1,4098 $1,2629 $ 11,2385 $§ 8280 § 7720
Other Operating Data: ;
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (D) .. 1.40 1.19 1.33 1.28 1.21

(A) Financial data fo;};2001 includes the results for ILICO, subsequent to the acquisition date. of May. 18, ﬁ

2001

&

no shares of common stock outstanding until its demutualization on September 20, 2000. On Septem-
ber 20, 2000, we distributed (7.4 million shares of common stock to our former members and exchanged
our common stock for the 12.6 million shares of common stock held by the public in ALH]I, our former
subsidiary and another of cur predecessor entities, on a one-for-one basis. Our operating income for 1999
and 2000 presented above primarily reflects the operating income of ALHI. Therefore, net income from
continuing operations per share was calculated based on the number of shares of stock we owned of

(B) Our predecessor, AMHC, was originally formed in 1996 as a mutual holding company.and therefore, had -

ALHI through Séptember 20, 2000. Since then, net incame from continuing operations per:share:hag “Euiemio.: "™ |

been calculated based on the shares of our common stock actually outstanding,

(C) We did not have common stock until our demutualization on September 20, 2000, therefore, there were
no dividends to declare on common stock for the year 1999. ALHI, our predecessor to our company did
declare dividends on its common stock of $0.40 per share for the year ended December 31, 1999.

(D) For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, “earnings” consist of income from
operations before income taxes, fixed charges and pre-tax earnings required to cover preferred stock
dividend requirements. “Fixed charges” consist of interest credited on annuity and universal life contracts
and interest expense on debt, amortization of debt expense and preferred stock dividend requirements,

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATION

The following analysis of the consolidated financial condition and results of operation of AmerUs Group
Co. should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data and Consolidated Financial Statements
and related notes. We are incorporating by reference “Item 1. Business” information into Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section.
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Nature of Operations

See “Item 1 Business” for information regarding the nature of our operations.

Financial Highlights

Cur financial highlights are as follows:
For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 20602 2001

(3 in thousands, except share datn)
Segment pre-tax operating income:

Protection Products ......... ..., 128,290 § 129,739 $ . 95955
Accumulation Products .. ..., 130,890 120,655 95,912
Other operations. ..., (7,725) (6,622) 6,138
Total segment pre-tax operating income ........ P 251,455 243,772 198,005
Non-segment expense, net (A) ...............ocoinn.nn, 90,308 180,906 125,098
NETINCOME « .« e vttt tee i e e e eeee e eeannens 161,147 § 62866 S 72,907
Diluted eamings pershare ...... ...t 407 3§ 156 § 1.95
TOtal AS5ELS o v ottt ittt e $21,542,242  $20,293,665 $18,299,152

i. i, i

.............. e . $1,409811  $ 1,262,948 § 1,238,517

{A) Non-segment expense, net consists primarily of open block gains and losses, derivative related market
value adjustments, non-insurance operations, reinsurance adjustinents, restructuring costs, interest
expense, income taxes, discontinued operations and cumulativé“'eﬁ’éct of changes in accounting. ::

Operating segment mcome decreascd for the protectxon products segment in 2003 compared to 2002

‘ pnmanly as a result of lower net investment income and the continued decrease in closed block operating

income. The acquisition of ILICO, combined with a slight growth in margins, increased protection products
segment operating income in 2002 compared to 2001. The increased volume of equity-indexed products and
additional income from funding agreements increased accumulation products segment earnings in 2003
compared to 2002. Increased IMO operating income and the discontinuation of goodwill amortization in 2002
contnbuted to the growth in accumulatlon products segment operatmg 1ncome in 2002 compared to 2001.

Net income increased in 2003 compared to 2002 pnmanly due to mcreased realized gains on open block
investments and increased net unrealized gains from market value adjustments on trading securities,
derivatives and equity-indexed contracts. Net income decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily as a
result of realized losses on investments, unrealized losses from market value adjustments on derivatives and
increased restructuring charges. The 2002 reductions in net income were partially offset by the higher income
of our protection and accumulation products segments.

Total assets increased $1.2 billion during 2003 primarily as a result of additional invested assets under
management resulting from additional life sales and annuity deposits. Stockholders’ equity increased
$146.9 million during 2003 as a result of 2003 net income of $161.1 million and the issuance of common stock
under various incentive plans of $11.1 million. The 2003 increase was partially offset by dividends declared in
2003 of $15.7 million and fees, expenses and liabilities associated with the issuance of PRIDES, which
reduced equity $7.3 million,
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Segment Income . : -

bl We use the same accounting policies and procedures to measure operating segment income as we use 1o -
N measure consolidated income from operations with the exception of the elimination of certain items which —
o management believes are not necessarily indicative of overall operating trends. These items are shown between .

segment pre-tax operating income and net income and are as follows: —

1) Realized gains and losses on open block investments.

2) Market value changes and amortization of assets and liabilities associated with the accounting
for derivatives, such as:

> Unrealized gains and losses on open block options and securities held for trading.

'  ‘Change in option value of equity-indexed products and market value adjustments on total return
strategy annuities.

o Cash flow hedge amortization (amortization of a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the

1] variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability).

3) Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC) and value of business acquired &
(VOBA) related to the realized gains and losses on the open block investments and the
derivative adjustments. -

4} Certain reinsurance adjustments.

5) Demutualization costs.

[ - . . s . . e N B

6) Restructunng costs. | , . .

da

7) Other income from non-insurance operations. I o

i 8) Discontinued operations. -
9) Cumulative effect of changes in accounting method. e

- These items.will fluctuate from period to period depending on the prevallmg interest rate. ‘and; ECONOMICH swr - =t

env1ronment or are not continuing in nature, or are not part of the core” insurance operations. As a result,
management believes they do not reflect the ongoing earnings capacity of our operating segments.

Protection Preducts

Our protection products segment primarily consists of interest-sensitive whole life, term life, universal life
and equity-indexed life insurance policies. These products are marketed on a national basis primarily through M -
a Preferred Producer agency system, PPGA distribution system and IMOs. Included in protection products o
s segment is the closed block of ALIC and the closed block of ILIC. Each closed block was established when
- the companies reorganized from mutual companies to stock companies. When protection products are sold, we :
R invest the premiums we receive in our investment portfolio and establish a liability to the policyholder. We
manage investment spread by seeking to maximize the return on these invested assets, consistent with our -
asset/Hability and credit quality needs. We enter into reinsurance arrangements in order to reduce the effects
——| of mortality risk and the statutory capital strain from writing new business. All income statement line items ~
are presented net of reinsurance amounts. Protection products in force totaled $84.9 billion at December 31, -
B 2003, $80.6 billion at December 31, 2002 and $70.5 billion at December 31, 2001. Protection products in force — I
- is a non-GAAP financial measure utilized by investors, analysts and the Company to assess the Company’s
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position in the industry. We do not believe there is a comparable GAAP financial measure. A summary of our
protection products segment operations follows:

For. The Years Ended December-31,
2003 2002 : 2001
(8 in thousands) i

TR

|

-] Revenues:

B~ Insurance premiums ...........c.oviiiniiin e, $290,707  $341,602  $300,690
oA Product charges.........c..covuiviniiniiiiiinnannens. 138,215 103,145 110,403
—;: Net investment income ..ot 321,532 335,111 283,330
‘_:2 Realized gains (losses) on closed block investments ... ... 9,326 (2,400) 8,720
3 Other INCOME. .. ...oiititi e, 4,224 4,026 1,947

Total revenues . .ottt e 764,004 781,484 705,090

Benefits and expenses:

i. l lx‘ jy L ﬁi‘ﬂ\l;ixu;ii.ljxl‘\i

Policyowner benefits .. ... it 387,068 403,293 384,159
Underwriting, acquisition and other expenses ............ 76,042 80,319 69,035
Amortization of DAC and VOBA, net of open block
gain/loss adjustment ... ... ... ... . i 74211 63,267 56,996
Dividends to policyowners .. .........c.oiniieeai .. 98,393 104,866 98,945
Total benefits and expenses . ........................ 635,714 651,745 609,135
Pre-tax operating income — Protection Products segment ... $128,290 $129,739  § 95,955

Pre-tax operating income from our protection products decreased 1% in 2003 and increased 35% in 2002
. compared to the respective prior years. Higher product margins ing¢reased open block operating income: = »
-+ $3.9 million in 2003; however, operating income of the closed block décreased $5.3 million in 2003 compared 1w -
to 2002, as the closed block continues to reflect the declining closed block glide path (see Dividends to -« -
Policyowners for additional information). The increase in 2002 was due to a slight growth in product margins. .. .
and the acquisition of ILICG, The key drivers of our protection products business include sales, persistency,
net investment income, mortality and expenses.

L

Sales, Premiums and Product Charges. Sales are a key driver of our business as they are a leading
indicator of future revenue trends to emerge in segment operating income. As shown in the Sales Activity
Product table presented in “Item 1 Business — Protection Products Segment,” direct sales decreased 9% in
2003 compared t0,2002 and increased: 74% i1t 2002*compared to 2001. The decrease in 2003 resulted from.... - -

“ lower traditional and universal life insurance product sales as we re-priced our products and discontinued our
par whole life product. In addition, interest-sensitive whole life sales were lower due to uncertainty in
government tax policy and regulation. Interest-sensitive whole life insurance has cash value accumulation that
changes with current interest and mortality rates. The lower traditional and universal sales were partially offset
by increased equity-indexed life sales as we continue to focus our marketing efforts on those products. The
increase in 2002 was primarily due to the acquisition of ILICO during the second quarter of 2001 and growth

i

i
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E we experienced in almost all our protection product lines in 2002, especially in our equity-indexed life

- products. The equity-indexed life product allows the policyowner to elect an earnings strategy for a portion of
- the account value whereby earnings are credited based primarily on increases in the S&P 500 Index, excluding -
E dividends. The earnings credit is subject to a participation rate and an annual cap. Sales of equity-indexed life -
p— products were $51.6 million in 2003 as compared to $45.8 million in 2002 and $25.9 million in 2001. We are a -
f— leading writer of equity-indexed life products in the United States. “
E We recognize premiums on traditional life insurance policies as revenues when the premiums are due. ~-

Amounts received as payments for universal life and equity-indexed life insurance policies are not recorded as i
premium revenue, but are instead recorded as a policyholder liability. Revenues from the universal life and -
equity-indexed life policies consist of product charges for the cost of insurance, policy administration and ~
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policy surrender. All revenue is reported net of reinsurance ceded. Insurance premium revenue was lower in
2003 compared to 2002 due to lower sales of traditional products, additional premiums ceded and a decline in
closed block in force business. Product charge revenue was higher in 2003 compared to 2002 due to the growth
in the equity-indexed life block of business and fluctuations in reinsurance premiums. Insurance premium
revenue increased in 2002 as compared to 200! primarily due to the acquisition of ILICO. Product charge
revenue decreased in 2002 as compared to 2001 primarily due to a new reinsurance arrangement on universal
life products. o

Persistency. Persistency is a key driver of our business as it refers to the policies which remain in our
block of business and is measured by the lapse rate. A low lapse rate reflects higher persistency indicating -
more business is remaining in force 1o generate future revenues. Annualized lapse rates were 6.5% in 2003
compared to 7.3% in 2002 and 7.7% in 2001. Qur persistency experience remained within our pricing
assumptions. The lapse rate in 2001 was higher due to the completion of ILICO’s demutualization payout in -
July 2001. Lapses tend to decline in anticipation of a demutualization transaction as policyholders want to
remain policyholders so they will be eligible for the demutualization payout. Following a demutualization, -
lapses tend to increase for a period before they return to a more normal level. N
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Net Investment Income. Net investment income is a key driver of our business as it reflects earnings on
our invested assets. Net investment income decreased in 2003 and increased in 2002 compared to the —
respective prior years. The decrease in net investment income in 2003 was due to low interest rates and
increased prepayments of mortgage-backed securities. The 2002 increase in net investment income was
primarily attributable to the acquisition of ILICO. The earned rate of the investment portfolio was 6.63% in
2003 compared to 7.22% in 2002 and 7.32% in 2001. The decrease in ratcs in 2003 and 2002 was primarily a
result of the lower interest rate environment.
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Mortality and Benefit Expense. Mortality is a key driver of our business as this item reflects benefit -
expense. For 2003 and 2002, we experienced favorable mortality. Total benefit expense was higher in 2002
"compared to 2001 due to the acquisition of ILICQO. Total policyowrer benefits for ILICO increased

'$59.5 million in*2002 compared to 2001. In addition, we had increasedireinsurance récoveries in.2003:and =
2002, which reduce benefit expense, as a result of additional reinsurance- arrangements. @

NS
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Underwriting, Acquisition and Other Expenses. Underwriting, acquisition and other expenses are a key
driver of our business as they reflect costs of our operations. Expenses decreased in 2003 compared to 2002
primarily due to increased reimbursement from reinsurers of non-deferrable commission and expense
allowances, as more policies are subject to reinsurance, and expense changes resulting from the restructuring
activities. Expenses increased in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to the acquisition of ILICO for a full

year in 2002 compared to a pamal year in 2001. ILICO expenses increased $10.6 mllhon in 2002 comparcd to
SHTTH2001Ve e s ESHRTENT S

“#
Amortization of DAC and VOBA The amortization of DAC and VOBA are expense items which -
increased in 2003 and 2002 as compared to the respective prior years. DAC and VOBA are generally -~
amortized in proportion to policy gross margins which increased in 2003, resulting in higher amortization —|
expense. Amortization expense increased in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to the acquisition of
ILICO.

Dividends to Policyowners. Dividend expense decreased in 2003 compared to 2002 and increased in
2002 compared to 2001. Dividend expense includes increases or decreases to the closed block policyowner
dividend obligation liability carried on the consolidated balance sheet. To the extent cumulative actual
earnings of the closed block exceed the cumulative expected earnings based on the actuarial calculation at the
time of formation of the closed block (which we refer to as the closed block glide path), a policyowner
dividend obligation is recorded. The higher realized gains in 2003 as compared to losses in 2002 increased
S closed block earnings, which in turn, were added to the policyowner dividend obligation liability. Lower
- investment income was experienced in the closed block in 2003 which decreased dividend expense offsetting
the increase for realized gains. In addition, the reinsurance adjustment related to the settlement activity of the
e closed block in the second quarter of 2003, caused an increase in the dividend expense and related policyowner 3
— dividend obligation liability for 2003. See the “Reinsurance Adjustments” section for additional information. g
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The increased dividends in 2002 as compared to 2001 were primarily due to the acquisition of ILICO in 2001
and the dividends associated with its closed block.

Outlook. We expect to continue to shift our sales to higher return products, in particular the equity-
indexed life products. We also expect to continue to realize operating efficiencies created by the restructuring

of the protection products operations and centralization of our administrative functions as discussed later in
“Restructuring Costs.”

Accumulation Products

QOur accumulation products segment primary offerings consist of individual fixed annuities and funding
agreements. The fixed annuities are marketed on a national basis primarily through IMOs and independent
brokers. Similar to our protection products segment, we invest the premiums we receive from accumulation

product deposits in our investment portfolio and establish a liability representing our commitment to our -

policyholder. We manage product spread by seeking to maximize the return on our invested assets consistent
with our asset/liability management and credit quality needs. When appropriate, we periodically reset the
interest rates credited to our policyholder liability. Accumulation products reserves totaled $11.7 billion at
December 31, 2003, $11.3 billion at December 31, 2002 and $10.7 billion at December 31, 2001. A summary
of our accumulation products segment operations follows:

For The Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(S in thousands)

Revenues;
Immediate annuity- and supplementary contract premiums ...... S8 4114 0§ 8702 0§ .5083
Product CRarges . ..o v it i i e i e . 43,139 41,349 35,652
Net investment INCOME . ... vttt e ens 672,141 660,470 577,913
Other income. ... 5\ ..., e PR FRRT .U 11,635 11778 8474
TOtal TEVENUES . . .11 eeoteeaeieeein e ireeeeee e 731029 722299 627,122
Benefits and expenses: 5 . E e i
Policyowner.benefits . ....................... e 478,256 490,401 . 419,132
Underwriting, acquisition and other expenses ...................... 29,423 34,040 41,401
Amortization of DAC and VOBA . ... ... ... ... 0 iiiiiinian. 102,872 91,300 78,891
Total benefits and expenses . .... S 610,551 615,741 539,424
IMO Operations:  w ez = 72y TR . e "
Other iNCOME . . v o vt ettt et e D 50,214 48,642 27,724
Other @XPemSES ...ttt i 39,802 34,545 19,510
Net IMQO operating income . . ......vvieninin e, 10,412 14,097 8,214
Pre-tax operating income - Accumulation Products segment ......... $130,890 $120,655 $ 95912

Pre-tax operating income from our accumulation products operations increased 8% in 2003 and 26% in
2002 compared to the respective prior years. The increased volume of equity-indexed annuities and additional
income from funding agreements increased accumulation products earnings in 2003. The increase was
partially offset by reduced product margins and lower contributions from IMQO operations. The increase in
2002 was primarily due to increased IMO operating income and the discontinuation of goodwill amortization.
The drivers of profitability in our accumulation products business are deposits, persistency, product spread,
expenses and IMO operations. ‘

Deposits. Deposits are a key driver of our business as this is a measure which represents collected
premiums to be deposited to policyowner accounts for which we will earn a future product spread. Deposits are
presented as collected premiums, which are measured in accordance with industry practice, and represent the
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amount of new business sold during the period. Deposits are a non-GAAP financial measure for an insurance
company for which there is no comparable GAAP financial measure. We use deposits to measure the
productivity of our distribution network and as a basis for compensation of sales and marketing employees and
agents. As shown in the Deposits by Product table presented in “Item 1 Business ~— Accumulation Products
Segment,” total annuity deposits decreased 2% in 2003 compared to 2002 and decreased 9% in 2002 as
compared to 2001. The 2003 decrease was primarily a result of our slowing of our traditional annuity sales due
to the low interest rate environment as we focused sales on our higher returning equity-indexed products. The
reduced traditional annuity sales offset the increase in equity-indexed products. The 2002 decrease resulted
from the deployment of capital to funding agreements which provide a higher return on equity.

We placed fixed rate funding agreements totaling $875 million in 2002. Funding agreements are
insurance contracts for which we receive deposit funds and for which we agree to repay the deposit and a
contractual return for the duration of the contract. In December 2003, a $250 million funding agreement
originally placed in 1999 was terminated. Total funding agreements outstanding as of December 31, 2003
amounted to $375 million compared to $1.125 billion outstanding at December 31, 2002.

The deposits we receive on accumulation products are not recorded as revenue but instead as a
policyowner liability. Surrender charges are recorded as revenue as a product charge. Product charges
increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due to the growth in business and increased in 2002 as compared to
2001 due to the acquisition of ILICO.

Persistency. Persistency is a key driver of our business as it refers to the policies which remain in our
block of business and is measured by the withdrawal rate. A low withdrawal rate reflects higher persistency

indicating more business is remaining in force to generate future revenues. Withdrawals represent funds taken.
out of accumulation products by policyowners not including those due to the death of policyowners. Annuity:

withdrawal rates without internal replacements continued to improve in 2003 as compared to 2002 and 2001

and amounted to 9.5%, 10.6% and 11.4%, respectively. .Annuity withdrawals without internal replacements

tptalgd $l,196.9 million in 2003, $1,288.2 million in 2002 and $1,324.9 million in 2001.. =« &

Our withdrawal experience remained within our pncmg assumptions. Withdrawal rates dechned in 2003
and 2002 as compared to the respective prior years as our annuity products provide a favorable investment
return in this current low interest rate environment. :

Product Spread. Product spread is a key driver of our business as it measures the difference between the
income earned on our invested assets and the rate which we credit to policyowners, the difference is reflected
as segment operatmg income. Asset earned rates and liability crediting rates were as follows for annmty

. scgment products: - . . cr S U S e epema
o B ]For The Years Emded December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Asset eamned Tale . ..ot e 591% 6.58% 7.16%
Liability credited rate . .......... .0 e 3.79% 4.43% 4.85%
Product spread ... ..ot e 2.12% 2.15% 2.31%

The product spread decreased three basis points to 212 basis points in 2003 compared to 2002. The
product spread decreased 16 basis points to 215 basis points in 2002 compared to 2001, Liability crediting
rates on traditional annuities were lowered in the fourth quarter of 2001 and throughout 2002 to correspond
with the decline in investment yields caused by lower rates on new and reinvested funds. As described in the
Traditional Annuity Products and Equity-Indexed Annuities sections presented in “Item 1 Business —
Accumulation Products Segment,” the annuity products have various differentials between the credited rate
and minimum guarantee rate, including some which have no differential, and as such cannot be lowered.
Additionally, some traditional annuities have multi-year interest rate guarantees for which the credited rate
cannot be decreased untif the end of the muiti-year period. Also, equity-indexed annuities provide guaranteed
rates based on a cumulative fioor over the term of the product. Due to these limitaticns on the ability to lower
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interest crediting rates and the potential for credit defaults and lower reinvestment rates on investments, we
could experience additional spread compression in future periods.

Funding agreement income increased $5.0 million in 2003 compared to 2002 and increased $4.1 million

in 2002 compared to 2001. The increase was due to the $875 million of funding agreements placed throughout
2002.

Underwriting, Acquisition and Other Expenses. Underwriting, acquisition and other expenses are a key
driver of our business as they represeat costs of our operations. Expenses in 2003 decreased as compared to
2002 due primarily to lower fees associated with a declining block of annuity business processed by a third
party administrator. Expenses decreased in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to goodwill no longer being
amortized effective January 1, 2002 with the adoption of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Goodwill amortization amounted to $7.6 million in 2001.

IMO Operations. IMO operations are a key driver of our business as the earnings from the IMQs are a
significant component of the accumulation products segment operating income. IMOs have contractual
arrangements to promote our insurance products in their networks of agents and brokers. Additionally, they
also contract with third party insurance companies. We own five such IMOs. The income from IMO
operations primarily represents annuity commissions received by our IMQOs from those third party insurance
companies. Net IMO operating income decreased $3.7 million in 2003 compared to 2002 due to increased
expenses and increased $5.9 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due to our acquisition of an IMO in 2002.

Cutlook. We anticipate increased product sales from our IMOs but decreased product sales from other

. distribution as we manage our sales in this current low interest rate environment. We also expect to continue

the shift of our product mix to higher return products, in particular the equity-indexed annuity products. We
will continue to manage our spreads as we strive for our desired profitability in this economic environment.
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The other segment is our non-core lines of business outside of;‘ij‘zﬁbrotection and accumulation products.
These lines of business include holding company revenues and expenses, operations of our real estate
management subsidiary, and accident and health insurance. The other segment pre-tax operating loss
increased in 2003 and 2002 as compared to the respective prior years primarily due to real estate investment
and management fee income which continues to decline as we reduce these investment holdings. In addition,
the operating gain in 2001 included investment fee income for asset management services provided to ILICO
prior to the acquisition amounting to $2.8 million. After the acquisition of ILICO, such fees are

consolidation. 7 , e g
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Income Statement Reconciliation

A reconciliation of our segment pre-tax operating income to net income as shown in our consolidated
statements of income follows:
For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
($ in thousands)

Segment pre-tax operating income:

Protection Products. ... .. i i e $128,280 $129,739  $95,955
Accumulation Products .. ... 130,890 120,655 95,912
Other OPeTations ... .vevt ettt i i i e - (7,725) (6,622) 6,138

Total segment pre-tax operating income ....................... 251,455 243,772 198,005

Non-segment items — increases (decreases) to income:
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on assets and liabilities:

Realized gains (losses) on open block investments .............. 32,196  (102,310) (39,299)
Unrealized gains (losses) on open block options and trading
IOVESIIDENES . ottt ittt e e 89,769 - (45,209) (60,050)
Change in option value of equity-indexed products and market
value adjustments on total return strategy annuities............ (65,741) 28,759 52,747
Cash flow hedge amortization . ..............c.oiviivive... (3,827) (4,351) —
Amortization of DAC & VOBA due to open block realized gains .
AN J088ES o ot e e e e e e e e (16,257) 15,002 2,9_88
Reinsurance adjustments ... ..cooueeiiiin e e 3,854 — —
. Demutualization COSES vt R R . — . (L1,186) (969)
Restmctunng D P P . (23,294)  .(21,225)  (8,566)
_ Other income from non-msurancc operatlons . ." ...... B Ceeee B 1,237 1,392 532
Income from contmumg OPETationS . ...ttt eiennnns 269,392 114,644 145388
Interest expense........ P (30,154)  (25,487) (26,011)
INCOME taX EXPENSE ..ottt ettt et e e et (78,610)  (28,375) (39,522)
Net income from continuing operations .................... 160,628 60,782 79,855
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax ........ 1,815 2,084 1,288
Cumulative effect of change in accou’nting, net of taX e 2 ey -(1,296) —vm (8,236)
Net income .................. O $161,147 § 62,866  $72,907

Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Assets and Liabilities. Realized gains (losses) on open block
investments will fluctuate from period to period depending on the prevailing interest rate, the economic
environment, the timing of investment sales and credit events. Realized gains on open block investments in
2003 included $12.1 million of gains on sales of investments previously impaired and written-down in 2002 or
2003, primarily American Airlines, Dynegy Holdings, Intermedia Communications and NRG Northeast
Generating. Realized gains (losses) on open block investments in 2002 consisted primarily of realized losses
and writedowns on investments related to Dynegy Holdings, Green Tree Financial, National Century, NRG
Northeast Generating, Trenwick Group, United Airlines, US Air and WorldCom Inc. The realized losses in
2001 consisted primarily of writedowns on investments mainly related to telecommunications and emerging
markets investments.

Unrealized gains (losses) on open block options and trading investments also will fluctuate from period to
period depending on prevailing interest rates, the economic environment, the timing of investment sales and
credit events, We use options to hedge our equity-indexed products. In accounting for derivatives, we adjusted
our options to market value, which, due to the economic environment and stock market conditions, resulted in
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an unrealized gain of $62.9 million in 2003 and an unrealized loss of $40.0 million in 2002 and an unrealized
loss of $54.2 million in 2001. In addition, we also have trading securities that back our total return strategy
traditional annuity products. The market value adjustment on the trading securities resulted in an unrealized
gain of $26.8 million in 2003, a loss of $5.2 million in 2002 and a loss of $5.9 miliion in 2001. Most of the
unrealized gains and losses on the options and trading securities are offset by similar adjustments to the option
portion of the equity-indexed product reserves and to the total return strategy annuity reserves. The reserve
adjustments are reflected in policyowner benefits expense in the consolidated statements of income and are
included in the fair value change as additional expense of $65.7 million in 2003, reduced expense of
$28.8 million in 2002 and reduced expense of $52.7 million in 2001 as explained in the following paragraph.

The fair value change in options embedded within our equity-indexed products and the fair value changes
on our total return strategy traditional annuity contracts are being recorded at fair value. As previously
discussed, these fair value changes are offset by similar adjustments to unrealized gains (losses) on
investments related to the fair value changes on the options that hedge the equity-indexed products and on the
: trading securities that back the total return strategy products. The reduction in such contract expense is less
T than the decline in investment income primarily due to the inability to lower crediting rates below minimum

- guaranteed interest rates.
- Reinsurance Adjustments. Reinsurance related adjustments in 2003 consist of the release of a
= $8.2 million liability in conjunction with the settlement and amendment of a reinsurance arrangement and a
ey

1

$4.3 million true-up of pre-2003 reinsurance settlements under a reinsurance arrangement between ILIC’s
open block and closed block.

il

Demutualization Costs. The 2001 demutualization costs are associated with the demutualization of
ILIC, which was completed when we acquired ILICO in May 200i. As a requirement of ILIC’s
demutualization, we undertook a commission-free program under which shareholders with less than one
hundred shares could redeem those shares for cash or purchase additional shares, commission-free, to reach a
holding of at least one hundred shares. The 2002 costs are primarily for commissions, postage and printing
under this program. Since these costs are not ongoing, they have been excluded from our segment results.
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Restructuring Costs.  Restructuring costs relate to our consolidation of various functions in corinection

-~ with a restructuring of our protection products-and accumulation products operations and investment activities

which began in the third quarter of 2001. The objective of the restructuring plan was to eliminate duplicative

functions for all business units and to reduce on-going operating costs. Corporate administrative functions
were transitioned so they are performed primarily in Des Moines, Iowa. Protection products administration =
processes were transitioned so they are performed in Des Moines; Woodbury, New York; or outsourced.
Accumulation products functions were transitioned to Topeka, Kansas. Investment activities were restructured
to. eliminate certain real estate management-services: which have been outsourced.
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We listed an office building located in Indianapolis, Indiana, with a real estate broker in 2003, and we

vacated the location as a result of staff reductions. In addition, those employees who are going to work in —
Indianapolis moved to a new location. We determined that the plan of sale criteria in SFAS 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” had been met. Accordingly, the carrying value of the -
building was adjusted to its fair value less costs to sell, amounting to $15.5 million, which was based upon g
comparable properties recently marketed in Indianapolis, The resulting $7.7 million pre-tax impairment loss
was recorded as restructuring costs in the consolidated statement of income in 2003. The carrying value of the
building that is held for sale is included in the other assets line item of the consolidated balance sheet.
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During 2003, we initiated and executed a restructuring plan to merge one of our subsidiaries, IL Annuity,
into its parent, ILIC. The merger was effective June 30, 2003, and total restructuring costs associated with this

3 plan amounted to $2.5 million pre-tax, which primarily consisted of legal, accounting, and printing costs and

’4 the write-off of $2.2 million of insurance licenses.

j The restructuring charges expensed in 2003 included pre-tax severance and termination benefits of T
e $3.0 million related to the termination of approximately ten positions and for severance accrual adjustments —

and other pre-tax costs of $20.3 million primarily related to the impairment loss on the Indianapolis office
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" after income taxes was an expense-of $1.3 million in 2003. CE o
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building, expenses associated with the merger of IL Annuity into ILIC, and systems conversion costs. The
restructuring charges expensed in 2002 included pre-tax severance and termination benefits of $9.5 million
related to the elimination of approximately 240 positions and other pre-tax costs of $11.7 million primarily
related to systems. conversion and relocation of employees. The restructuring charges expensed in 2001
included pre-tax severance and termination benefits of $6.8 million related to the elimination of approximately
80 positions and other pre-tax costs of $1.8 million. An accrual for severance and termination benefits not yet
paid amounted to $4.0 million at December 31, 2003. Charges for all restructuring activities were completed
in 2003,

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 and 2001. The increase was
primarily due to interest associated with the PRIDES securities of $143.8 million issued in the second quarter
of 2003.

Discontinued Operations. In November 2003, we entered into an agreement to sell our residential
financing operations. The results .of the residential financing operations have been classified as discontinued
operations. The sale was completed in January 2004, resulting in an after-tax gain of approximately
$3.9 million to be recognized in 2004.

Change in Accounting. The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Derivatives Implementation
Group issued SFAS 133 Implementation Issue No. B36, “Embedded Derivatives: Bifurcation of a Debt
Instrument that Incorporates both Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk Exposures that are Unrelated or Only
Partjally Related to the Creditworthiness of the Issuer of that Instrument,” or DIG Issue B36. DIG Issue B36
applies to modified coinsurance and coinsurance with funds withheld arrangements where interest is
determined by reference to a pool of fixed maturity assets or a total return debt index. DIG Issue B36
considers the reinsurer’s receivable from the ceding company to contain an embedded defivative that must be
bifurcated and accounted for separately under SFAS 133. We adopted DIG Issue B36 on October 1, 2003,
which included the reclassification of certain securities supporting the products being reinsured from

available-for-sale to held for tradinig. The net cumulative effect of the change in accountlng for D}IG TssuéB36
t-;?.-

We adoptcd SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001. In accordance with the prowswns of the statement; we
recorded the differences between the previous carrying amounts of our derivative instruments and the fair
value of our derivative instruments, as of this initial application date, as the effect of a change in accounting
principle. The gross difference between carrying amounts and fair value amounts of our derivative instruments
was a reduction of approximately $11.3 million. The adjustment to the DAC and VOBA amortization related
to the impact from the derivative charge was an expense of approximately $1.1 million and the income tax
benefit was $4.2 million, resulting in the net cumulanvc eﬁ'ect of change in accounting f¢ for denvatlves expense
of $8.2 million in 2001. . . . SERSEME Uk S AR S : -

Liquidity and Capital Rescurces
AmerUs Group Co.

. As a holding company, AmerUs Group Co.’s cash flows from operations consist of dividends from
subsidiaries, if declared and paid, interest from income on loans and advances to subsidiaries (including a
surplus note issued to us by ALIC), investment income on our assets and fees which we charge our
subsidiaries, offset by the expenses incurred for debt service, salaries and other expenses.

We intend to rely primarily on dividends and interest income from our insurance subsidiaries in order to
make dividend payments to our shareholders. The payment of dividends by our insurance subsidiaries is
regulated under various state laws. Generally, under the various state statutes, our insurance subsidiaries’
dividends may be paid only from the earned surplus arising from their respective businesses and must receive
the prior approval of the respective state regulator to pay any dividend that would exceed certain statutory
limitations. The current statutes generally limit any dividend, together with dividends paid out within the
preceding 12 months, to the greater of (i) 10% of the respective company’s policyowners’ statutory surplus as
of the preceding year end or (ii) the statutory net gain from operations for the previous calendar vear.
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Generally, the various state laws give the state regulators discretion to approve or disapprove requests for
dividends in excess of these limits. Based on these limitations and 2002 results, our life insurance subsidiaries
could have paid us approximately $82 million in dividends in 2003 without obtaining regulatory approval. Qur
subsidiaries paid us approximately $85 million in 2003 that included dividends for which we obtained
regulatory approval. Based on 2003 results, our subsidiaries can pay an estimated $78 million in dividends
without obtaining regulatory approval during 2004. We also consider risk-based capital levels, capital and
liquidity operating needs, and other factors prior to paying dividends from the insurance subsidiaries.

We generated cash flows from operating activities of $394.9 million, $920.1 million and $97.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. Operating cash flows were primarily used to
increase our investment portfolio.

We have a $200 million revolving credit facility with a syndicate of lenders (which we refer to as the
Revolving Credit Agreement). As of December 31, 2003, there was a $27.0 million outstanding loan balance
under the facility. The Revolving Credit Agreement provides for typical events of default and covenants with
respect to the conduct of business and requires the maintenance of various financial levels and ratios. Among
other covenants, we (a) cannot have a leverage ratio greater than 0.35:1.0, (b) cannot have an interest
coverage ratio less than 2.50:1.0, (c) are prohibited from paying cash dividends on- common stock in excess of
an amount equal to 3% of consolidated net worth as of the last day of the preceding fiscal year, (d) must cause
our insurance subsidiaries to maintain certain levels of risk-based capital, and (e) are prohibited from
incurring additional indebtedness for borrowed money in excess of certain limits typical for such lines of credit.
We closely monitor all of these covenants to ensure continued compliance.

On May 28, 2003, we issued $125 million of PRIDES securities. On June 5, 2003, the underwriters -
exercised their over-allotment option in full and the Company issued an- additional $18.8 million of PRIDES. 1
On March 6, 2002, we issued and sold in a private placement $185 million aggregate original principal amount «
of OCEANSs, The issuance of PRIDES and OCEANs were prevmusly discussed in “Item 5 — Market for -
Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters,” which portions are incorporated herein by
refcrence
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The Company has several options for deploymg excess capital, lncludmg supporting higher sales growth
reducing debt levels, pursuing acquisitions and buymg back common stock We may resume purchasing shares - .
of our common stock pursuant to the repurchase program prewously approvcd by the Company’s Board of ' -
Directors. Our Board of Directors approved a stock purchase program effective August 9, 2002, under which -
we may purchase up to three million shares of our common stock at such times and under such conditions, as u
we deem advisable. The purchases may be made in the open market or by such other means as we determine -
to be appropriate, including privately negotiated purchases. The purchase program supercedes all prior

... purchase programs.. We plan to fund the purchase program from a combination, of our internal sources, -

- dividends from insurance subsidiaries and the Revolving Credit Agrcemcnt Approxnmatc}y 2.3 million shares- -
remain available for repurchase under this program. There were no significant shares purchased in 2003. -
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We manage liquidity on a continuing basis. One way is to minimize our need for capital. We
accomplish this by attempting to use our capital as efficiently as possible and by developing capital-efficient
products in our insurance subsidiaries. We manage our mix of sales by focusing on the more capital-efficient
products In addition, we use reinsurance agreements, where cost-effective, to reduce capital strain in the
insurance subsidiaries. We also focus on optimizing the consolidated capital structure to properly balance the
levels and sources of borrowing and the issuance of equity securities.

Insurance Subsidiaries -

The cash flows of our insurance subsidiaries consist primarily of .premium income; deposits to —
policyowner account balances; income from investments; sales, maturities and calls of investments and
repayments of investment principal. Cash outflows are primarily related to withdrawals of policyowner account
balances, investment purchases, payment of policy acquisition costs, payment of policyowner benefits,
payment of debt, income taxes and current operating expenses. Insurance companies generally produce a
positive cash flow from operations, as measured by the amount by which cash flows are adequate to meet
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benefit obligations to policyowners and normal operating expenses as they are incurred. The remaining cash
flow is generally used to increase the asset base to provide funds to meet the need for future policy benefit
payments and for writing new business. , -~

Management believes that the current level of cash and available-for-sale, held for trading and short-term
securities, combined with expected net cash inflows from operations, maturities of fixed maturity investments,
principal payments on mortgage-backed securities and sales of its insurance products, will be adequate to meet
the anticipated short-term cash obligations of the insurance subsidiaries.

Matching the investment portfolio maturities to the cash flow demands of the type of insurance being
provided is an important consideration for each type of protection product and accumulation product. We
continuously monitor benefits and surrenders to provide projections of future cash requirements. As part of
this monitoring process, we perform cash flow testing of assets and liabilities under various scenarios to
evaluate the adequacy of reserves. In developing our investment strategy, we establish a level of cash and
securities which, combined with expected net cash inflows from operations and maturities and principal ;
payments on fixed maturity investment securities, are believed adequate to meet anticipated short-term and -
long-term benefit and expense payment obligations, There can be no assurance that future experience -
regarding benefits and surrenders will- be similar to historic experience since withdrawal and surrender levels —-
are influenced by such factors as the interest rate environment and general economic conditions and the
claims-paying and financial strength ratings of the insurance subsidiaries.

We take into account asset/liability management considerations in the product development and design -
process. Contract terms for the interest-sensitive products include surrender and withdrawal provisions which -
mitigate the risk of losses due to early withdrawals. These provisions generally do one or more of the following:
limit the amount of penalty-free withdrawals, limit the circumstances under which withdrawals are permitted,
or assess a surrender charge or market value adjustment relating to the” “underlying assets.

, In addition to. the interest-sensitive products our insurance subsidiaries placcd additional funding . .

,agreements totalmg $875 ml)hon pnmanly in six to ten year fixed rate insurance contracts during 2002.. The -
“assets backmg the fundmg agreements are legally scgregated and are not $ubject to claimsithat arise out of any o o
-other business of ‘the insurance subsidiaries. The funding agreements are further bagked by the gcneral e .
‘decount assets 6f the insurance subsidiaries. The segregated assets and: liabilities are included with genféral: L.
account assets in the financial statements. The funding agreements may not be cancelled unless there is a
default under the agreement, but the insurance subsidiaries may terminate the agreement at any time. During
2003, a $250 million funding agreement which was placed in 1999 was terminated. Total funding agreements =
of $875 million were outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

We also have variable separate account assets and liabilities repgesenting funds that are separately = @
= administered; principally for- vanableﬂannulty contracts, and for which the tontractholder bears the investment TR T
risk. Separate account assets and liabilities are reported at fair value and amounted to $261.7 million at ‘
December 31, 2003. Separate account contractholders have no claim against the assets of the general account.
The operations of the separate accounts are not included in the accompanying consohdated financial
statements. :

Nl Through their respective memberships in the Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLB) of Des Moines and

- Topeka, ALIC and American are eligible to borrow under variable-rate short term fed funds arrangements to a
- provide additional liquidity. These borrowings are secured and interest is payable at the current rate at the
o] time of each advance. There were borrowings totaling $23.6 million outstanding under these arrangements at

December 31, 2003. In addition, ALIC has long-term fixed rate advances from the FHLB outstanding of
o— $13.3 million at December 31, 2003.

. The insurance subsidiaries may also obtain liquidity through sales of investments. The investment
portfolio as of December 31, 2003, had a carrying value of $17.9 billion, including closed block investments.

- The level of capital in the insurance companies is regulated by risk-based capital formulas and is
monitored by rating agencies. In order to maintain appropriate capital levels, it may be necessary from time to
time for AmerUs Group Co. to provide additional capital to the insurance companies.
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At December 31, 2003, the statutory capital and surplus of the insurance subsidiaries was approximately
$828 million. Management believes that each insurance company has statutory capital which provides
adequate risk based capital that exceeds required levels.

In the future, in addition to cash flows from operations and borrowing capacity, the insurance subsidiaries
may obtain their required capital from AmerUs Group Co.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Guarantee Obligations

We have an agreement with Bank One, N.A. whereby we guarantee the payment of loans made to certain
managers and executives for the purpose of purchasing common stock and ACES pursuant to the stock
purchase program. Our liability in respect of the principal amount of loans is limited to $3.3 million which was
repaid in March 2004 by the participants. We have also guaranteed interest and all other fees and obligations
owing on the loans. Each participant in the program has agreed to repay any amounts paid by us under the
guarantee in accordance with a reimbursement agreement with the participant. This agreement was entered
into in 1999, prior to the restrictions imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act regarding loans with executive
officers,

Certain partnership investments provide for commitments of future capital, loans or guarantees. We have
obligations to make future capital contributions to various partnerships of up to $1.3 million at December 31,
2003. In addition, at December 31, 2003, we had loan guarantees which totaled $1.3 million. ALIC and its
joint venture partner are contingently liable in the event AVLIC cannot meet its obligations. At December 31,
2003, AVLIC had statutory assets of $2,379 million, liabilities of $2,282 million and surplus of $97 million.

We are contingently liable for the portion of the policies reinsured under existing reinsurance agreements
in the event the reinsurance companies are unable to pay their portion of any reinsured claim. Management

believes that any liability from this contingency is unlikely.'However, tdilimit the possibility: of such Iosscs we

evaluate the financial ¢ondition of reihsurers and monitor concentratigh of credit risk.

a3

Summary of Cammcmal Obligations. azmd Commnmems

Our contractual obligatidns primarily consist of amounts owed for notes payable and operating lease
commitments. See note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion about the notes
payable and note 12 for additional information regarding leases. Maturities of notes payable and lease
obhgatlons are as follows for each of the five years ending December 31, 2003:

]Payments due by | penod] . e

"Ob.ligaﬁon.‘ V n: Total 2604 e 3RS + 2006 3735 2007 2008 - Thereafter '
($ in thousands)

Notes payable .......... $596,101  $24,103 8125606 3 647 $27,690 $144,487 $273,568
Operating leases ........ 18,663 6,131 5,596 3,029 2,465 872 570
Capital leases........... — — — — — — —
Purchase obligations . . ... —_ — — — — — —
Other liabilities . ......., — — — — — — —
Total ................ $614,764  $30,234 $131,202 33,676 $30,155 $145359 $274,138

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. The valuation of financial instruments, accounting for derivatives and
amortization of DAC and VOBA are considered our critical accounting pohcms due to their subjective nature
and significance to the financial statements.
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Valuasion of Financigl Instruments

A significant portion of our assets are carried at fair value, primarily securities available-for-sale,
securities held for trading purposes and derivative financial instruments. Market values are based on quoted
market prices where available.

Securities in our portfolio with a carrying value of approximately $1,605 million and $1,625 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, do not have readily determinable market prices. Valuation
techniques vary by security type and availability of market data. Fair values for securities which do not have a
readily available market price are determined by: 1) a matrix process that uses a current market spread added
to an applicable treasury rate to discount expected future cash flows applicable to the coupon rate, credit
quality, industry sector and term of the investment; 2) independent third party sources or recent transactions
in similar securities, or 3) internally prepared valuations incorporating standard valuation techniques. Certain
market conditions that could impact the valuation of securities include credit ratings, business climate,
economic environment, industry trends, and regulatory and legal risks/events, among others. All such
investments are classified as available-for-sale. Our ability to liquidate our positions in these securities will be
impacted to a significant degree by the lack of an actively traded market, and we may not be able to dispose of
these investments in a timely manner. Although we believe our estimates reasonably reflect the fair value of
those securities, our key assumptions about the risk-free interest rates, risk premiums, performance of
underlying collateral (if any), and other factors may not be realized in the event of an actual sale.

Securities are also reviewed to identify potential impairments. In determining if and when a decline in
market value below amortized cost is other-than-temporary, we evaluate the market conditions, offering
prices, trends of earnings, price multiples and other key measures for our investments in marketable equlty
securities ‘and debt instruments. For fixed maturity securities, our intent and ability to hold securities is also
considered. When such a decline in value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, we recognize an impairment
loss in the current period net income to the extent of the decline. For addmonal information regardmg our
cvaluatlon of OTH see’ the sectnon titled “Investments — Impamnent i -

Investments in mortgagc loans real estate pohcy loans and other mvestmcnts are momtored for posstble
impairment. If it is determined that collection of all amounts due under’, the contractual terms isdoubtful or
carrying values exceed the fair value of underlymg collateral, such investments are con51dered 1mpa1red and
the asset carrying value is adjusted or a valuation allowance is established.

Aeccounting for Devivatives

We hold derivative financial instruments to hedge growth in policyowner liabilities for certain protection
and accumulation products:and to; hedge-market- risk for fixed income investments. These denvanvcs qualify-.r

for hedge accounting or are considered economic hedges as discussed in detail in note 4 to our consolidated
financial statements.

Hedge accounting results when we designate and document the hedging relationships involving derivative
instruments. Economic hedging instruments are those instruments whose change in fair value acts as a natural
hedge against the change in fair value of hedged assets or liabilities with both changes wholly or partially being
offset in earnings.

To hedge equity market risk, we primarily use S&P 500 Index call options to hedge the growth in interest
credited to the customer as provided by our equity-indexed products. We may also use interest rate swaps or
options to manage our fixed products’ risk profile. Generally, credit default swaps are coupled with a bond to
synthetically create an instrument cheaper than an equivalent investment traded in the cash market.

We have not changed our methods of calculating the fair values of derivatives or the underlying
assumptions. The fair values of these derivatives will change over time as cash receipts and payments are made
and as market conditions change.

Qur derivative instruments are not subject to a multiple or use of leverage on the underlying price index.
We do not believe we are exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in our interest rate or equity
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hedges as the counterparties are established, well-capitalized financial institutions. Information about the fair
values, notional amounts, and contractual terms of these instruments can be found in note 4 to our
consolidated financial statements and the section titled “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk.”

ERER

E

Amortization of DAC and VOBA

We generally amortize DAC based on a percentage of our expected gross margins (EGMs) over the life
of the policies. Our estimated EGMs are computed based on assumptions related to the underlying policies
written, including the lives of the underlying policies, growth rate of the assets supporting the liabilities, and
level of expenses necessary to maintain the policies over their entire life. We amortize DAC by estimating the
present value of the EGMs over the lives of the insurance policies and then calculate a percentage of the
policy acquisition cost deferred as compared to the present value of the EGMSs. That percentage is used to
amortize the DAC such that the amount amortized over the life of the policies results in a constant percentage
of amortization when related to the actual and future gross margins.
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Because the EGMs are only an estimate of the profits we expect to recognize from these policies, the
EGMs are adjusted annually to take into consideration the actual gross profits to date and any changes in the
remaining expected future gross margins. When EGMs are adjusted, we also adjust the amortization of the
deferred policy acquisition costs amount to maintain a constant percentage over the entire life of the policies.

We amortize the VOBA based on the incidence of the EGMs from insurance contracts using the interest
rate credited to the underlying policies. The EGMs are based on actuarially determined projections of future
premium receipts, mortality, surrenders, operating expenses, changes in insurance liabilities, investment yields
on the assets retained to support the policy liabilities and other factors. These projections take into account all
factors known or expected by management. The actual gross margins may vary from expected levels due'to
differences in renewal premium, investment spread, investment gains or [osses, mortality and morbidity costs

and other factors.. » : . ; . - : - .

. R - s . r{{ .. l‘
Investment Portfolio .- 2 . I :
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We maintain a diversified portfolio of investments which is supervised by an experienced in-house staff of
investment professionals. Sophisticated asset/liability management techniques are employed in order to
achieve competitive yields, while maintaining risk at acceptable levels. The asset portfolio is segmented by
liability type, with tailored investment strategies for specific product lines. Investment policies and significant
1nd1v1dual investments are subject to approval by the Board of D)rectors and are overseen by the Investment
and Risk" Management Committee of.our Board' of Directors. Management regularly monitors 1nd1v1dual
assets and asset groups, in addition to monitoring the overall asset mix. In addition, the Investment and Risk
Management Committee review investment guidelines and monitor internal controls.

- Investment Strategy

QOur investment philosophy is to employ an integrated asset/liability management approach with separate
investment portfolios for specific product lines, such as traditional life, universal life, equity-indexed life,
traditional annuities, equity-indexed annuities, variable annuities and funding agreements to generate
attractive risk-adjusted returns on capital. Essential to this philosophy is coordinating investments in the
investment portfolio with product strategies, focusing on risk-adjusted returns and identifying and evaluating
associated business risks.

_Investment strategies have been established based on the specific characteristics of each product line.
The portfolio investment strategies establish asset duration, quality and other guidelines. Analytical systems
are utilized to establish an optimal asset mix for each line of business. We seek to manage the asset/liability
mismatch and the associated interest rate risk through active management of the investment portfolio.
Financial, actuarial, investment, product development and product marketing professionals work together
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. throughout the product development, introduction and management phases to jointly develop and implement
1 product features, initial and renewal crediting strategies, and investment strategies based on extensive
= modeling of a variety of factors under a number of interest rate scenarios. -

Invested Assets

Qur diversified portfolio of investments includes public and private fixed maturity securities and
e commercial mortgage loans. Cur objective is to maintain a high-quality, diversified fixed maturity securities
portfolio that produces a yield and total return that supports the various product line liabilities and our
earnings goals.

The following table summarizes invested assets by asset category as of December 31, 2003 and 2002: B

Invested Assets
December 31,

- 2003 2002
e (S in millions)
otk Carrying % of Carrying % o
t Value Total Value Total
: Fixed maturity securities —
PUBC .« s $14,0942  78.6% $13,573.6  80.2%
PHVAE . .ottt et 1,9403  108% _ 1,599.2  9.4% —
: SUBIOMALL ..o\ttt 16,034.5  89.4% 151728  89.6% —
= EQUItY SECURLIES -+« « + oo e oo e e et 765 . 0.4% 633  04% —
_ ‘Mortgage 10anS . ... ...\ it S 968.6 54% 8830  5.2% -
- Policy 10808 . .+ ...\t SN U 4946  27% 4968  2.9% n
B Realestate ............cocvvvnnns P e — — 0.5 — - n
— "Other investments .......... e B . e 3395 | 1.9% 2838 . 1.7% - B
m Short-term investments ...........; S e 2091 02% _ 323 02% '
= Total invested assets ...............cooooi.in.. U .. $17,9428 . 1000% $16,932.5  100.0%

s Fixed Maturity Securities

The fixed maturity securities portfolio consists primarily of investment grade corporate fixed maturity —

securities, high-quality mortgage-backed securities (or MBS) and United States government and agency

| _obligations. As of December 31, 2003, fixed, maturity securities were $16,034.5 million, or 82.4% of the . .
: S Carrying’ “alue of invested assets with public and private fixed maturity securities constltunng $14 094.2 fnil- —
lion, or 87.9%, and $1,940.3 million, or 12.1%, respectively, of total fixed maturity securities, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the composition of the fixed maturity securities by category as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Composition of Fixed Maturity Securities
December 31,

2003 2002
Carrying %o Carrying %
Value of Total Value of Total
(8 in millioms)
U.S. government/agencies ..............ovvnen... § 8i68 5% § 973.0 6.4%
State and political subdivisions .................... 67.1 0.4% 50.0 0.3%
Foreign government bonds ................ ... ... 128.5 0.8% 246.9 '1.6%
Corporate bonds. .. .........civiiiiii i 10,994.3 68.5% 9,931.6 65.5%
Redeemable preferred stocks ...................... 173.7 1.1% 120.1 0.8%
Indexed debt instruments ......... ... ... oL 396.1 2.5% — —_
Asset-backed bonds.............. ... ool 470.2 2.9% 7717.6 5.1%
CMBS . . e 973.0 6.1% 682.3 4.5%
MBS
U.S. government/agencies ................o..... 1,909.2 11.9% 2,118.9 14.0%
Non-government/agencies ..................o... 105.6 0.7% 2724 _18%
Subtotal-MBS ... 2,014.8 12.6% 2,391.3 _15.8%
Total ........... e e $16,034.5 100.0% $15,172.8 100.0%

R

()

40




The following table summarizes fixed maturity securities by remaining maturity as of December 31, 2003:

Remaining Maturity of Fixed Maturity Securities

Carrying % Unrealized %
Valve of Total Loss of Tota)
(8 in millions)
Available-for-Sale :
Due:
In one year orless (2004) .............coiinn.. $ 3754 2.7% $ 06 0.5% e
One to five years (2005-2009) ................... 3,637.0 26.1% 4.5 3.8%
Five to 10 years (2010-2014) .................... 4,824.3 34.6% 34.1 28.7% -
10 to 20 years (2015-2024) . ..............cov... 1,636.0 11.7% 60.1 50.7% -]
Over 20 years (2025 and after) .................. 1,616.8 11.6% 11.4 _9.6% —]
Subtotal . ...oiii e 12,089.5 86.7% 110.7 93.3% '
MBS . e 1,855.5 13.3% 8.0 _67%
Total. .. $13,945.0 100.0% $118.7 100.0%
Heid-for-Trading —
Due: -
Inoneyearorless (2004)....................... $ 463 2.2% pael
One to five years (2005-2009) .+, ........c.iuin. : 453.4 21.7% ; 5 -
Five to 10 years (2010-2014) .................... " 3549 17.0% : Lo
10 to 20 years (2015-2024) . ...\ oo, 625.2 29.9% A
Over 20 years (2025 and after) .................. . 450.5 21.6% . -
Subtotal .. ... SO S PP 19303 £ 924% S : ]
: MBS......... P e 1592 © _ 7.6% | =
— Total. ..o T $2,089.5  100.0% ' -
The portfolio of investment grade fixed maturity securities is diversified by number and type of issuer. As -
— of December 31, 2003, investment grade fixed maturity securities included the securities of 878 issuers, with [
1o 2,648 different issues of securities. No non-government/agency issuer represents more than 1% of investment
et grade fixed maturity securities. e e ) .
e " Below-investment grade fixed inaturity securities as of December 31, 2003, included the securities of 280
issuers representing 6.9% of total invested assets, with the largest being a $30.5 million investment. -
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= As of December 31, 2003, 82.4% of total invested assets were investment grade fixed maturity securities.
- The following table sets forth the credit quality, by NAIC designation and Standard & Poor's rating
: equivalents, of fixed maturity securities as of December 31, 2003:

iadoaid ol Tk

Fixed Maturity Securities By NAIC Designation

.__‘—'i Public Private Total
= NAIC Carrying % of Carrying % of Carrying % of
E Designation  Standard & Poor’s Equivzlent Designation Value Total Value Total Value Total

= ($ in millions)

o A-orhigher ................ $ 8,947.2 63.5% $ 975.6 50.3% § 9,922.8 61.9%
e 2 BBB-to BBB+.............. 4,0154  28.5% 852.3 43.9% § 4,867.7 30.3%
:: Total investment grade ....... 12,962.6 920% 1,827.9 94.2% $14,790.5 92.2%
= 3 BBtoBBt ................. 7372 52% 640  33% § 8012  50%
p— 4 BtoB+ ...t 361.5 2.6% 21.7 1.1% $ 3832 2.4%
i S5&6 CCCorlower............... 329 0.2% 26.7 14% § 596 0.4%
3 Total below investment grade .... 11316  80% 1124  58% § 1,2440  7.8%
I‘{i Total.............. $14,094.2 100.0% $1,9403 100.0% $16,034.5 100.0%
:—_;E The following table summarizes fixed maturity securities by Standard & Poor’s or equivalent rating,
_ZQ including unrealized losses, at December 31, 2003: -
= Fixed Maturity Securities by Standard & Poor’s er Eanivaﬂem Rating »
E ' ‘Mibtket "% of  Unrealized % of .
P Rating . N : Vilue - Total Loss Total - . !
— g (S in miltions) o
p— AAA . ... P $ 44545 278% $ 149 12.6% -
' A A e e e T 9477 59% 420 - 354% B
— A 45313 282% 299  25.2% -
o BBB e 4,225.8 26.3% 16.2 13.6% :
A 6845  43% 35 29%  §
3 , 13457 2.2% eidS 1.3% "~ o &
— SUBLOtAl ...\t 15189.5  94.7% 1080  91.0%

= NOUTALEd . -+ttt e 8450 _53% 107 90% ]

= TOtal .. e e $16,034.5 100.0% $1187  100.0%

;_;_' MBS investments are mortgage-related securities including collateralized mortgage obligations (or

P CMOs) and pass-through mortgage securities. Asset-backed securities are both residential and non-

3 residential including exposure to home equity loans, home improvement loans, manufactured housing loans as

= well as securities backed by loans on automobiles, credit cards, and other collateral or collateral bond
,_;% obligations. As of December 31, 2003, asset-backed residential mortgages totaled $320.6 million or 1.8% of i
= total invested assets. As of December 31, 2003, residential mortgage pass-through and CMOs totaled _
pp— $2,014.8 million or 11.2% of total invested assets. As of December 31, 2003, $1,909.2 million or 94.8% of MBS --
— were from government sponsored enterprises. Other MBS were $105.6 million or 5.2% of MBS as of -

= December 31, 2003. Management believes that the quality of assets in the MBS portfolioc is generally high,
= with 99.9% of such assets representing agency backed or “AAA” rated securities. Collateralized mortgage
— backed securities (or CMBS) totaled $973.0 million or 6.1% of total invested assets as of December 31, 2003.
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Derivatives

Interest rate swaps and options are primarnly used to reduce exposure to changes in interest rates and to
manage duration mismatches. Call options are primarily used to hedge equity-indexed products. Credit default
swaps are coupled with a bond to synthetically create an investment cheaper than the equivalent instrument
traded in the cash market. Although we are subject to the risk that counterparties will fail to perform, credit
standings of counterparties are monitored regularly. We only enter into transactions with highly rated :
counterparties. We are also subject to the risk associated with changes in the value of contracts. However, Rt
o such adverse changes in value generally are offset by changes in the value of the items being hedged. The
notional principal amounts of the swaps and options, which represent the extent of our involvement in such
contracts but not the risk of loss, at December 31, 2003, amounted to $2,603.3 million. The interest rate swaps
had a carrying value of a net receivable position of $3.2 million at December 31, 2003. The credit default
swaps had a carrying value of a net receivable position of $0.6 million at December 31, 2003. The carrying
value of options amounted to $134.9 million at December 31, 2003. For each of these derivatives, the carrying
value is equal to fair value as of December 31, 2003. The derivatives are reflected as other investments on the
consolidated financial statements. The net amount payable or receivable from interest rate and credit default
swaps are accrued as an adjustment to interest income. Effective October 1, 2003, we adopted DIG Issue B36 ;
and effective January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS 133. See note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for —
further discussion of the impact of adopting both accounting pronouncements. ‘

Movtgage Loans

As of December 31, 2003, mortgage loans in the investment portfolio were $968.6 million, or 5.4% of the
aggregate carrying value ofiinvested assets. As of December 31, 2003, commercial mortgage loans and
residential mortgage loans comprised 87.4% and 12.6%, respectively, of total mortgage loans. Commercial
mortgage loans consist primarily of fixed-rate mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2003, we held 686 .
individual commercial mortgage loans with an average balance of $1.2 million. K oy o

As of December 31,'_25b3, four loans in the loan portfolio with a cﬁn'ying value of $5.5 million were ‘7.’"1‘
classified as delinquent and no loans were in foreclosure. As of the same date, only two loans with a carrying
value aggregating $1.2 million were classified as restructured. During 2003, we had one foreclosure.

Other

We participate in a securities lending program whereby certain fixed maturity securities from the o
investment portfolio are loaned to other institutions for a short period of time. We receive a fee in exchange for -
the loan of securities. and require initial collateral equal to 102 percent,of the market value of the loaned.

" securities to be separately maintained. Securities-with a market: value of $154 6 million were on loan under the -
program and the Company has cash collateral under its control of $158.8 million at December 31, 2003. There
were no securities on loan at December 31, 2002. We also may enter into securities borrowing arrangements
from time to time. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were no securities borrowed.

We held $494.6 million of policy loans on individual insurance products as of December 31, 2003. Policy
loans are permitted to the extent of a policy’s contractual limits and are fully collateralized by policy cash
values. As of December 31, 2003, we held equity securities of $76.5 million of which the largest holding was
Federal Home Loan Bank common stock totaling $58.1 million.

We held $368.6 million of other invested assets (including short-term investments and real estate) on -
December 31, 2003. Other invested assets consist primarily of our Ameritas Joint Venture investment, various [
other joint ventures and limited partnership investments and derivatives. -

UL

F

Struciured Securities Arvrangements

L

We have utilized a limited number of structured finance arrangements. The structures primarily consisted
e of interests in collateralized bond obligations and special-purpose entities with principal protected limited
partnership interests. Neither AmerUs nor any management members had operating control or management

-
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oversight of the entities and accordingly the entities were not consolidated but rather accounted for as
available for sale debt securities or equity method investments. In addition, we did not have any continued
obligation or commitment to provide additional financing to the entities. At December 31, 2002, approxi-
mately $560 million of such structured finance investments were included in invested assets. These structured
securities were liquidated during 2003.

We hold investments in indexed debt instruments (IDIs) in which the principal is initially partially
defeased by an obligation of a third party financial institution (institution) collateralized by U.S. Treasuries
which will accrete to 50% of the original principal amount of the IDIs at maturity. The balance of the principal
amount due at maturity is subject to a dynamic defeasance mechanism, which should provide a return of the
initial investment. The instruments issued by the institutions are linked to the performance of a hedge fund or
fund of funds. The annual income on these investments will be equal to the quarterly distribution of the hedge
fund or fund of funds plus the change in the present value of anticipated distributions to be received at
maturity and will be included in net investment income. Over the life of the IDIs, the income will be a
function of the cumulative performance of the linked hedge fund or fund of funds and the return on any
defeased portion of the investment. The quarterly distribution paid, if any, reduces the amount of future
participation in the performance of the linked hedge fund or fund of funds. At maturity, the Company will
take delivery of the referenced hedge fund interests and cash or U.S. Treasuries equal to the portion of the
— instruments that have been defeased, the total of which should equal or exceed the instruments’ principal i
amount. The investment purpose of these instruments is to enable the Company 1o obtain the return as if they X
= had invested in hedge funds or fund of funds with dynamic principal protection. The instruments as of N
December 31, 2003 carried an A rating or better by Fitch. The carrying value of IDIs was $396.1 million at
. December 31, 2003.

Impairments ’ :

Our evaluation of other-than-temporary impairment (OT‘H) for fixed income securities follows a three-
step process of 1) screen and identify; 2) assess'and document 3) recommend and approve. In 1dent1fymg '
potential QTTI’s, we screen for all securities that haveia fair value less than 80% of amortized cost. In - * @&
addition, we monitor securities for general credit issues that have been identified and included on a watch st '
which may result in the potential impairment list including other securities that have a fair value at-or greater
than 80% of amortized cost. For asset backed securities, the guidance of EITF 99-20 is followed which
requires an impairment loss if the fair value of the security is less than amortized costs and there is an adverse
change in estimated cash flows from the cash flows previously projected.

U

The list of securities identified is subject to a formal assessment to determine if an impairment is other
than temporary. Management makes certain assumptxons or judgments in its asscssmcnt of potcntxally
impaired securities” including but not limited to: - Ce et R

o Industry characteristics and trends, company to mdustry profile, quality of management -

 Financial conditions and trends including strength of balance sheet and financial liquidity -

o Significant events affecting the company and/or industry

e Viability of the business model incorporating an evaluation of default probability and associated

’ Ej- recoverable value

g o Length of time the fair value was below 80% of amortized cost

- ,T'd. .

. :E o Ability and intent to retain the investment to maturity or for a sufficient period of time for it to recover

.

- = If the determination is that the security is OTTI, it is written down to fair value. This is reviewed and .
— approved by senior management. The difference between amortized cost and fair value is charged to net _
PR . - .
B income. -
o When actively traded market prices are not available, fair values are determined using present value or

B other standard valuation techniques such as earnings multiples and asset valuations. The fair value

= -
— 44 -
o——

=] -
i

n

—

e




determinations are made at a specific point in time based on then available market information and judgments
about the financial instruments. Factors considered in determining fair value include: coupon rate, term,
collateral (if any), industry sector outlook, credit rating, expectations regarding going concern status, timing
and amounts of expected future cash flows among other factors.

There are risks and uncertainties inherent in the process of monitoring impairments and determining if an
impairment is OTTIL. Risks may include 1) the credit characteristics change affecting the creditor’s ability to
meet all of its contractual obligations; 2} the economic outlook may be worse than expected or impact the
credit more than anticipated; 3) accuracy of information provided by issuers could affect valuations; and
4) new information may change our intent to hold the security to maturity. Any of these items could result in
a charge to net income in the future.
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The following table lists material investment impairments in 2003 and 2002. The writedowns occurred
due to creditor and/or issue specific circumstances.

,,‘
diid i b

Material Impairments
- Impairment Loss Impzet on Other
IR General Description (% in millions) Circumstances Material Investments
- 2003
H _:"3 Major United States airline ........ $11.6 High probability of restructuring  Negative industry trends with
= and threat of bankruptcy analysis done on an issue-by-issue
= basis concluding no impact on
= other material investments other
= than those written down
— Merchant Energy Generator ....... 36 High probability of restructuring  Negative industry trends with
] and threat of bankruptcy ana}ysns donc‘on an }ssuc-by-lssue
—=z basis concluding no impact on
= other material investments other
= than those written down
-
= 2002
= Large telecommunication company. . 17.7 Materially inaccurate financial Credit specific issues with no
Z‘f, : statements and imminent default impact on other material
= or bankruptey investments
L d Securitized medical receivables. .. .. 14.5 Materially inaccurate financial Alleged credit specific fraud and
3‘ statements and default event default issues with no impact on -
3 . other material investments
pg Merchant energy generator and 11.3 Significant off-balance sheet Negative industry trends with -
= distributor. ... ......... ool liabilities and high probability of analysis done on an issue-by-issue
= a restructuring basis concluding no impact on -
== N e other material investments other
g : . o i oL than those written down -
R Collateralized debt obligation ...... 8.0 Adverse change in cash flows on  Specific collateral and structure
-~ ’ ‘ underlying portfolios = ° "™ issues with no impact on other
K ek material investments
Property and casualty insurance 77 Rating downgrade and Credit specific issues with no -
company .......... R announced suspension of interest impact on other material N
payments investments -
Merchant energy generator ........ 7.4 Default on interest payment Negative industry trends with -

Securitized manufactured housing 72 Suspension of guarantee Credit specific issues with no
loans ......... .. .o payments related to impact on other material -
manufactured housing investments

Major United States airline ........ 5.7 Bankruptcy and lease rejection Negative industry trends with —
analysis done on an issue-by-issue
basis concluding no impact on —
other material investments other -
than those written down

Northeast electric energy generator 34 Default on interest payment Negative industry trends with -

analysis done on an issue-by-issue
‘basis concluding no impact on

.rother .material investments other

than those written down

analysis done on an issue-by-issue
basis concluding no impact on
other material investments other
than those written down




The following tables present unrealized losses for fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2003 and
2002 by investment category and industry sector:

Composition of Fixed Maturity Securities by Type
December 31, 2003

Carfrying Unrealized
Value % Total Losses % Total
($ in millions)
U.S. government/agencies . .. ......covvreiiriannenenn, 816.8 5.1% 1.7 1.4%
State and political subdivisions .............. ... _ 67.1 0.4% 1.4 1.2%
Foreign governments. ... eiin et 128.5 0.8% 0.3 0.2%
L0 g7 -1 (- 10,994.3 68.5% 57.8 48.7%
Redeemable preferred stocks ............... e 173.7 1.1% 37.1 31.3%
Indexed debt instruments.......... ... ... i, 396.1 2.5% 8.3 - 7.0%
Asset-backed bonds ........ ... . 470.2 2.9% 1.5 1.2%
CMBS . e 873.0 6.1% 2.7 2.3%
MBS:
U.S. government/agencies . .................. e 1,909.2 11.9% 7.9 6.7%
NOD=GOVEITIMENE . . .\ ve ettt aeeeens 105.6 0.7% 0.0 0.0%
CSubtotal-MBS . e 2,014.8 12.6% 7.9 * 6.7%
Total .............. P 16,0345 100.0% 118.7 100.0%
e Décember 31, 2002
Carryigg . Unrealized -
» : v Value' % Total Losses % Total
2 i . s g ) : ey (8 in millions)
rs U.S. government/agencies . . . . . P 9730 64% 04 10.2%
w State and political subdivisions . ........ ... il 50.0 0.3% — —
— FOreign oVernments . ... .. oooveenrene e ieieeenannnn. 246.9 1.6% 3.1 1.4%
— S 07e) o) ¢ 1 1~ 9,931.6 65.5% 1335 60.2%
= " Redeemable preferred stocks .......................o... 120.1 0.8% 402 18.1%
— _ Indexed debt-instruments . ;% .. semms T e = — — e —
B Asset-backed bonds ........... ... .. i, 777.6 51% 440 19.8%
CM B e e 682.3 4.5% 0.3 0.2%
H— MBS:
== U.S. government/agencies . ......covinin i, 2,118.9 14.0% 0.1 —_
—] Non-govemment ..................................... 272.4 1.8% 0.2 0.1%
== Subtotal-MBS ....... PR 2,391.3 15.8% 0.3 0.1%
Total ........ e e e 15,172.8 100.0% 2219 100.0%
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Compeosition of Fixed Maturity Securities by Industry

December 31, 2003

43

Market Unrezlized
Value % Total Loss % Total
(3 in miltions)
Basicindustry ....... . i e e 756.0 47% $ 5.6 4.7%
Capital goods . .......cviiii e e 865.0 5.4% 4.0 3.4%
CommuRICations ... .....voivitti 1,124.7 7.0% 8.6 1.2%
Consumer cyclical . .........coo it 981.5 6.1% 23 1.9%
Consumer non-cyclical .. ........ .. ... i, 1,701.8 10.6% 7.5 6.3%
BTy ot e 965.5 6.0% 23 1.9%
= TeChNOlOZY .« o vt ettt et 245.7 1.5% 0.6 0.5%
P E Transportation . .........ooi i 462.7 2.9% 5.9 5.0%
= Industrial other ... ... ORI 154.5 1.0% 04 0.3%
= UBKHES . .. oo e e e et 1,548.0 97% 120 10.1%
= Financial ISHIGHONS ... ..\ '\ttt ieaianens 24279 152% 520 43.9% )
= SUBOA] ... et 112333 701% 1012 852%
= Other ...\ e 48012 299% 115 14.8% i
- Total ..ot Lo 8160345 1000% $1187  _100.0% -
“‘3 - December 31, 2002 ‘ -
Market Unrealized [
R ‘ Value % Total Loss % Total
f ' S : ?i_" ) ($ in millioms) ) <
Basic industry ....50.... 5. e w8 B33 3.5% °§ 5.0 2.2%
Capital goods . ... .. .. L KR EURIRCRE 8 44% 15 0%
Communications . ................ PSR 878.4 58% 239 10.8%
Consumercyclical .........c.o vt 845.1 5.6% 7.8 3.5% )
Consumer non-cyclical ................. . i, 1,562.6 10.3% 16.2 7.3% !
BREIEY ettt e e 957.8 6.3% 5.7 2.6% .-
Technology.. ... .. P 2618 . 18% 04 0.2%. -
Transportation . ... ... ..ee e TR ST 31% 242 1 10.9% =
Industrial OthEr ... ....'\ e e it 92.8 0.6% 10 . 04% - -
B T T 1,235.2 81% 372 16.8% —
Financial insHtUtions. ..o .o vn et L 1,864.5 123% 456  205% ::
S 2 A 9,378.5 61.8%  168.5 75.9% -
o1 T S 5,794.3 382% 534 24.1%
TOtal .ottt $15,172.8  100.0% $221.9 100.0% —




The following table provides a summary of unrealized losses for fixed maturity securities which identifies
the length of time the securities have continually been in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2003
and 2002: ' )

Unrealized Loss as a Percentage of Market Value

December 31, 2003
($ in millions)

More than 12

Less than 7 months 7-12 months months Total |
Gross Gross Gross Gross

Fair uprealized  Fair  unrealized Fair  unrealized Fair unrealized

velue loss value loss value foss vajue foss
Total Temporarily Impaired

Securities:
Corporate bonds. . ............... $1,6183 $ 31.3 $2755 §$ 158 $1180 $ 106 $2011.8 § 577
U.S. government bonds........... 156.5 1.7 0.4 — — — 156.9 1.7
State and political subdivisions . ... 18.8 1.4 —_ — — - 18.8 1.4
Foreign government bonds ........ 51.2 0.3 - - U J— 525 0.3
Asset-backed bonds. . ...... T 74.1 0.5 4.6 - 185" 1.0 97.2 L5
CMBS... .. e 227.9 2.7 — — — — 227.9 2.7
Mortgage-backed bonds .......... 598.1 52 1358 27, 02 — 734.1 79
Indexed debt instruments ......... 240.9 37 1576 46 . — — 3985 83
Redeemable preferred stock ....... — — — — 104.6 37.1 104.6 37.1
Equity securities AFS ... ......... — — 0.8 02 __ 03 0.2 L 04 .
Short-term investments AFS ...... 37 — — — ,' - = 3.7 - -
Total ... iieiiennn e $2989.5 § 468 $5747 § 233 ‘§2429 -$ 489 $3,807:1 $1190
., More then 12
Less than 7 months 7-12 months ) months Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Fair unrealized  Fair  unrealized Fair  unrealized Fair unrealized
value toss value 1088 - value loss value loss

Less Than 20% Underwater: ) B - . o
Corporate bonds .. .. ... %, o, $1,6183 § 313 $2755 § 158 SI098 § 82 $2003.6 $ 553 e

U.S. government bonds ........... 156.5 1.7 0.4 — —_ — 156.9 1.7

State and political subdivisions .. .. 18.8 1.4 — — — — 18.8 1.4

: Foreign government bonds ........ 51.2 0.3 - - 1.3 —_ 52.5 0.3
= Asset-backed bonds .............. 74.1 05 46 — 185 1.0 97.2 1.5
' CMBS.... oot 227.9 2.7 — — — — 2279 27
Mortgage-backed bonds .......... 598.1 52 1358 27 0.2 — T34l 79

Indexed debt instruments ......... 240.9 3.7 157.6 4.6 — — 398.5 8.3

Equity securities AFS ............ — - 0.8 0.2 — — 0.8 0.2

Short-term investments AFS ...... 37 — — — — — 3.7 —

Total ... $2,989.5 § 46.8 35747 §$233 81298 $ 9.2 $3,6940 § 793




:__?.‘ .Unrealized Loss as a Percentage of Market Value

-; December 31, 2003

¢ (8 in miltions)

e Less than 7

Py months 7-12 months More than 12 months Total

g, Gross Gross Gross Gross

— Fair  unrealized  Fair  unrealized Fair uarealized  Fair  unrealized

e value {oss value loss value loss vafue loss

20%-50% Underwater:

— Corporate bonds. .................. $— §— $— $— $ 82 $24 $82 $24
U.S. government bonds. . ........... — — — — —_ - — —
State and political subdivisions ... ... — —_— —_ — — — — —_—
Foreign government bonds .......... — - — - — — —_ —
Asset-backed bonds................ — — — — — — —_— —
CMBS ... . —_ _— - — - — —_ —

: Mortgage-backed bonds ............ — — —_ — — —_ — —

Indexed Debt Instruments .......... — — — — - — — —

Redeemable preferred stock......... — — - — 104.6 37.1 1046 371

Equity securities AFS .............. — — — - 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2

= Short-term investments AFS ........ — —_ — — — — — —_ -

- Total ... $— $— $— $— $1131 $397 §13.1 8397 -

P : y .

._:_‘g There are no securities that were more than 50% underwater at December 31, 2003. .

[N}
il

Unrealized Loss as a Percentage of-Market Vailue

g ‘ December. 31, 2002 :
- ’ ($ in millions) ‘ : - 4
- V . i More than 12
Less than 7 months 7-12 months months Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Fair uorealized  Fair  unrealized  Fair  unrealized Fair unrealized
value loss value loss value loss value loss
Total Temporarily Impaired .
Securities: - o o eEmEL .. T S
Corporate bonds . . ... ........... $ 988.277%33.9  $351.9 $27.37 $288.3 $ 723 $1,6284 $1335
U.S. government bonds . ......... 170.1 0.4 - — — — 170.1 04
Foreign government bonds ....... 13.0 0.3 30.1 2.0 5.8 0.9 489 3.2
Asset-backed bonds . ............ 116.7 10.3 6.5 2.8 101.3 30.9 2245 44.0
CMBS ... 4.8 — —_ — 10.7 0.3 15.5 0.3
Mortgage-backed bonds ......... 83.8 0.3 — — 0.4 — 84.2 0.3
Redeemable preferred stock ... ... 4.8 — — — 95.1 402 999 40.2
Equity securities AFS ........... 1.3 0.2 — — 0.4 0.2 1.7 0.4
Shert-term investments AFS ... .. 9.9 — —_ — —_ —~ 99 —_
Total ...cooovviiii .t L..81,392.6  $454  $388.5 8321  $502.0 $144.8 $2,283.1 §222.3
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Less than Mare than

7 months 7-12 months 12 moanths ‘ Total
Gross - Gross Graoss Gross

Fair unrealized  Fair  aprealized  Fair  unrealized Fair unrealized

value loss value loss value loss value loss
Less Than 20% Underwater:
Corporate bonds................ $ 962.1 $21.9 83261 $149 $211.0 $22.3 §1,499.2 §$59.1
U.S. government bonds . ......... 170.1 0.4 — — — — 170.¢ 0.4
Foreign government bonds . .... .. 130 03 275 1.3 53 05 458 21
Asset-backed bonds . ............ 107.5 3.6 34 — 40.7 4.5 151.6 8.1
CMBS... ... 48 —_ — — 10.7 0.3 15.5 0.3
Mortgage-backed bonds ......... 83.8 03 — — 0.4 — 84.2 0.3
Redeemable preferred stock ... ... 4.8 — —_ — — — 438 —
Equity securities AFS ........... 1.0 —_ — — 0.1 — 1.1 —_
Short-term investments AFS ..... 9.9 — — — — — 9.9 —
Total ... $1,357.0 $26.5 $357.0 $16.2 $268.2 $27.6 $19822 $703 M

Unrealized Loss at 2 % of Market Value

December 31, 2002
($ in millions)

Less than 7 months  7-12 months More than 12 months Total

Grass Gross Gross G}oss
Fafr  unrealfzed  Fair  unrealized Fair varealized Fair urrealized
‘ value foss value “loss & value loss value loss
20%-50% Underwater: . 4 :

‘Corporate bonds . . . ... ST $260 $117 °$247 $11.0 I$ 639  $30.8 $I146 §:535

Foreign government bonds......... - — 2.6 0.7 0.5 04- : 31 =1.1
Asset-backed bonds .............. 9.2 6.7 3.1 28 % 543 17.3 66.6 26.8
Redeemable preferred stock ....... - — —_ — 95.1 40.2 95.1 40.2
Equity securities AFS ............ 0.3 0.2 — — 0.2 0.1 0.5 0.3
Total, it $355 8186 $304 $145 $2140 $88.8  $279.9 1219
—_— et Less than More thah e
7 months 7-12 months 12 months Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Fair unrealized [Fair uwarealized [Fair  unrezlized  Fair  unreelized
» En;u_g loss value loss value loss vajue fcss
More Than 50% Underwater:
Corporate bonds .. ...........c..oons $0.1 $0.3 $1.1 S14  $134 5192 35146  $209
Asset-backed bonds . ................. — —_ — —_ 6.3 9.1 6.3 9.1
Equity securitiess AFS ................ - = = = 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Total ... i_l_ $_0§_ si.1 §l_4 $19.8 $28.4 $21.0 $30.1
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The following table identifies the type, carrying value and unrealized loss of individual material securities
with unrealized losses at December 31, 2003 and 2002, exceeding $3 million:

Material Unrealized Losses - - - - - - - I

Year Ended

December 31, 2003
Market Unrealized
General Description Value Loss
(8 in millions)
Government Sponsored €MLY ... ..ovvvr ittt e ~ $313.0 $3.5
Government sponsored entity ... ... ... e 355.0 3.5
Year Ended
December 33, 2002
Market Unrealized
Genera) Description . Value Loss
(3 in millions)
Collateralized debt obligation .......... ... .. i i $ 63 $9.1
Securitized manufactured housing loans ............ . .. i i, 83 7.5
Mazjor United States airline ........ ..ot e 7.1 72 3
Merchant energy BEnerator ........ovvvvuiu..n PR Ve e 35 64 ‘
Pharmaceutical company .......... it e 4.5 4.5
Large telecommunications COMPANY . . ... .vvvvnrvetetiraeneirearrnne., 7.7 43 i
Major United States airline . ... ....ouutritr ittt 8.9 4.0 X
Independent power producer ........ EERTTS TSN TR R R TR ER R 2.9 38
Foreign utility ...... e F e 11.3 36
Telecommunications equipment provider ... ... .0, ... 0. ...... . 12.3 F36 0 <
Foreign oil receivables................. PR P 212 32
Major United States airline . ..................... e e 19.1 31 .

In addition to the above listing, at December 31, 2003 and 2002, securities with a market value of
$500.7 million and $149.4 million and unrealized loss position of $45.4 million and $57.4 million, respectively,
were principal protected. These securities included undertying holdings that provided for a return of principal
through maturity of zero coupon bonds from a highly rated issuer or a principal guarantee from.a highly rated
company. These securities along with the securities in the ‘above listing of unrealized losses did not meet the . -
criteria as described in our other-than-temporary process for impairment determination. As a result, there was
no realized loss for these securities. Unrealized gains or losses may not represent future gains or losses that will
be realized. These unrealized gains or losses are subject to fluctuation, reflective of such things as volatile
financial markets, interest rate movements, credit spread changes and sale decisions.




The following table presents, for securities sold during 2003 and 2002, the amount of material losses
recorded and the fair value at the sales date:

Material Realized Losses
Year Ended December 31, 2003

Praceeds/ Realized Time in Time in
Market Loss Months Below Months <80%
General Description Value on Sale Book of Book
US TreaSUIY . . o vt e et ieeee e iieeneanans $1,0826 $ 99 6 months orless 6 months or less
Securitized manufactured housing loans. ............. 31.8 6.3 Qver 12 months 7 to 12 months
Collateralized debt obligation. ...................... 136.3 3.7  Over 12 months 6 months or less
Government sponsored entity. ......oovvvvinnin. 860.7 5.5 6 months or less 6 months or less
Foreign oil revenue financing entity ................. 494 44 Ttol12months = 6 months or less
Major United States airline ........................ 49.4 4.2  Over 12 months 6 months or less
Collateralized debt obligation....................... 317 4.1 6 months or less 6 months or less
Aircraft securitization . .. ...........uiii i 25.7 40 Over 12 months 7 to 12 months
Electric generator ...............o i 20.3 40 7 to 12 months 6 months or less
Natural gas supplier ..o, 42.3 39 7 to 12 months 6 months or less
Healthcare service provider .. .. ... s 20.3 38 710 12 months 6 months or less
Major United States airline ................coo0ens, 215 37 Over 12 months 6 months or less
Major United States airline . ..........0.coviinven 17.0 3.4  Qver 12 months 7 to 12 months

Government sponsored entity....................... © 4933 3.3 6 months orless 6 months or less

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Procesds/ Reslized Time in Time in

" Market Loss : Months Below © Months <80%
General Description . . ©_Value.  on Sale % Book #i __of Book
) ) . : e ;"(S in millions)
Large telecommunications COMPANY - .o v et eieennnnns 8 26 $178 §fm9mhs orless 6 months or less
Securities manufactured housing loans . .............. 25 9.6  Over 12 months 6.months or less
Multinational energy transmissions distributor......... 4.6 7.4 Qver 12 months 7 to 12 months
Media conglomerate ...t 24.4 6.6 7 to 12 months 6 months or less
US Treasury. oot it c et 619.3 6.3 6 months or less 6 months or less
Independent power producer ... .... J <40 6.0  Over 12 months 7 to 12 months

sv;li‘ar,gq ;g{lsggmmu_nicatigns company ......... TR . 28.0 5.4 mgj__er 12 month§ . v:j}lgnij%gmomhs‘c;_w.e o

Canadian telecommunications company .............. 18.1 5.2 7 to 12 months 6 months or less
Telecommunications company ...................... 0.9 4.1  Over 12 months 7 to 12 months
Energy pipeline company .........oooiiiiiii 8.4 39 7 to 12 months 6 months or less
Energy pipeline company .........ooiiiieiiieen. .. 12.4 3.7 6 months or less 6 months or less
Merchant encrgy generator/distributor . .............. 6.4 3.5 7 to 12 month 6 months or less
Energy pipeline company .........oooiiiiiiiiiiin 6.9 3.1 6 months orless 6 months or less

We may decide to sell certain securities within the overall context of our portfolio management strategies.
This may include required exposure reductions due to internal credit limits, total rate of return strategies,
capital reserve objectives, asset allocation decisions and hedging activities.

Effects of Inflation and Interest Rate Changes

Management does not believe that inflation has had a material effect on the consolidated results of
operations.

Interest rate changes may have temporary efiects on the sale and profitability of the protection products
and accumulation products offered. For example, if interest rates rise, competing investments (such as
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annuities or life insurance products offered by competitors, certificates of deposit, mutual funds, and similar
instruments) may become more attractive to potential purchasers of our products until we increase the interest
rate credited to owners of our protection products and accumulation products. In contrast, as interest rates fall,
we attempt to adjust credited rates to compensate for the corresponding decline in reinvestment rates. We
monitor interest rates and sell annuities and life insurance policies that permit flexibility to make interest rate
changes as part of management of interest spreads. However, the profitability of our products is based upon
persistency, mortality and expenses, as well as interest rate spreads.

We manage our investment portfolio in part to reduce exposure to interest rate fluctuations. In general,
the market value of our fixed maturity portfolio increases or decreases in an inverse relationship with
fluctuations in interest rates, and net investment income increases or decreases in a direct relationship with
interest rate changes.

We have developed an asset/liability management approach with separate investment portfolios for major
product lines such as traditional life, universal life, equity-indexed life, traditional annuities, equity-indexed
annuities, variable annuities and funding agreements. Investment strategies have been established based on
the specific characteristics of each product line. The portfolio investment strategies establish asset duration,
quality and other guidelines. Analytical systems are utilized to establish an optimal asset mix for each line of
business. We seek to manage the asset/liability mismatch and the associated interest rate risk through active
management of the investment portfolio. Financial, actuarial, investment, product development and product
marketing professionals work together throughout the product development, introduction and management
phases to jointly develop and implement product features, initial and renewal crediting strategies, and
investment strategies based on extensive modeling of a variety of factors under a number of interest rate
scenarios.

In force reserves and the assets allocated to each segment are modeled on a regular basis to analyze
projected cash flows under a variety of economic scenarios. The result of this modeling is used to modify asset
allocation, investment portfolio duration and renewal crediting strategies. We invest-in derivatives to hedge - = -
against the effects of interest rate fiuctuations or to hedge growth in policyowner liabilities for.certain life and .. ;
annuity products and funding agreements For a further discussion and disclosure of the nature and extent of
the use of derivatives, see note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. i

)

Ferﬂeraﬂ Income Tax Matters

 Generally, AmerUs Group and our non-life subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return. The
life insurance subsidiaries file separate federal income tax returns, except for ILIC and Bankers Life which

h together file a consolidated tax return beginning in 2002. The separate return method is used to compute the

provision for allocating federal income: taxes»Beferred-income tax assets and’ liabilities are determined based
on differences among the financial repomng and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws.

Emerging Accounting Matters
SFAS 146

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS 146 provides for costs to exit an activity or dispose of long-
lived assets to be recorded when they are incurred and are to be measured at fair value. Under previous
accounting guidance, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of the commitment to an exit plan.
SFAS 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002 and its adoption had no
impact on net income or stockholders’ equity as of or for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

SFAS 148

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-
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Based Compensation,” and provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 requires more
prominent and more frequent disclosures in financial statements about the effects of stock-based compensa-
tion. As of December 31, 2003, we continue to account for employee stock-based compensation using the
intrinsic value method provided under SFAS 123 and SFAS 148. The disclosure requirements of both
standards have been provided in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

SFAS 149

In April 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 149, “Amendment of Statement
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 149 is intended to provide more consistent
reporting of contracts as either freestanding derivative instruments subject to SFAS 133 in its entirety, or as
hybrid instruments with debt host contracts and embedded derivative features. SFAS 149 incorporates
decisions previously made by the Derivatives Implementation Group, changes in financial instruments
resulting from other projects, and deliberations in connection with issues raised in the application of the
definition of a derivative and it does not amend the definition of a derivative. The provisions of SFAS 149 are
effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, except for the codification of previous
derivative decisions which were already effective and continue to be applied in accordance with their
respective effective dates. SFAS 149 had no impact on net income or stockholders’ equity as of or for the year
ended December 31, 2003.

SFAS 150

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 150, “Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS 150 establishes standards
for how an issuer classifies and measures freestanding financial instruments as liabilities or equity and was
. generally effective at the beginning of the first.interim period after June 30, 2003. A Financial Accounting

.. Standards. Board Stafl. Position has deferred the application. cf various provisions of SFAS 150 for specified ..
mandatorily redeemablc non- controlhng mterests in consohdated hmxted life entities. The AmerUs Capital 1 i

8.85% Capital Securities were issued through a who]ly owned subsidiary trust and are mandatorily redeemable

securities which are carried as notes payable on the consolidated balance sheet with interest expense recorded -

in the consolidated statement of income. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have any effect on the
consolidated financial statements. :

FIN 45

.. In, November 2002, the. Fmancml Accountmg Standards Board jssued FASEB. Interprctanon No..45,
“‘Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for*Guarantees? Includmg ‘Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others,” or FIN 45. FIN 45 clarifies disclosure and recognition and measurement

requirements related to certain guarantees. The disclosure requirements are effective for financial statements

issued after December 15, 2002 and the recognition and measurement requirements are effective on a

prospective basis for guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. Adoption of FIN 45 in 2003 did

not have an effect on net income or stockholders’ equity. See note 12 to the consolidated financial statements

for disclosures related to our guarantees.

FIN 46

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” an Interpretation of ARB 51, or FIN 46. FIN 46 provides
guidance to identify variable interest entities, or VIEs, and their consolidation by a primary beneficiary. A VIE
is defined as an entity in which either 1) the equity investors, if any, do not have a controlling financial
interest, or 2) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance that entity’s activities without receiving
additional subordinated financial support from other parties. An enterprise whose investment in a VIE absorbs
the majority of the VIE's expected losses or receives a majority of its expected residual returns is considered a
primary beneficiary, although not all VIEs will have a primary beneficiary. FIN 46 requires primary
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beneficiaries to consolidate VIEs in their financial statements and also requires additional disclosures for
enterprises which are not primary beneficiaries but which have a significant variable interest in a VIE. The
provisions of FIN 46 are effective immediately for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and is to be applied in
the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 for interests in VIEs acquired before February 1, 2003.
The additional disclosure is required for financial statements issued after January 31, 2003.

im.ln

i

W

At December 31, 2002, we held interests in structured securities arrangements which met the definition
of VIEs; however, most of the interests were sold prior to June 30, 2003. We would have been considered the
primary beneficiary for several of those structured securities, which if consolidated at December 31, 2002,
would have resulted in an increase in total assets of $167 million, an increase in total liabilities of $154 million
and an increase in total stockholders’ equity of $13 million. At December 31, 2003, an investment in-a limited
partnership, for which we provide indirect management functions, has been consolidated rather than carried as
an equity method investment, as provided by FIN 46, resulting in an increase in total assets and total liabilities
of $21.1 million and no change in stockholders’ equity or net income. In addition, AmerUs Capital I, a
previously consolidated subsidiary which has issued trust preferred securities, was deconsolidated in 2003 as
AmerUs Group Co. is not considered the primary beneficiary under FIN 46. Deconsolidation of AmerUs
Capital I resulted in an increase of other assets and notes payable of $2.7 million and no change in
stockholders’ equity or net income. See notes 3 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements for disclosures
and additional information related to our VIE interests.
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SFAS 133 Implementation — Embedded Devivavives
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The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Derivatives Implementation Group issued SFAS 133
Implementation Issue No. B36, “Embedded Derivatives: Bifurcation of a Debt Instrument that Incorporates
both Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk Exposures that are Unrelated or Only Partially Related to the
Creditworthiness of the Issuer of that Instrument,” or DIG Issue B36. DIG Issue 36 applies to modified
coinsurance and coinsurance with funds withheld arrangements where interest is determined by reference to a

" pool of fixed maturity assets or a total return debt index. Such arrange€ments in which funds are withheld by

” the reinsurer’s receivable provide for the future payment of principal plus a rate of return on either its general

- account assets or a specified block of those assets which is typically composed of fixed-rate debt securities.
DIG Issue B36 considers the reinsurer’s receivable from the ceding company to contain an embedded
derivative that must be bifurcated and accounted for separately under SFAS 133. We adopted DIG Issue B36
on QGctober 1, 2003, which included the reclassification of certain securities supporting the products being
reinsured from available for sale to trading. The net cumulative effect of the change in accounting for DIG
Issue B36 was a charge to net income-of.$1.3. million after.income taxes;and a reduction in accumulated cther
comprehéiisiVe income for “thé reclassification of securities from available-for-sale to held for“trading
amounting to $3.2 million after income taxes.

SOP 03-1

In July 2003, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certified
= Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 03-1, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises
E for Certain Non-Traditional Long-Duration Insurance Contracts and for Separate Accounts.” SCP 03-1
3 provides interpretive guidance on separate account presentation and valuation, accounting recognition for sales

-3 inducements, and classification and valuation of long-duration contract liabilities. The provisions of SOP 03-1
are effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2003. The adoption of SOP
03-1 will not have a material effect on net income or stockholders’ equity in 2004.

( Ji.L:; Ll

I[TEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The main objectives in managing our investment portfolios and our insurance subsidiaries are to
maximize investment income and total investment returns while minimizing credit risks in order to provide
maximum support to the insurance underwriting operations. Investment strategies are developed based on

;“u]”ui;“'i[i
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““the ceding insurer cause the réinsurer to recognize a réceivable from the ceding insurer as well as a liability - <
" representing reserves for the insurance coverage assumed under the remsurance arrangcments The terms of "+




many factors including asset liability management, regulatory requirements, fluctuations in interest rates and
consideration of other market risks. Investment decisions are centrally managed by investment professionals
based on guidelines established by management and approved by the boards of directors.

Market risk represents the potential for loss due to adverse changes in the fair value of financial
instruments. The market risks related to our financial instruments primarily relate to the investment portfolio,
which exposes us to risks related to interest rates, credit quality and prepayment variation. Analytical tools and
monitoring systems are in place to assess each of these elements of market risk.

Interest rate risk is the price sensitivity of a fixed income security to changes in interest rates.
Management views these potential changes in price within the overall context of asset and liability
management. Actuarial professionals estimate the payout pattern of our liabilities, primarily lapses, to o
determine duration, which is the present value of the fixed income investment portfolios after consideration of
the duration of these liabilities and other factors, which management believes mitigates the overall effect of 5
interest rate risk.

For variable and equity-indexed products, profitability on the portion of the policyowner’s account
balance invested in the fixed gencral account option, if any, is also affected by the spreads between interest
yields on investments and rates credited to the policies. For the variable products, the policyholder assumes
essentially all the investment earnings risk for the portion of the account balance invested in the separate
accounts. For the equity-indexed products, we purchase primarily call options that are designed to match the
return owed to contract holders who ¢lect to participate in one or more market indices. Profitability on the -
portion of the equity-indexed products tied to market indices is significantly impacted by the spread on interest .
earned on investments and the sum of (1) the cost of underlying call options purchased to match the returns
owed to contract holders and (2) the minimum interest guarantees owed to the contract holder, if any.
Profitability on the equity-indexed products is also impacted by changes in the fair value of the embedded
option which provides the contract holder the right to participate in market index returns after the next
anniversary date of the contract. This impacts profitability as we primarily purchase one-year call options to .
fund the returns owed to the contract holders at the.inception of each €ontract year. This.practice matches . -. :
with the contract holders’ rights to switch to different;indices on eachianniversary date.. The.value of the
forward starting options embedded in the equity- 1ndexed products can ﬁuctuate with changes in assumptions
as to future volatility of the market indices, risk free interest rates, market returns and the lives of the
contracts.
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The following table provides information about our fixed maturity investments and mortgage loans for
both our trading and other than trading portfolios at December 31, 2003. The table presents amortized cost
and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates. The amortized cost approximates the
cash flows of principal amounts in each of the periods. The cash flows are based on the earlier of the call date
or the maturity date or, for mortgage-backed securities, expected payment patterns. Actual cash flows could
differ from the expected amounts,

|
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Expected Cash Flows

Expected

Cash Fair
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Flows Value

($ in miblions)

1 ‘mum;i“ il

Fixed maturity securities available-

l

— for-sale.......ooiiiiiniiiinnn. $1,106  $1,128 S 940 $1,092 $1,213  $7,996 $13,475 $13,945
Ty Average interest rate .............. 71%  63%  15%  68%  52%  53%
=3 Fixed maturity securities held for
3 trading purposes ................ $ 226 $ 292 $ 238 $ 195 § 289 $ 850 $209 § 2090
‘_; Average interestrate .............. 2.6% 2.3% 2.4% 1.3% 2.8% 4.4%
= Mortgage loans . .................. $ 64 $ 67 $§ 65 $ 64 $ 73 5 636 S 969 $ 1,034
-3 Average interest rate .............. 73%  17% 11% 16%  1.6%  1.5%
Total v o $1,396  $1,487 $1243  $1,351 $1,575 $9,482 $16,534  $17,069

In accordance with our strategy of minimizing credit quality nsk we consistently invest in high quality
marketable securities. Fixed maturity securities are comprised of U S. Treasury, government agency,
mortgage-backed and corporate securities. Approximately 64% of fixed maturity securities are issued by the
U.S. Treasury or U.S. government agencies or are rated A or better by Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s, or the
NAIC.:Less than 8%-of the: bond portfoho is below investment grade. ]leed maturity securmes have an ¢

3 averaze maturity of approximately 7.6 ycars . . A

N A

1 ULL_U,L bt Lt _liui

|

Prepayment risk Fefers to the changes in prepayment pattems that can elther shorten or' lengthen the 't M-
expected timing of the principal repayments and thus the average hfe and the effective yield“of a security. ‘
Such risk exists primarily within the portfolio of mortgage-backed secufities. Management monitors such risk
regularly. We invest primarily in those classes of mortgage-backed securities that have average or lower
prepayment risk.

i ;; Our use of derivatives is generally limited to hedging purposes and has principally consisted of using

L3 swaps and options. Th;se instruments, viewed. separately, subject us to varying degrees of market and credit.. ooy e il
. 3 risk“However when uséd for hedging, the expectation is that these instruments would reducé overall market  ~~ ..
= risk. Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties may fail to perform under the terms of the

- contracts, See note 4 of the consolidated financial statements for additional information about our derivative

'% positions. :
__—E Equity price risk is the potential loss arising from changes in the value of equity securities. In general,
o equities have more year-to-year price variability than intermediate term grade bonds. However, returns over -
:_{j longer time frames have been consistently higher. —
) All of the above risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. A combination of in-house systems and -
p—— proprietary models and externally licensed software are used to analyze individual securities as well as each s

portfolio. These tools provide the portfolio managers with information to assist them in the evaluation of the
market risks of the portfolio.

— ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA —

-3 The consolidated financial statements begin on page F-1. Reference is made to the Index to Financial
Statements on page F-1 herein.

58

Lipdbie dei

:
il

Pty e = ——




¥
2]
-
£
A
e
b
g
e
i
T
&
o
e
e
pre
T
.
—
e
e
grme

Additional financial statement schedules begin on page S-1. Reference is made to the Index to Financial
Statement Schedules on page S-1 herein,

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE .

None.

ITEM 94A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Based upon their evaluation as of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Chief
Executive Cfficer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are effective for
recording, processing, summarizing and reporting the information we are required to disclose in our
reports filed under such act.

(b) There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our last fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

PART II

The Notice of 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement (the Proxy Statement),
which, when filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934..is incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-XK pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, provides
the information required under Part 1II (Items 11, Executive Compensation, 12. Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and, Management, 13. Certain Relationships.and Related Transactions and .14.
Pnnc1pal Accountmg Fees and Servxces) a0 L 1:3 . o o .

ITEM 18. DKRECT@IRS AND EXECU’HVE OFFICERS @IF THE REGISTRANT P ‘

(a) Information concermng dxrectors of AmerUs Group Co. appears in the Proxy Statement, under “Electlon .
of Directors.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Forinformation with respect to Executive Officers, see Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10 K, under
“Executive Officers of the Company.”

(€Y Information concerning Scct:on 16(a) bcneﬁc1a1 ownershxp reportm’g comphance app’ears in the Proxy

‘‘‘‘‘

Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Information concerning the identification of the audit committee and the audit committee financial
expert appears in the Proxy Statement, under “Board and Corporate Governance Matters.”” This portion
of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(e) Information describing any material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recom-
mend nominees to the board of directors appears in the Proxy Statement, under “Board and Corporate
Governance Matters.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPCORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) 1. Financial Statements. Reference is made to the Index on page F-1 of the report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to the Index on page S-1 of the report.

5%




3. Exhibits. Reference is made to the Index to Exhibits on page 61 of the report.
{b) The following reports on Form 8-K were filed during the quarter ended December 31, 2003:

Form 8-X dated October 2, 2003 furnishing the presentation on equity index annuities and equity index
life insurance made by webcast on September 30, 2003,

b Form 8-K dated November S, 2003 fumishing certain third quarter 2003 financial information.

Form 8-X dated November 7, 2003 announcing the appointments of personnel and action of the board of "~
- directors declaring the 2003 annual dividend.
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AMERUS GROUP CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES s
INDEX TO EXHIBITS
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Exhibit
No. Description

2.1 Combination and Investment Agreement, dated February 18, 2000, among American Mutual
Holding Company, AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., Indianapolis Life Insurance Company and The
Indianapolis Life Group of Companies, Inc,, filed as Exhibit 2.1 to AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc.’s
report on Form 8-K/A on March 6, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

2.2 Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2000, by and between  American Mutual Holding =

5 Company and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.5 on Form 10-K, dated March 8, 2000, -

w is hereby incorporated by reference. “

- 2.3 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 17, 1999, by and between American Mutual —

s Holding Company and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.6 on Form 10-K, dated
March 8, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

2.4 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February 18, 2000, by and between -~
American Mutual Holding Company and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.7 on v
Form 10-K, dated March 8, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

25 Letter Agreement, dated December 17, 1999, by and between American Mutual Holding Company =
and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.8 on Form 10-K, dated March 8, 2000, is hereby —
incorporated by reference.

2.6 Notification Agreement dated as of February 18, 2000 by and among American Mutual Holding ° E ) =
Company, AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and Bankers Trust Company, filed as Exhibit 2.9 on
Form 10-K, dated March 8, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

2.7 Amendment No. 2'to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated April'3, 2000, by and between American” *
Mutual Holdmg Company and AmerUs Life' Holdings, Inc., filéd as Exhibit 2.10 on Form fO-Q"-‘

e

dated May-15, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

2.8 Amendment No. | to the Purchase Agreement, dated April 3 2000, by and between Amencan oo :‘:
Mutual Holding Company and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.11 on Form 10-Q,- —
dated May 15, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.
2.9 Amendment to Combination and Investment Agreement dated February 18, 2000 among American
Mutual Holding Company, AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., Indianapolis Life Insurance Company and
The Indianapolis Life Group of Companies, inc., dated Septembcr 18, 2000 filed as Exhibit 2.2 to
" Form 8-K12G3 of ‘the Registrarnt dated September 21, 2000, is herebv incorporated by reference. i
2.10  Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 1, 2002, by and among AmerUs Annuity Group Co., and
' the Stockholders of Family First Advanced Estate Planning and Family First Insurance Services,
files as Exhibit 2.13 on Form 10-Q dated August 12, 2002, is hereby incorporated by reference.
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant filed as Exhibit 3.1 on Form 10-Q,
dated November 14, 2000 is hereby incorporated by reference.

32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, filed as Exhibit 4.2 on Form S-8, dated June 13, _
2003, is hereby incorporated by reference. - -

i

o 4.1 Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated as of February 3, 1997 among AmerUs Life
Holdings, Inc., Wilmington Trust Company, as property trustee, and the administrative trustees -
named therein (AmerUs Capital I business trust), filed as Exhibit 3.6 to the registration statement of
AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and AmerUs Capital I on Form S-1, Registration Number 333-13713, is -
hereby incorporated by reference.
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Exhibit

Ne.

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

48

4.9

410

4.11

4,12

4.13

4.14

.AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and Wilmington Trust Company as Trustee, relating to the Company’s .

Description

Indenture dated as of February 3, 1997 between AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and Wilmington Trust
Company relating to the Company’s 8.85% Junior Subordinated Debentures, Series A, filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the registration statement of AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and AmerUs Capital 1 on
Form S-1, Registration Number, 333-13713, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Guaranty Agreement dated as of February 3, 1997 between AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., as
guarantor, and Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee, relating to the 8.85% Capital Securities,
Series A, issued by AmerUs Capital I, filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the registration statement on Form S-1,
Registration Number, 333-13713, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Certificate of Trust of AmerUs Capital II1 filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the registration statement of
AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., AmerUs Capital II and AmerUs Capital III, on Form S-3 (No.
333-50249), is hereby incorporated by reference.

Senior Indenture, dated as of June 16, 1998, by and between AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and First
Union National Bank, as Indenture Trustee, relating to the AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc.’s
6.95% Senior Notes, filed as Exhibit 4.14 on Form 10 Q, dated August 13, 1998, is hereby
incorporated by reference.

Subordinated Indenture, dated as of July 27, 1998, by and between AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and
First Union National Bank, as Indenture Trustee, relating to AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc.’s 6.86%
Junior Subordinated Deferrabie Interest Debentures, filed as Exhibit 4.15 on Form 10-Q, dated
August 13, 1998, is hereby incorporated by reference.

First Supplement to Indenture dated February 3, 1997 among American Mutual Holding Company, .

8.85% Junior Subordinated Debentures, Series A, dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exhibit 4.14 on
Form 10-Q dated November 14, 2000, is hereby mcorporated by reference.

A551gnment and Assumptlon Agreement to Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated L
February 3,°1997 between American Mutual Holdmg Company and AmerUs Life’ Holdmgs, Inc, "
dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exh]brt 4 15 on IForm lO-Q dated November 14, 2000, is: hereby v
incorporated by reference. -

Assignment and Assumption to Guaranty Agreement, dated February 3, 1997 between American
Mutual Holding Company and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., dated September 20, 2000, filed as
Exhibit 4.16 on Form 10-Q, dated November 14, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

First Supplement to Subordmated Indenture dated July 27, 1998, relating to AmerUs Life

 Mutual Holdmg Company, AmerUs Tifé” Holdings, Inc. “FRd" First ' Union National Bank, as

Indenture Trustee, dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exhibit 4.17 on Form 10-Q, dated
November 14, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

First Supplement to Purchase Contracts between American Mutual Holding Company and Holders,
as spemﬁed dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exhrblt 4.21 on Form 10-Q, dated November 14,
2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

First Supplement to Senior Indenture dated June 16, 1998, relating to AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc.’s
6.95% Senior Notes, among American Mutual Holding Company, AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. and
First Union National Bank, as Trustee, dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exhibit 4.23 on
Form 10-Q, dated November 14, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Indenture dated as of March 6, 2002 between AmerUs Group Co. and BNY Midwest Trust
Company, as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 on form 8-K/A, dated February 28, 2002, is hereby
incorporated by reference. »

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 6, 2002 between AmerUs Group Co. and 2002, is
hereby incorporated by reference.
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Exhibit

No.

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18
4.19

4.20
10.1.

10.2

10.3 -
10.4

105+

10.6
10.7
10.8

10.9

Description

Form of Purchase Contract Agreement between AmerUs Group Co. and Wachovia Bank, National
Association (formerly known as First Union National Bank), as Purchase Contract Agent, filed as
Exhibit 4.1 on Form 8-A12B, dated May 22, 2003, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Form of Pledge Agreement among AmerUs Group Co., BNY Midwest Trust Company, as Collateral
Agent, Custodial Agent and Securities Intermediary and Wachovia Bank, National Association
(formerly known as First union National Bank), as Purchase Contract Agent, filed as Exhibit 4.2 on
Form 8-A12B dated May 22, 2003, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Form of Remarketing Agreement among AmerUs Group Co., Wachovia Bank, Nanonal Association
(formerly known as First Union National Bank), as Purchase Contract Agent, and the Remarketing
Agent named therein, filed as Exhibit 4.3 on Form 8- A12B dated May 22, 2003, is hereby
incorporated by reference.

Form of Income PRIDES (included in Exhibit 4.1 as Exhibit A thereto), filed as Exhibit 4.1 on
Form 8-A12B, dated May 22, 2003, is hereby incorporated by reference.
Officer’s Certificate attaching form of Senior Notes initially due 2008, filed as Exhibit 4.7 on
Form 8-A12B, dated May 22, 2003, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Form of Purchase Agreement between AmerUs Group Co. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated, filed as Exhibit 1.1 on For 8-K, dated as of May 28, 2003, is hereby incorporated
by reference.

Joint Venture Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1996, between American Mutual Insurance Company

- and Ameritas Life Insurance Corp., filed as Exhibit 10.2 on Form 10-K, dated March 25, 1998, is

hereby incorporated by reference.
. Management and Administration Service Agreement, dated as of Apnl 1, 1996, among American

* Mutual Life*Insurance Company, Ameritas Variable Life ‘Insurance Company and Arieritas Life

“Insurance Corp filed as Exhibit 10.3'to the reglstranon statenient of AmerUs Life Holdmgs Inc.on wﬁ
- Form.S§-1, Registration Number 333- 12239, is hergby incorporated by reference.. 7 ..

: AmerUs Lifé- Holdings, Inc. Executive Stock Purchase Plan, dated November [3, 1998, filed as -

”-f.

Exhibit 4.11 1o the registration statement of AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. on Form S-8, Regxstra’uon :

Number 333-72237, is hereby incorporated by reference. ,
All¥rAmerUs Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective January 1, 1996, filed as
Exhibit 10.6 to the registration statement of AmerUs Life Holdmgs Inc. on Form S-1, Registration
Number 333- 12239 s hereby incorporated by reference

: Management“ Tncennvc Plan; filed as Exhibit 109 to the registration statement™of AmerUs Eife
Holdings, Inc. on Form S-1, Registration Number 333-12239, is hereby incorporated by reference.
AmerUs Life Insurance Company Performance Share Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the registration
statement of AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. on Form S-1, Registration Number 333-12239, is hereby
incorporated by reference.
AmerUs Life Stock Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the registration statement of AmerUs
Life Holdings, Inc. on Form S-I, Reg1stratlon Number 333-12239, is hereby incorporated by
reference.

AmerUs Life Non-Employee Director Stock Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the registration statement
of AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. on Form S-1, Registration Number 333-12239, is hercby
incorporated by reference.

Form of Indemnification Agreement executed with directors and certain officers, filed as

- Exhibit 10.33 to the registration statement of AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. on Form S-1, Registration

Number 333-12239, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Pl -

RPN

T

NN




l meih ;i

nli.‘

RS

i it i L

IRy

—
PO
pu—

p—
PR~

» R
-
3 ez
PR
PR

Exhibit
Ne.

10.10
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10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

« 10,18

10.19

10.20

10.21
10.22
10.23

10.24

AmVestors Financial Corporation 1996 Incentive Stock Option Plan, filed as Exhibit (4)(a) to
Registration Statement of AmVestors Financial Corporation on Form S-8, Registration
Number 333-14571 dated October 21, 1996, is hereby incorporated by reference.

AmerUs Group Co. Amended and Restated MIP Deferral Plan dated as of May 10, 2001 filed as
Exhibit 10.12 on Form 10-K dated March 15, 2002, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Open Line of Credit Application and Terms Agreement, dated March 5, 1999, between Federal
Home Loan Bank of Des Moines and AmerUs Life Insurance Cornpany, filed as Exhibit 10.34 on
Form 10-Q dated May 14, 1999, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Facility and Guaranty Agreement, dated February 12, 1999, among The First National Bank of
Chicago and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.39 on Form 10-Q dated May 14, 1999,
is hereby incorporated by reference.

Form of Reimbursement Agreement, dated February 15, 1999, among AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc.
and Roger K. Brooks, Victor N. Daley, Thomas C. Godlasky, Marcia S. Hanson, Mark V. Heitz and
Gary R. McPhall, filed as Exhibit 10.40 on Form 10-Q dated May 14, 1999, is hereby incorporated
by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to Facility Agreement, dated March 23, 1999, among The First National Bank of
Chicago and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.41 on Form 10-Q dated May 14, 1999,
is hereby incorporated by reference.

1999 Non-Employee Stock Option Plan, dated April 19, 1999 filed on Form S-3, Reglstranon

Number 333-72643, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Amendment No. 2 to Facility Agreement, dated January 25, 2000, améng The First National Bank
of Chicago and the Registrant, filed as Exhibit 10. 44 on Form 10-K, dated March 8, 2000, is hereby :

incorporated by reference.

Amendment No. 3 toFacility Agreement dated December 12, 2001, among the First: Natlonal Bank , %
of Chicago and the Registrant filed as Exhxblt 10.19 on Form 10- K dated March 15,:2002, zs hereby :

incorporated by reference.

Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credlt Apphcatlon and Terms Agreement, dated February l 2000,

between Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines and AmerUs Life Insurance Company, filed as
Exhibit 10.45 on Form 10-X, dated March 8, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Investment Advisory Agreements, dated as of February 18, 2000, by and between Indianapolis Life

Insurance Company, Bankers Life Insurance Company of New York, IL Annuity and Insurance -

Company and AmerUs Capital Management Group, Inc. filed"as¥Exhibits 10.1,10.3, 10.4 and.10.2,

respectively, to AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc.’s report on Form 8-K/A on March 6, 2000, are hereby

incorporated by reference.
Advance, Pledge and Security Agreement, dated April 12, 2000, by and between the Federal Home

Loan Bank of Topeka and American Investors Life Insurance Company, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.48
on Form 10-Q, dated May 15, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

- Institutional Custody Agreement, dated April 12, 2000, by and between the Federal Home

Loan Bank of Topeka and American Investors Life Insurance Company, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.49
on Form 10-Q, dated May 15, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference. :

Line of Credit Application, dated April 12, 2000, by and between the Federal Home Loan Bank of

Topeka and American Investors Life Insurance Company, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.50 on Form 10-Q,
dated May 15, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Agreement for Advances, Pledge and Security Agreement, dated March 12, 1992, by and between
Central Life Assurance Company and the Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines, filed as
Exhibit 10.53 on Form 10-Q, dated May 135, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.
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Description

Agreement for Advances, Pledge and Security Agreement, dated September 1, 1995, by and between
American Vanguard Life Insurance Company and the Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines,
filed as Exhibit 10.54 on Form 10-Q, dated May 15, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Affirmation Agreement to Facility and Guaranty Agreement dated February 12, 1999 by American
Mutual Holding Company, survivor of a merger with AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. in favor of the
Agent and the Lenders, dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.58 on Form 10-Q, dated
November 14, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Amendment to Facility and Guaranty Agreement dated February 12, 1999 among The First National
Bank of Chicago and AmerUs Group Co., dated September 20, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.59 on
Form 10-Q, dated November 14, 2000, is hereby incorporated by reference.

AmerUs Group Co. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, dated November 15, 2000, filed as Exhibit 99.9 to
the registration statement of AmerUs Group Co. on Form S-8, Registration Number 333-50030, is
hereby incorporated by reference. '

Credit Agreement dated December 8, 2003, among AmerUs Group Co., Various Lending
Institutions, the Bank of New York, Bank One, NA, Fleet National Bank and Mellon Bank, N.A. as
Co-Syndication Agents and J P Morgan Chase Bank as Administrative Agent.

Consent dated as of March 15, 2002, among AmerUs Group Co., the lending institutions party
hereto, The Bank of New York, Mellon Bank N.A. and Fleet National Bank as Co-Arrangers and
JPMorgan Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and Co-Arranger, filed as Exhlblt 10.36 on
Form 10-Q dated May 14, 2002, is hereby incorporated by reference. .

Amendment No. | to Joint Venture Agreement, dated April 1, 2002, by and between Ameritas Life
Insurance Corp. and AmerUs Life Insurance Company filed as Exhibit 10.37 on Form 10-Q dated
August 12, 2002 is hereby incorporated by:referencer - ¥
Distribution’ Commitment Agreement for Variable Business, dated April 11,2002 by and bétweei
AmerUs GroupCo. and Ameritas Variable Life Insurance Company fil ed as Exhibit 10f38 on
Form.10-Q dated August 12, 2002 is hereby incorporated by reference.

Amendment No. 4 to Facility Agreement dated February 12, 1999 by and among AmerUs: ‘Group
Co. and Bank One, NA (f/k/a The First National Bank of Chicago), dated June 30, 2002 filed as
Exhibit 10.39 on Form 10-Q dated August 12, 2002 is hereby incorporated by reference.

Supplemental Benefit Agreement among AmerUs Group Co. and Melinda S. Urion dated March 4,

2002 filed. as Exh1b1t 101 on Form 10- Q dated November 13, 2002 is hereby mcorporated bY,.

* srefeténge. . THEE B C o A pe B LB

Retirement Agrecment dated March 14, 2000, by and between Victor N. Daley and AmerUs Life
Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 99.8 on Form [0-Q, dated May 135, 2000, is hereby incorporated by
reference.

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of April 15, 1999, to the Employment
Agreement dated as of September 19, 1997, among Mark V. Heitz, AmVestors Financial
Corporation, American Investors Life Insurance Company, Inc., AmVestors Investment Group, Inc.,
American Investors Sales Group, Inc., and AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 99.4 on
Form 10-Q dated August 13, 1999, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Supplemental Benefit Agreement, dated as of April 15, 1999, among Roger K. Brooks and AmerUs
Life Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 99.5 on 10-Q dated August 13, 1999, is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Form of Supplemental Benefit Agreement, dated as of April 15, 1999, among AmerUs Life
Holdings, Inc. and Victor N. Daley, Thomas C. Godlasky and Gary R. MicPhail, filed as Exhibit 99.6
on Form 10-Q dated August 13, 1999, is hereby incorporated by reference.
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Form of Supplemental Benefit Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2000,. among. AmerUs. Life . ...
"Holdings, Inc. and Victor N. Daley, Thomas C. Godlasky and Gary R. McPhail, filed as Exhibit 99.7

on Form 10-X, dated March 8, 2000 is hereby incorporated by reference.

All**AmerUs Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the registration
statement on Form S-8, Registration Number 333-101961, is hereby incorporated by reference.

Form of Supplemental Benefit Agreement, dated February 3, 2003, among AmerUs Group Co. and
Roger K. Brooks, Brian J. Clark, Victor N, Daley, Thomas C. Godlasky, Mark V. Heitz, Gary R.
McPhail, and Melinda S. Urion, filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form 10-Q dated May 15, 2003 is hereby
incorporated by reference.

Tax Allocation and Indemnification Agreement dated as of July 1, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2 on
Form 10-Q dated May 15, 2003 is hereby incorporated by reference.

AmerUs Group Co. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan as amended.

AmerUs Group Co. MIP Deferral Plan, filed as Exhibit 4.3 on Form S-8 dated June 27, 2003, is
hereby incorporated by reference.

Statement Re: Computation of Per Share Earnings is mcluded in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Penodlc Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(¢) or

Rule 15(d)-15(e).
Certification . of Chief Financial Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or.
Rule 15(d) 15(c) o £,

w0 ‘>~‘.

Ccrtlﬁcanon of Chief Exccutlve Ofﬁcer of Penodlc Report Pursuant to 18 U.S.€. Section 1350

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant to 18 U.S. C Section 1350.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AMERUS GROUP CO.

/s/ ROGER K. BROOKS

Roger K. Brooks
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 12, 2004

POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of AmerUs Group Co., hereby severally and individually
constitute and appoint Melinda S. Urion, Brenda J. Cushing and James A. Smallenberger, and each of them,
the true and lawful attorneys and agents of each of us to execute in the name, place and stead of each of us
(individually and in any capacity stated below) any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K
and all instruments necessary or advisable in connection therewith and to file the same with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, each of said attorneys and agents to have the power to act with or without the others
and to have full power and authority to do and perform in the name and on behalf of each of the undersigned

every act whatsoever necessary or advisable to be done on the premises as:fully and to all intents and purposes -
as any of the undersigned might or could do in person, and we hereby ratify and confirm our signatures as they -
" may be signed by said. attorncys and agents or each of them to any and, all such amendments and instruments. .

" Pursuant to the requirerhients of the Securities' Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

/s/ RoGer K. BrRooks ' Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (principal
Roger K. Brooks executive officer) and Director
'/s/  THomas C. GODLASKY President and Chiéf Operating Officer and Director

Thomas C. Godlasky

/s/ MELINDA S. UNION Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Melinda S. Urion and Treasurer (principal financial officer)
/s/ BRENDA J. CUSHING ' Senior Vice President and Controller (principal
Brenda J. Cushing accounting officer)
/s/ _JoHN R. ALBERS Director

John R. Albers

/s/ DaviD A. ARLEDGE Director
David A. Arledge

/s/ ALECIA A. DECOUDREAUX Director
Alecia A. DeCoudreaux
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/s/ THoMAS F. GAFFNEY

Thomas F. Gaffney

/s/  JoHN W. NORRIS, JR.

John W. Norris, Jr.

/s/ ANDREW J. PAINE, Jr.

Andrew J. Paine, Jr.

/s/ JACk C. PESTER

Jack C. Pester

/s/ Joun A. WING

. John A. Wing

/s/ F. A. WITTERN, JR.

F. A. Wittern, Jr.
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
INDEX TC CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent Auditor’s Report. ... ... i F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2003 and 2002 ................. F-3 through F-4

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 -
and 2000 L. e e F-5 )

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 . ............. e F-6 o

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, .
2003, 2002 and 2001 ... .. e F-7

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, o
2002 and 200 L. e e e F-8 through F-10 N

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. ........... ... e, F-11 through F-59 —

Separate financial statements of subsidiaries not consolidated and 50% or less owned persons accounted
for by the equity method have been omitted because they do not individually constitute a significant
subsidiary.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
AmerUs Group Co.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AmerUs Group Co. as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of AmerUs Group Co. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As described in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 the Company changed its method
of accounting for embedded derivatives associated with certain reinsurance agreements, in 2002 the Company
changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangibles and in 2001 the Company changed its
methed of accounting for derivative instruments and its method of accounting for its clesed block of business.

‘Des Moines, lowa

February 6, 2004
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AMERUS GROUP CO.

CONSQLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
($ in thousands)

December 31,
2003 2002
Assets
Investments:
Securities available-for-sale at fair value:
Fixed maturity SECUTTHES . - . vttt e cnteee vttt eniieeeeeenenenns $13,944,961  $13,328,902
EQUItY SECUMIES . v oottt e e e e e 74,390 63,345
Short-1erm INVESIMENTS . . .. oottt ettt 28,556 32,318
Securities held for trading purposes at fair value:
Fixed maturity securities . .. ...ttt ittt i 2,089,502 1,843,868
Equity SECUMtIES . ..« o vvee et e s 1,652 —
Short-term Investments ... ...... oo i e 591 —
MOTIZage J0aNS . . .ot ettt e e e 968,572 883,034
Real B8l . .. i e e e e 33 476
Policy loans. .. ........oovn i e e e 494,646 496,753
QOther investments .............. e e S 339,436 283,794
Total investments ... ....ovvet e e 17,942,839 16,932,490
Cash and cash equivalents ......... . ... ... 274,150 102,612
Accrued izi?vestmqnt:,fincomc ...... e [P “ e 205,492 " '185,56d§,
Prémiums, fees and other reccivablc‘s“_".:. U '_'::. O ’#’ o 42,761 13,082¢
Reinsurance receivables. .. ... .. [ e PO ST 663,452 865,930"
Deferred policy acqﬁisition COSES e e '.' ..................... 1,120,130 884,23§
Value of business acquired ... .........oviiiiniiiii e 419,582 454,159
GoodWill .. o e e e 224,075 218,995
N Property and equipment .. ... . it e e 48,849 74,188
»;_;:":5 AT B55EES © . vttt et e e e s 311,305 296,994
e Separate aCCOUNt ASSELS . .. . .. oo oo vn e as o D it oo T 261,657 - - 235913
] Assets of discontinued OPEIATIONS . . o ot ettt it et e 27,950 29,403
A Total assets.......... TP $21,542,242  $20,293,665

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




AMERUS GROUP CO.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)
{$ in thousands)

December 31,
2003 2002
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity e
Liabilities:
Policy reserves and policyowner funds: V_
Future life and annuity policy benefits ............................. 316,994,255  $16,244,016
Policyowner funds ......... ... . . i e 1,306,160 1,335,144
18,300,415 17,579,160
Accrued expenses and other liabilities. .. ................ oo i, 443,589 261,147
Dividends payable to policyowners................ ..o 321,233 303,062
Policy and contract claims .......... ..o iit e 58,880 39,569
Income taxes payable .............. . ... 50,274 61,325
Deferred INCOmMe 1aXeS . ..o v vt it iit ettt e e 80,861 16,499
Notes payable. . ... ... e e 596,101 511,353
Separate account liabilities . ......... ..o i i e 261,657 235,913
Liabilities of discontinued operations............., e e 19,421 22,689
Total liabilities . .........c..ovvieeea... [ PR L. 20,132,431 19,030,717
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, no par value, 20,000,000 shares authonzed none issyed .. —_ _
Common Stock, no par.value, 230,000, 000 shares authonzed 43,836 608_"-:
_ shares issued and 39,194,602 shares dutstanding in 2003; 43, 656 280 : ‘ .
“shares issued and 39,011,578 shares outstandmg in 2002 ........ ‘._»» ..... 43,836 ' 43,656
Additional paid-in capital ............ ... . i ’ o 1,184,237 1,179,646
Accumulated other comprehensive income. . ............ ..., 84,519 88,522
Uneamed compensation ............ovvininieiiiiiinirreeeenenn. (1,361) (458)
Unallocated ESOP shares ... ..o vvrie it iiiie e, — (1,443)
Retained eammings. .. .....coeeni i e 255,006 109,517
. Treasury stock, at'cost (4,642,006 shares in 2003 and 4,644,702 in.2002) . . (156,436):2~ (156,497)
Total stockholders’ equity . ...t 1,409,811 1,262,948 )
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ................... 0.t $21,542,242  $20,293,665 - -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




AMERUS GROUP CO.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(8 in thousands, except share data)

For The Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Revenues:
Insurance premiums $ 297,188 § 351,300 $ 305,905
Product charges 181,354 144,494 146,055
Net investment income 1,001,914 1,001,257 873,174
Realized/unrealized gains (losses) on investments 131,291 (149,919) (90,629)
Other income 68,298 68,513 45,736

1,680,045 1,415,645 1,280,241

Benefits and expenses:
Policyowner benefits 940,158 871,892 753,003
Underwriting, acquisition and other expenses 155,468 162,267 140,471
Demutualization costs —_ 1,186 969
Restructuring costs 23,294 21,225 8,566

Amortization of deferred policy acqulsmon costs and value
of business acquired 193,340 139,565. 132,899

Dividends to policyowners 98,393 104,866 98,945
1,410,653 1,301,001 1,134,853

Income from contmumg operanons e : ‘ .269,392 : 114 644:; 5?45,388
Interest cxpense ; 30,154 25,487 - 426,011

Income before income tax.expense ' 239,238 89,157 - :119,377
Income tax expense 78,610 28,375 - 39,522

Net income from continuing operations 160,628 60,782 79,855
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 1,815 2,084 1,288

Net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting 162,443 62,366 - 31,143
Cumulative effect of change. in accounting, ngt;of tax«z . v (1,296) = (8,236)
Net income $ 161,147 $ 62,866 72,907

Net income from continuing operations per common share:
4.10 1.52 2.16

Diluted 4.05 1.50 2.13

Net income per common share:
4.11 1.57 1.97

Diluted 4.07 1.56 1.95

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
39,175,924 39,972,328 36,949,158

Diluted 39,618,217 40,398,378 37,453,428

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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AMERUS GROUP CO.

g CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
T ($ in thousands)

= For The Years Ended December 31,
= 2003 2002 2001

E Netincome ... ... e $161,147 § 62,866 § 72,907
- Other comprehensive income (loss):
E Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:

Transfer related to unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
S reclassified to trading ...l — — (662)

e Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period......... 35,051 17,324 31,298
- Less: Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses) included in
= REE IMCOMIE o v v vttt e et e ee e s vt e e v e e ainnnnens 28,210 (101,261)  (14,792)
=l Minimum pension liability adjustment . ...................... (4,993) (1,888) (3,587)
‘ .“; Other comprehensive income, before tax..............ovvei.. 1,848 116,697 41,841
= Income tax expense related to items of other comprehensive

COIME . vttt ittt i e i e e e (647) (40,844)  (14,645)

1,201 75,853 27,196
........ (5,204) — 2,661
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes............. o - (4,003) 75,853 29,857

= Comprehensive INCOME. . .. ...\t vr et e eeieeiee e, $157,144  $ 138,719  $102,764

Amounts attributable to change in accounting net of taxes

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. ,
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AMERUS GROUP CO. -

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 -
($ in thousands) ]

Accamilated i
Other -
Additional Comprehensive Unzllocated Total
Common  Paid-In Income Unearned ESOP  Retained Treasury Stockholders’ -
Stock Capital (Laoss) Compensation  Shares  Earnings  Stock Equity

Balance at December 31, 2000 ........ 330,011 $ 809,894  $(17,188) $ (146) $ (683) § 6,067 8 — § 827955 ot
2001 o
NetifCome o oottt iinnnnns — —_ —_ — — 72,907 —_ 72,907 .
Change in accounting for derivatives ... - - 2,661 — — - — 2,661
Transfer related to unrealized loss on -

available-for-sale securities reclassified [~

totrading ... ...l — —_ (430) - —_ — —_ (430) [
Net unrealized gain on securities ...... — — 35,891 - - — — 35,891 [
Net unrealized loss on derivatives _

designated as cash flow hedges ...... — — (5.933) -_ — —_ — {5,933) o
Stock issued under various incentive . -

plans, net of forfeitures............. 206 5,861 — (581) — — 108 5,594 “"
Stock issued under exercise of warrants —_ {1,383) —_ — — - 4,468 3,085
Dividends declared on commeon stock .. — —_ - — —  (16,787) — (16,787) "'”
Purchase of treasury stock............ —

— - — - —  (44,985) (44,985) oy
Acquisition of IL Holdings ........... 9,047 223,358 —_ - — - - 232,405
Conversion of company-obligated :

mandatorily redeemable preferred

capital securities ,......... ... ... 4,242 139,478 - - R —  (16,173) .. 127547
Allocation of shares in leveraged ESOP — 480 — - . 459 — - 939 g
Minimum pension liability adjustment . . — —_ (2,332) — — — — (2,332) !
Balance at December 31, 2001 ........ 43,506 1,177,688 12,669 (727) C T (224) 62,187  (56,582) 1,238,517 -
2002: ~ : F3 .
Netincome' ,17.:...... e — - = — &, — 162866 g iy, 62,866
Net unrealized gain on securities .. .. .. - —_— 73,646 —_ £ - .- —- 73,646
Net unrealized gain on ‘derivatives ~ - : o o T
designated as cash flow hedges ...... - —_ 3,434 — — R — . 343 .
Stock issued under various incentive L ’ o .~
5 plans, net of forfeitures. ............ 150 5,730 — 265 B - 1 6,150 -
; Stock issued under exercise of warrants — (3,802) — - —_ — 12,205 8,403 ]
N Purchase of ESOP shares and treasury n
] stock ..o - - - - (2,522) —  (l12,116) (114,638) -
4 Dividends declared on common stock .. — — —_ —_ - (15,536) — (15,536) -
i Allocation of shares in leveraged ESOP — 30 — — 1,303 — — 1,333 [
i Minimum pension liability adjustment . . — — (1,227) — L - — — (1,227 -
Balance.at;December 31, 2002 .. 7w nn 43,656 - 1,179/646 88,522 (458)  Y(1,443) 109,517 _(156492) 1,262,948 iuk = =
2003; ' o
Netincome ..........ovvvvvnnnnens —_ — - —_ —_ 161,147 — 161,147
Net unrealized gain on securities ...... — — 1,971 — — — — 1,971
Net unrealized gain on derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges ... .. —. - 2,476 — — ~ —_ 2,476
Change in accounting transfer of
unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securitics to trading. .. ............. — — (5,204) - — — — (5,204)
Stock issued under various incentive ‘ -
plans, net of forfeitures............. 180 11,7117 - (503) — - . 66 11,060 .
PRIDES purchase contract adjustment -
i and allocated fees and expenses ... .. —_ (7,280) -— —_ _— — — (7,280)
o Dividends declared on common stock .. - -— -— - — {15,658) — (15,658) ]
o Allocation of shares in leveraged ESOP — 154 — — 1,443 - —_ 1,597 —
] Minimum pension liability adjustment.. = — — (3,246) — — — — (3,246)

dhemm Balance at December 31, 2003 ........ $43,836 §$1,184,237  § 84,519 $(1,361) $§ — $255006 $(156426) $1,409,811
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

($ in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

BT 1117 ) o+

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Cumulative effect of change in accounting..............
Product charges on universal life and annuity products. . ..
Interest credited to policyowner account balances . .......

Change in option value of equity-indexed products and
market value adjustments on total return strategy

annuities ............

Realized/unrealized (gains) losses on investments

Goodwill amortization . . .

............................

............................

DAC and VOBA amortization. ............coovvrennn.
DAC and VOBA capitalized .................cooooit

Change in:

Accrued investment income

Reinsurance receivables

Securities held for trading purposes:

- Fixed matuities .. .
Equity securities . . .

Short-term investments ............ ...,
Liabilities for future policy benefits'..................
Accrued expenses and other liabilities. . ..............
Policy and contract claims and other policyowner funds

Income taxes:

...............................

Net cash provided by operating activities ...............

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of fixed maturities

Proceeds from sale of fixed maturities available-for-sale

available-for-sale .............

Maturities, calls and principal reductions of fixed maturities

available-for-sale .......
Purchase of equity securities
Proceeds from sale of equity

............................

Securities ......oviviiiin.,

Change in short-term investments, net ...................

Purchase of mortgage loans

............................

For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
$ 161,147 $§ 62,866 $ 72,907
1,296 - 8,236
(153,252) (129,387) (121,547)
472,881 492,781 394,322
65,741 (28,759) (52,747)
(131,291) 149,919 90,629
— - 8,324
193,340 139,565 132,899
(400,802) (408,218) (325,075)
(19,832) (11,422) (6,891)
279,552 (129,638) (123,569)
?(219,310) 321,836 >, 49,339
o {1,606) 12,013 - (11,342)
“ (396) 4221 (4,186)
(228,261) 473,039 59,509
181,595 (40,684) (64,984)
111,374 30,769 (48,423)
£5tL051) - 14,837 =~ 39,092
66,849 (24,363) (7,914)
27,109 (9,321) 8,545
394,883 920,054 97,114
(10,430,571)  (8,269,367)  (4,673,375)
7,467,468 5,736,480 2,745,381
2,354,539 959,293 1,006,631
(12,721) (66,408) (51,190)
14,926 771 57,013
(108) (17,216) 5,656
(202,721) (64,416) (150,143)

[




AMERUS GROUP CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued)

($ in thousands)

Proceeds from repayment and sale of mortgage loans........
Purchase of real estate and other invested assets............
Proceeds from sale of real estate and other invested assets ...
Change in policy loans, net. .......... ... ...l

Other assets, Bet. . . vttt it e e e

Cash flows from fnancing activities:

Deposits to policyowner account balances..................
Withdrawals from policyowner account balances ............
Changeindebt,net.......... ... ...
Dividends to shareholders ......................nven..
Stock issued under various incentive plans, net of forfeitures. .
Purchase of treasury stock ................... e
Proceeds from issuance of OCEANS. .....................

Proceeds from issuance of PRIDES ......... '. . .' ..........

Conversion of company -obligated mandatonly redecmable
capital securities . ........... i

Adoption and allocation of shares in leveraged ESOP .......
Transfer of pension obligation to trustee ...................
Other, BB ..ottt e e e

Net cash provided by financing activities ..............

« ":Net increase {decrease) in cash. .. ... .. T
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod ...........

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ................

Supplemental disclosure of cash activities:
Interest paid ... ... o i

Incometaxespaid ........... .. i

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-9

For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
$ 123,033 $ 130855 $ 118479
(323,676) (28,872)  (104,438)
328,002 61,661 48,417

2,107 9,565 3,883
(9,800) 4,684 (75,997)

— — 156,925
(689,522)  (1,542,970)  (912,758)
2,220,545 2,180,925 2,137,698
(1,825,472)  (1,630,869)  (1,231,109)
(61,596) (38,703) 74,947
(15,658) (15,536) (16,787)
11,060 14,553 8,678

e (114,638) (44,985).

— 179,593 —
135,701 — —

af (20,805) _

wf_,g ~ .
- 154

1,597 1,333 939

(9,481)

— (220) —
466,177 546,152 929,535
IS8 RH(T6764) 13,891
102,612 179,376 65,485

$ 274150 $ 102,612 §$ 179,376
$ 32516 $ 25408 $ 29325
$ 25422 $ 22351 $ 1914




AMERUS GROUP CO.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued}
($ in thousands)

For The Years Ended December 31,

2003 2662 2001
Details of acquisitions:
Fair value of assets acquired......... e $ - — 3 — 85,676,350
Liabilities assumed. . .........ooiiiii — — 5,349,908
Carrying value of acquisitions..............oooviiiiiL — — 326,442
Common stock dssued ......... ... - —_ (232,405)
Accrual of cash payout component of purchase price ......... — — (9,000)
Preliminary investment in ILICO ...................... ... — —_ (77,200)
Acquisition costs previously paid ........ ... i — — (2,857)
Cash patd ... . i e e e — — 4,980
Less: Cashacquired . .......coiiiioiii i, — — 161,905
Net cash (received in) acquisitions ........................ $ -~ 3 —  $(156,925)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

AmerUs Group Co. (Company) is a holding company whose subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the
business of marketing, underwriting and distributing a broad range of individual life, annuity and insurance
deposit products to individuals and businesses in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin
Islands. The Company has two reportable operating segments: protection products and accumulation products.
The protection preducts segment was formerly known as the life insurance segment and the accumulation
products segment was formerly known as the annuity segment. The primary offerings of the protection
products segment are interest-sensitive whole life, term life, universal life and equity-indexed life insurance
policies. The primary offerings of the accumulation products segment are individual fixed annuities, including
traditional fixed annuities and equity-indexed annuities, and insurance contracts issued through funding
agreements.

Consolidation a2nd Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consclidated financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(GAAP) which, as to the insurance company subsidiaries, differ frdm statutory accounting practices
prescribed or permitted by regulatory authorities.

- The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the

Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, principalty, AmerUs Life Insurance Company (ALIC), AmerUs -

Annuity Group Co. and its subsidiaries (colléctively, AAG, formerly AmVestors Financial Corporation

(AmVestors) ), AmerUs Capital Management Group, Inc. (ACM), and ILICO Holdings, Inc., the holding ’
company of Indianapolis Life Insurance Company (ILIC) and its subsidiaries (collectively, ILICO). As -

discussed in note 1S5, ILICO was acquired in May 2001. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Effective on March 29, 2002, Western Security Life Insurance Company, a subsidiary of ILIC, was sold.
The insurance business of Western Security Life Insurance Company was transferred to ILIC prior to the
sale. The sale of the corporate. organization and insurance licenses resulted m a galn of apprommatcly

.

$1.9 million which is included in realized gains. e = ¥

Certain amounts in the 2002 and 2001 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2003
financial statement presentation.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The
valuation of financial instruments, derivatives, and amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and value
of business acquired are areas which involve a high degree of estimation to determine their reported amounts.
These areas are described in more detail in the following policies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, the Company includes cash and amounts due from other financial
institutions and interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions purchased with original maturities of
three months or less in cash and cash equivalents. Amounts of interest-bearing deposits included as cash
equivalents at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $123.6 million and $99.1 million, respectively.

F-11
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continaed)

Closed Block

The Company has established two Closed Blocks of policies: (1) on June 30, 1996 in connection with the
reorganization of ALIC from a mutual company to a stock company, and (2) on March 31, 2000 in
connection with the reorganization of ILIC from a mutual company to a stock company (collectively, the
Closed Block). Insurance policies which had a dividend scale in effect as of each Closed Block establishment
date were included in the Closed Block. The Closed Block was designed to give reasonable assurance to
owners of insurance policies that, after the reorganization of ALIC and ILIC, assets would be available to
maintain the dividend scales and interest credits in effect prior to the reorganization, if the experience
underlying such scales and crediting continues. The assets, including revenue therefrom, allocated to the
Closed Block will accrue solely to the benefit of the owners of policies included in the Closed Block until the
Closed Block no longer exists. The Company will continue to pay guaranteed benefits under all policies,
including policies included in the Closed Block, in accordance with their terms. In the event that the Closed
Block’s assets were insufficient to meet the benefits of the Closed Block’s guaranteed benefits, general assets
would be utilized to meet the contractual benefits of the Closed Block’s policyholders.

A policyholder dividend obligation is required to be established for earnings in the Closed Block that are
not available to shareholders. A model of the Closed Block was established to produce the pattern of expected
earnings in the Closed Block. If actual cumulative earnings of the Closed Block are greater than the expected
cumulative earnings of the Closed Block, only the expected cumulatiVe; earnings will be recognized in income
with the excess recorded as a policyholder dividend obligation. This policyholder dividend obligation
represents undistributed accumulated earnings that will be paid to Closed Block policyholders as additional
policyholder dividends unless offset by future performance of the Closed Block that is less favorable than

originally expected. If actual cumulatwe performance is less favorable than expected, only actual earnings wﬂl g

be recogmzed in mcome

Hmvesﬁments o

Investments in fixed maturity securities, equity securities and short-term investments that are to be held
for indefinite periods of time are reported as securities available-for-sale and are reported in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements at fair value. Any valuation changes resuiting from changes in the fair value
of these securities are reflected as a component of stockholders’ equlty These unrealized gains or losses in

stockholders’ eduity“are reporteéd niet of taxes and adjustments to deferred policy acquisition”costs (DA€);

value of business acquired (VOBA) and policy reserves. Fixed maturity and equity securities that are bought
and held principally to back our total return strategy fixed annuity products are reported as held for trading
securities and are carried at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported in net income. Premiums and
discounts on fixed maturity securities are amortized or accreted over the life of the related security as an
adjustment to yield using the effective interest method. The accreted carrying value of investments in
structured securities that can be contractually prepaid or settled in a way that substantially all of an investment
may not be recovered is determined by updating the estimate for the amount and timing of cash flows with

_resulting adjustments in the accretable yield accounted for prospectively. Should this estimate of cash flows

reflect an adverse change from an immediately preceding estimate, an other-than-temporary- impairment
(OTTI) is deemed to have occurred and, accordingly, the structured security is written down to fair value with
the change reflected in net income. For loan-backed and structured securities included in fixed maturity
securities, income is recognized using a constant effective yield based on currently anticipated cash flows. .

Securities are also reviewed to identify potential impairments. In determining if and when a decline in
market value below amortized cost is other-than-temporary, we evaluate the market conditions, offering
prices, trends of earnings, price multiples, and other key measures for our investments in marketable equity
securities and debt instruments. For fixed maturity securities, our intent and ability to hold-securities is also
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AMERUS GROUP CO:
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

considered. When such a decline in value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, we recognize an impairment
loss in the current period net income to the extent of the decline.

Market values of fixed maturity securities are reported based on quoted market prices, where available.
Market values of fixed maturity securities not actively traded in a liquid market are estimated by comparison
to similar securities with quoted prices when possible. Otherwise, the most recent purchases and sales of
similar unquoted securities, independent broker quotes or internally prepared valuations are used to estimate
fair value. Internally prepared valuations use a matrix calculation assuming a spread (based on interest rates
and a risk assessment of the bonds) over U.S. Treasury bonds. Market values of redeemable preferred stocks
and equity securities are based on the latest quoted market prices, or for those not readily marketable,
generally at values which are representative of the market values of comparable issues.

Loans and other long-term investments are stated at cost less amortized discounts and allowances for
possible losses. Policy loans are stated at their aggregate unpaid balances. Investments in loans and real estate
are considered impaired when the Company determines that collection of all amounts due under the
contractual terms is doubtful or carrying values exceed the fair value of applicable underlying collateral or
assets. The Company adjusts such assets to their estimated net realizable value at the point at which it
determines an impairment is other than temporary. Interest income on impaired mortgage loans is recognized
when cash is received. In addition, the Company has established a valuation allowance for loans, real estate,
and other invested assets. Valuation allowances for other than temporary impairments in value are netted
against the asset categories to which they apply, and additions to valuation allowances are included in total
investment results,

Real estate is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Deprematlon is calculated over the estimated
useful lives using pnmanlywaccelerated deprec1at10n methods. =

The Company issued’ a $250 million floating rate funding agreemenl in 1999. Under the transaction, a
five-year floating rate insurance contract was issued. to a commercial paper conduit which was swapped to a
fixed-rate. The $250 million funding agreement was terminated in December 2003, During 2002, additional
funding agreements totaling $875 million were placed primarily in six to ten year fixed rate insurance
contracts. The assets backing the funding agreements are legally segregated and are not subject to claims that
_ arise out of any other business of the Company. The funding agreements are further backed by the general
account assets of the insurance companies. The segregated assets and liabilities are included with general
account assets in the financial statements. The funding agreements may not be cancelled by the counterparty
unless there is a default urider the agreements, bt the Company may ‘ferminiate the agreements at any time.

Investments in partnerships in which the Company’s ownership percentage exceeds 3% and joint ventures
are generally accounted for under the equity method whereby the Company initially records the investment at
cost. Subsequently, the Company increases or decreases the carrying amount of the investment for its share of
income or loss, of the investee. Investments in partnerships in which the Company’s ownership percentage is
less than 3% are generally accounted for under the cost method whereby dividends received by the investee are
recognized as income. The Company is primarily a limited partner in such investments. These investments are
shown as cther investments and totaled approximately $52.2 million and $56.3 million at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

Realized gains and losses are included in earnings and are determined using the specific identification
method. The carrying value of investments is reduced to its estimated realizable value if a decline in fair value
is considered other-than-temporary with such reduction charged to net income.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company uses financial instruments, primarily options, futures and swaps to reduce its exposure to
changes in interest rates and to manage duration mismatches. The Company also uses call options to hedge
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AMERUS GROUP CQC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued}

equity-indexed products. The use of these financial instruments modifies the exposure of these risks with the
intent to reduce the risk and variability to the Company. Although the Company is subject to the risk that
counterparties will fail to perform, credit standings of counterparties are monitored regularly. The Company is
not a party to leveraged derivatives. Derivative instruments are included in other investments.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No.
(SFAS) 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS 137
and 138. SFAS 133 requires that all derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts, be reported on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. Accounting for gains
and losses resulting from changes in the fair values of derivatives is dependent upon the use of the derivative
and its qualification for special hedge accounting. See note 4 for additional information regarding the adoption
of SFAS 133,

The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Derivatives Implementation Group issued SFAS 133
Implementation Issue No. B36, “Embedded Derivatives: Bifurcation of a Debt Instrument that Incorporates
both Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk Exposures that are Unrelated or Only Partially Related to the
Creditworthiness of the Issuer of that Instrument,” or DIG Issue B36. DIG Issue B36 applies to modified
coinsurance and coinsurance with funds withheld arrangements where interest is determined by reference to a
pool of fixed maturity assets or a total return debt index. DIG Issue B36 considers the reinsurer’s receivable
from the ceding company tc contain an embedded derivative that must be bifurcated and accounted for
separately under’ SFAS 133. The Company adopted DIG Issue B36 on October 1, 2003. See note 4 for
additional information regarding the adoption of DIG Issue B36.

Policy Acguisition Costs o

Certain commissions, policy issue and underwriting* costs, and other variable costs, including bonus
interest, incurred to acquire or renew traditional life insurance, universal life insuraﬁ@:e, equity-indexed life:and
annuity products are deferred. The method of amortizing - DAC for traditional life insurance products varies,
dependent upon whether the contract is participating or non-participating. Participating contracts are those
which are expected to pay dividends to policyowners in proportion to their relative contribution to the
Company’s statutory surplus. DAC for participating traditional life insurance is generally amortized over the
life of the policies in proportion to the present value of estimated gross margins, Non-participating traditional
life insurance DAC is amortized over the premium-paying period of the related policies in proportion to the

tatio of annual premium revenues to- totat anticipated premium revenues using assumptions_consistent with....... .. 77T
thos#™used" in*¢omputing policy benéfit feserves, For universal life” insurance 'dnd annuity p¥oducts; DAC is ~ -

generally amortized in proportion to the present value of estimated gross margins from surrender charges and
investment, mortality, and expense margins. The effect on the cumulative amortization of DAC for revisions
in estimated future gross margins on- participating traditional life, universal life, and annuity products is
reflected in the period such estimates are revised. The DAC asset is also adjusted for the impact on estimated
gross profits of net unrealized gains and losses on securities.

Value of Business Acquired

The portion of the purchase price from insurance companies allocated to the right to receive future cash
flows from insurance contracts existing at the date of the acquisition is referred to as VOBA. This cost of
policies purchased represents the actuarially determined present value of the projected future gross margins
from the acquired policies,

The expected future gross margins used in determining such value are based on actuarially determined
projections of future premium receipts, mortality, surrenders, operating expenses, changes in insurance
liabilities, investment yields on the assets retained to support the policy liabilities and other factors. These
projections take into account all factors known or expected- at the valuation date, based on the judgment of
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

management. The actual experience on purchased business may vary from projections due to differences in
renewal premium, investment spread, investment gains or losses, mortality and morbidity costs and other
factors.

The discount rate used to determine the value of policies purchased is the rate of return required in order
to invest in the business being acquired. Factors in determining this rate include the cost of capital required to
fund the acquisition; the acquired company’s compatibility with other Company activities that may impact
future gross margins; the compiexity of the acquired company; and recent discount rates used by others to
determine valuations to acquire similar blocks of business.

VOBA is amortized based on the incidence of the expected gross margins using the interest rate credited
to the underlying policies. If gross margins differ from expectations, the amortization of the VOBA is adjusted.
The VOBA asset is adjusted for the impact on estimated gross margins of net unrealized gains and losses on
securities. Each yedr, the recoverability of the VOBA is evaluated and if the evaluation indicates that the
existing insurance liabilities, together with the present value of future gross margins from the blocks of
business acquired, is insufficient to recover the VOBA, the difference is charged to expense as an additional
write-off of the VOBA.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid to acquire a company over the fair value of its net
assets. Prior to 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over a thirty year period. ‘Effective
January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 142
adopts a jnonamortization, impairment — only model for the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-lived

intangible. assets This includes a more stringent impairment test methodology for measuring and reécognizing:
.impairment losses. The Company accordingly dxscontmucd amortization of goodwill on January 1, 2002 See

note 17 for additional information regarding the adopnon of SFAS 142.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost and is depreciated principally under the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Séparate Account . L onmanTm e wE

gL L R e . .

Separate account assets and liabilities represent funds that are separately administered, pnncxpally for
variable annuity contracts, and for which the contractholder, rather than the Company, bears the investment
risk. Separate account contractholders have no claim against the assets of the general funds of the Company.
Separate account assets are reported at fair value. The operations of the separate accounts are not included in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recognition of Revenues

Premiums for traditional life insurance products (including those products with fixed and guaranteed
premiums and benefits and which consist principally of whole life insurance policies and certain annuities with
life contingencies) are recognized as revenues when due. For limited payment life insurance policies,
premiums are recorded as income when due with any excess profit deferred and recognized over the expected
lives of the contracts. Amounts received as payments for universal life insurance policies, annuity products
(including deferred annuities and annuities without life contingencies) and funding agreements are not
recorded as premium revenue. Revenues for such contracts consist of policy charges for the cost of insurance,
policy administration charges, and surrender charges assessed against policyowner account balances during the
period. All insurance-related revenue is reported net of reinsurance ceded.
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AMERUS GRCUP CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Future Policy Benefits

The liability for future policy benefits for traditional life insurance is computed using the net level
method, utilizing the guaranteed interest and mortality rates used in calculating cash surrender values as
described in the contracts. Reserve interest assumptions range from 2.00 percent to 7.50 percent. The
weighted average interest rate for all traditional life policy reserves was 4.46 percent in 2003, 4.60 percent in
2002, and 4.81 percent in 2001. Policy benefit claims are charged to expense in the period that the claims are
incurred. All insurance-related benefits, losses, and expenses are reported net of reinsurance ceded.

Future policy benefit reserves for universal life insurance, annuity products and funding agreements are
computed under a retrospective deposit method and represent policy account balances before applicable
surrender charges. In addition, reserves for universal life policies include a deferred revenue liability, if any, for
excess first-year policyowner charges. Policy benefits and claims that are charged to expense include benefit
claims incurred in the period in excess of related policy account balances. The weighted average interest
crediting rates for universal life products were 4.96 percent in 2003, 5.39 percent in 2002 and 5.63 percent in
2001. The range of interest crediting rates for annuity products, excluding bonus interest payouts, was 3.00 to
7.20 percent in 2003 and 2002 and 3.00 to 7.16 percent in 2001. The weighted average interest rate for funding
agreements was 4.69 percent for the fixed-rate agreements and 1.17 percent for the floating-rate agreements in
2003, and 4.69 percent for the fixed-rate agreements and 2.01 percent for the floating-rate agreements in 2002
and 4.46 percent for the floating-rate agreement in 2001. e

Reinsurance ‘
! Do &l

The Company enters into reinsurance agreements with other cog}}ypﬁmes in the normal course of business,
The Company may assume, reinsurance or cede reinsurance to othet g ompanies., Assets and liabilities related
to reinsurance ceded are reported on a gross basis. ’Premlums and Expenses are reported net of reinsurance
ceded. The Company is contingently liable for the portion of the pohctes reinsured under each of its existing
reinsurance agreements in the event the reinsurance companies ‘aré unable to pay their portion of any
reinsured claim. Management believes that any liability from this contingency is unlikely. However, to limit
the possibility of such losses, the Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors
concentration of credit risk.

" *Participating Pelicies s

Participating policies entitle the policyowners to receive dividends based on actual interest, mortality,
morbidity, and expense experience for the related policies. These dividends are distributed to the policyowners
through an annual dividend using current dividend scales which are approved by the board of directors.
Approximately 52 percent in 2003 and 56 percent in 2002 of traditicnal life policies are currently paying
dividends. Traditional life policies represent approximately 68 percent in 2003 and 71 percent in 2002 of the
Company’s individual life policies in force (based on face amounts).

Steck-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2003, the Company has stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described
more fully in note 13. The Company primarily accounts for those plans under the recognition and
measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as ail options granted
under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date
of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to
stock-based employee compensation:

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
($ in thousands, except share data)
Netincome, asreported . ... ... ottt i i e $161,147 $62,866 $72,907

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based rnethod for all awards, net of related tax

IFROLS + + v e ee e e e e e e S (4,087)  (5094)  (5,123)
Pro forma net iNCOME . . o oo v vttt e et et e e e e $157,060  $57,772  $67,784

Earnings per share:

Basic—asrteporied ... .. e $ 411 § 157 § 197
Basic — Pro fOrma ..ottt e e $ 401 § 145 § 1383
Diluted —asreported. .. ...t e $ 407 $ 156 § 195
Diluted — pro forma. .. ..ottt e $ 396 § 143 § 181

Guaranty Fund Assessments

The Company is subject to insurance guaranty laws in the states in which it writes business. These laws
prov1de for assessments agamst insurance companies for the benefit of pohcyowners and clalmants in the event
of msolvency of other life 1r‘§éurance companies. As of Decemiber 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company has accrued
for the gross amount of guaranty fund asséssments for known. 1nsolven01cs and has estabhshed an other asset
for assessments expected to be recovered through future premium tax offsets. g s

Income Taxes

Generally, the Company and its non-life insurance subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax
return. The life insurance subsidiaries file separate federal income tax returns, except for ILIC and Bankers
Life Insurance Company of New York which together file a consolidated tax return.beginning in 2002. In prior

vears, the life insurance-subsidiaries filed separatefederal income tax returns. The separate return method is ~~e”

used to compute the Company’s provision for allocating federal income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in stockholders’ equity during a period except those
resulting from investments by and distributions to stockholders. Other comprehensive income (loss) excludes
net realized investment gains included in net income which merely represent transfers from unrealized to

realized gains and losses. Such amounts totaled $28.2 milfion, ($101.3) million and ($14.8) million in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share of common stock are computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share assumes the issuance of
common shares applicable to stock options and warrants and is calculated using the treasury stock method.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Diluted earnings per share applicable to the Company’s PRIDESS™ securities are determined using the
treasury stock method as it is currently anticipated that holders of the PRIDES are more likely to tender cash
in the future for the securities’ forward contract. The PRIDES added 72,151 shares for the diluted earnings ,
per share calculation for the year ended 2003. See further discussion of the PRIDES in note 8. Diluted i
earnings per share applicable to the Company’s Optionally Convertible Equity-linked Accreting Notes ‘
(OCEANs™™) are determined using the if-converted method for the number of days in the period in which
the common stock price conversion condition is met. The common stock price conversion condition was not
met for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. No undistributed net income has been allocated to the
convertible securities holders since their participation in dividends with common stockholders is limited to the
amount of the annual regular dividend. See further discussion of the GCEANS in note 8.

Emerging Accounting Matters

R ——

!
i

SOP 03-1

?
I d

In July 2003, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 03-1, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises
for Certain Non-Traditional Long-Duration Insurance Contracts and for Separate Accounts.” SOP 03-1
provides interpretive guidance on separate account presentation and valuation, accounting recognition for sales
inducements, and classification and valuation of long-duration contract liabilities. The provisions of SOP 03-1
are effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2003. The adoption of
SOP 03-1 will not have a material effect on net income or stockholders’ equity in 2004.
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The Company opcrates in a busmess envxronment which-is sub]ect to various risks and uncertamtles #
Such risks and uncertainties include interest rate risk, legal and regulatory changes and default risk. ’

__.; Interest rate risk is the potential for interest rates to change, which can cause fluctuations in the value of
= investments. To the extent that fluctuations in interest rates cause the duration of assets and liabilities to
P differ, the Company may have to sell assets prior to their maturity and realize losses. Interest rate exposure for
= the investment portfolio is managed through asset/liability management techniques which attempt to match

=
—= * the duration of the assets with the estimated duration of the habllmes The Company also utilizes denvatwe B
M=, . . ..... . -investment contracts to manage interest rate risk. S SR b e o RO R ) .

.
<

The potential also exists for changes in the legal or regulatory environment in which the Company
i - operates, which can create additional costs and expenses not anticipated by the Company in pricing its
— products. Such regulatory initiatives or new legal theories may create costs for the Company beyond those
recorded in the financial statements. The Company mitigates this risk by closely monitoring the regulatory
environment to anticipate changes and by using underwriting practices which identify and minimize the
potential adverse impact of this risk.

Credit risk is the risk that issuers of securities owned by the Company may default or be unable to repay
an investment obligation. Credit risk also includes other parties, such as reinsurers, who may not be able to pay
amounts due the Company. The Company attempts to minimize credit risk by adhering to a conservative
investment strategy, holding a well diversified portfolio of assets to minimize concentrations and maintaining
sound reinsurance and credit and collection policies.

t
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AMERUS GROUP CO. ' : —
NQTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Centinued) -
(2) CLOSED BLOCK
The Closed Block is presented on a pre-tax basis and accordingly does not include current or deferred \
taxes. Summarized financial information of the Closed Block as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and for
the years then ended is as follows:
2003 2002 2001
(8§ in thousands)
Change in policyowner dividend obligaticm:
Balance at beginning of year.............o i $ 118,623 § 61,486 § 24916
Impact on net income before income taxes ................... 8,345 (287) 1,820
Unrealized investment gains (losses) ............cvvinunnnan. 7,418 57,424 34,750 w
Balance at end of YEar. . .............cooeereineeinein., $ 134386 $ 118623 $ 61,486 -
Operations: v -
Tnsurance premiums . ...ttt ettt i $ 211,966 $ 265586 $§ 220,291
Product Charges . ...vcvn ettt e e e . 9,789 8,750 12,200
INet Investment INCOME . ..o vttt inens s 151,769 157,928 132,402 -
Realized/unrealized gains (losses) on investments ............. 9,326  (2,400) 8,29 . - .
Policyowner benefits ... ... R (251,872) - (284,821) (239,688) -
Underwriting, acquisition and other expenses.................. (4,114) (4,843) (5,958)

. Dividends to policyowners. ... (8_7,388) ‘ (95,443) (91,609) . .
Contribution from tHE’"Clos‘cd Block before income taxes. /... .. 7% 39476 % 44757 $ 36357 k¢
Maximum future eammgs {Tmm Ciosed Block assets and j ,\ R ) ‘“,‘ ¢ , .

liabilities: e p
Beginning of year........ P $ 669,744 § 715611 © $ 401,487 .
Pretax contribution from the Closed Block. ................... (39,476) (44,757) (36,357)
Federal income taxes and other items funded by the Closed N

BIOCK -ttt ... 54,143 .. 14,553 5,336 3
Acquisition of Closed Block and re]ated adjustment ...... e s — {15,663) 345 145 e -
Balance at end of YEar. .. ...........0.eviirieirseis. 'S 634411 S 669744 § 715611 i
Liabilities: .
Future life and annuity policy benefits ................. A $2,845,365  $2,840,041  $2,835,423 f__
Policyowner funds .......... ... oo i 9,232 4,400 4,656
Accrued expenses and other liabilities........................ 44,473 44,295 69,678 —
Dividends payable to policyowners...................... ..., 173,703 147,177 154,139 B
Policy and contract claims ... 22,694 10,390 8,843 S
Policyowner dividend obligation ................... . ... 134,386 118,623 61,486 .

Total Liabilities ........ ... v i 3,229,853 3,164,926 3,134,225 ——
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

|

2003 2002 2001
(S in thousands)
Assets:
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale at fair value ......... 2,027,177 1,970,659 1,829,060
Mortgage loans . . .. ..ottt e 80,170 90,872 105,501
Policy 10ams . .o oo e e R 346,823 354,784 363,981
Other investments ..............covvun. S — 1,047 4,653
Cash and cash equivalents ............. ... ... .. ... .ot 3,492 6,178 18,382
Accrued Investment INCOME . .. ...ouvt v eineeineineennns 32,629 30,726 32,396
Premiums and fees receivable ............... . ... .. oot 55,134 16,999 22,414
101 115 g 1oL =1 ¢ O PPN 17 23,917 41,827
Total ASSElS e e 2,545,442 2,495,182 2,418,614
Maximum future earnings to be recognized from assets and
- liabilities of the Closed Block . .. ... ... ... $ 684411 § 669,744 $§ 715,611

(3) INVESTMENTS

en l. i

Investment Assets

£

The Company’s‘investménts at December 31, 2003 and 2002, classified as securities available-for-sale,
are summarized as follows:

R . e
5. ;:‘;j el . 2603
3 ; S Z Gross, Gross v
= V.0 Amortized 5. unrealized unrealized
= cost . o gains . losses Fair value .
.- ($ in thousands)
— Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:
S Corporate bonds . ... .ovvviei e $ 9,041,015 $500,180 $ 57,809 $ 9,483,386
-3 U.S. government bonds ... .............oiiiin 484,829 17,131 1,653 500,307
: E State and political subdivisions................. 64,574 2,844 1,431 65,987
-2 Foreign government bonds . ............... . 1233605552 5474 . 291 .- 128,543
:-:; Asset-backed bonds .. ......... ... ... ..l 447,390 13,563 1,448 459,505
= Collateralized mortgage-backed securities........ 931,824 21,874 2,694 951,004
Mortgage-backed bonds .................. ..., 1,835,775 27,657 7,950 1,855,482
Indexed debt instruments ..................... 404,383 — R,258 396,125
Redeemable preferred stock ................... 141,752 1 37,131 104,622
Total fixed maturities available-for-sale........ $13,474,902 $588,724 $118,665 $13,944,961 |
Equity securities available-for-sale................ 72,796 2,468 374 74,850 —
- Short-term investments available-for-sale . ......... 27,882 675 1 28,556
e Total available-for-sale securities ............. $13,575,580  $591,867 $119,040 $14,048,407 -

alliedl “‘M l ; ]
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AMERUS GROUF CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) .

2002
Gross Gross
Amortized unrealized unrealized
cost gains losses Fair value

($ in thousands)
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:

Corporate bonds .. ....oooivirt i $ 8,111,585 $510,062 $133,461 § 8,488,186
U.S. government bonds . .............. e 638,103 28,392 421 666,074
State and political subdivisions. ................ 45,336 4,633 —_— 49,969
Foreign government bonds . ................... 236,601 9,831 3,157 243,275
Asset-backed bonds ....... ... ... . ... oLl 796,877 20,376 43,984 773,269
Collateralized mortgage-backed securities. . ... ... 639,236 36,760 365 675,631
Mortgage-backed bonds ............... ... ... 2,248,055 72,721 278 2,320,498
Redeemable preferred stock ................... 151,919 282 40,201 112,000
Total fixed maturities available-for-sale........ 12,867,712 683,057 221,867 13,328,902
Equity securities available-for-sale................ 62,602 1,163 420 63,345
Short-term investments available-for-sale . ......... 32,050 308 40 32,318
Total available-for-sale securities ............. $12,962,364  $684,528  $222,327 813,424,565
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investments in available-for-sale fixed maturity securities
at December 31, 2003, are summarized by stated maturity as follows: o i ..
L T e . . o ) i *  Amortized P
o 3 v cost Fair value

: = - ' ' : 7 (S in thousands)
Fixed maturities available-for-sale: ' h T :
T Due In 2004 . e $ 368996 $° 375,403

Duein2005-2009 ...t 3,408,594 3,637,022

Duein2010-2014 ... .. . ... .. . 4,667,741 4,824,264

Due after 20014 .. ot e e e 3,183,796 3,252,790
... Mortgage-backed-securities ... ... oL T e 1,835,775 1,855,482 v,

$13,474902  $13,944,961

The foregoing data is based on the stated maturities of the securities. Actual maturities will differ for
some securities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties.

The Company holds investments in indexed debt instruments (IDIs) in which the principal is initially
partially defeased by an obligation of a third party financial institution (institution) collateralized by
U.S. Treasuries which will accrete to 50% of the original principal amount of the IDIs at maturity, The
balance of the principal amount due at maturity is subject to a dynamic defeasance mechanism, which should
provide a return of the initial investment. The instruments issued by the institutions are linked to the
performance of a hedge fund or fund of funds. The annual income on these investments will be equal to the
quarterly distribution of the hedge fund or fund of funds plus the change in the present value of anticipated
distributions to be received at maturity and will be included in net investment income. Qver the life of the
IDIs, the income will be a function of the cumulative performance of the linked hedge fund or fund of funds
and the return on any defeased portion of the investment. The quarterly distribution paid, if any, reduces the
amount of future participation in the performance of the linked hedge fund or fund of funds. At maturity, the
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
' NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Company will take delivery of the referenced hedge fund interests and cash or U.S. Treasuries equal to the
portion of the instruments that have been defeased, the total of which should equal or exceed the instruments’
principal amount. The investment purpose of these instruments is to enable the Company to obtain the return
as if they had invested in hedge funds or fund of funds with dynamic principal protection. The instruments as
of December 31, 2003 carried an A rating or better by Fitch.

Included in equity securities available-for-sale is Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines
(FHLB) capital stock amounting to $58.1 million and $50.3 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. As a member of the FHLB, the Company is required to own the capital stock to utilize various
FHLB financing and other services.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, investments in fixed maturity securities with a carrying amount of
$39.6 million and $47.1 million, respectively, were on deposit with state insurance departments to satisfy
regulatory requirements.

At December 31, 2003, the Company held investments with Bear Stearns Company amounting to
$170.7 million and AG Deutsche Bank amounting to $159.8 million. The investments are primarily IDIs. At
December 31, 2002, no investment in any party exceeded 10% of stockholders’ equity.

The Company also participates in a securities lending program whereby certain fixed maturity securities
from the investment portfolio are loaned to other institutions for a short period of time. The Company receives
a fee in exchange for the loan of securities and requires initial collateral equal to 102 percent of the market
value of the loaned securities to be separately maintained. Securities with a market value of $154.6 million
were on loan under the program and the Company has cash collateral under its control of $158.8 million at

expenses and other habxhtxes K ﬁ

Othcr 1nvestments include 1nvestments which are camcd on the equity method of accounting. Distribu- -

tions from such equity method invesiments amounted to $1.5 million, $0.8 million and $3.1 million in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Major categories of investment income are summarized as follows:

- . ) L . . Years ended December 31,

T SRR Y EE-

O i DGRy 2062 2501
($ in thousands)
Fixed maturity securities ..............cooieinennnn. $ 874,185 § 880,112 3$760,670
Equity securities . ......c.ouiiii i 817 304 4,546
Mortgage Loans ......... ..o 74,739 77,592 64,723
Real estate . ... oiut e e i ieiia e 234 136 53
Policyloans ... i 30,473 31,170 29,004
0 1 1 1] 36,612 25,256 27,599
Gross Investment INCOME . . ... iiin e 1,017,060 1,014,570 886,595
Investment expenses . ........c.coiei i, 15,146 13,313 13,421
Net investment income ..ot vininiiannns. $1,001,914  $1,001,257 $873,174

- December 31, 2003. There were no securities on loan.at December 31, 2002. The collateral held under the .-
securities lending program has been included in cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated. balance: sheet .o
and the obligation to return the collateral upon the retum of the loaned securities has been mcluded in accrued -




AMERUS GROUP CQO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses)

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments and provisions for loan losses are summarized as
follows:
Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(3 in thousands)

Securities available-for-sale:
Fixed maturity securities

Grossrealized gains .............iiiii i $ 184,996 § 141,687 $ 52,101
Gross realized losses. ... .. e e (143,097)  (236,063)  (75,295)
Equity securities

Gross realized gains ............ . i 89 418 833
Gross realized 10SSES . ... .ottt 211) [(155) (12)
Other Investments . . ..ottt ittt (8,979) (12,474) (9,313)
Provision for 10an 108Ses .. ..ot e 8,723 1,877 1,106
Realized/unrealized gains/ (losses) on swaps .................... 3852 2,674 —
- Realized/unrealized gains/ (losses) on option assets....... e 59,098 - (42,942) _(54,186)
Realized/unrealized gains/ (losses) on available-for-sale securities .. 104,471 (144,978) - (84,766)
Realized/unrealized gains/ (losses} on held for trading securities. . .. 26,820 (4,941) (5,863)
o Total..iiaee e, e 8131091 TU(149919)  $(90,629)

" The unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on invested assets available-for-sale.is reporfed-as éseparate

" component of stockholders’ equity, reduced by adjustments to DAC, VOBA, future-life and annuity policy

benefits, and a provision for deferred income taxes. Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) attributable to the
Closed Block amounting to $108.9 million at December 31, 2003, $101.4 miilion at December 31, 2002 and
$44.0 million at December 31, 2001 has been included in dividends payable to policyowners.

A summary of the components of the net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on invested assets
carried at fair value and other components of accumulated other comprehensive income is as follows:
T e - - s Ilfecé‘mﬂ;en‘ '-35";‘: R
2003 2002
{$ in thousands)

Unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
Securities available-for-sale:

Fixed maturity SeCUMItes . . ...ttt it it et et e $ 470,059 § 461,190

Equity SeCUmties . .. ..ottt e e 2,094 743

Short-term INVESTMENTS « .« v v ettt oo e et aee s e et eeans 674 268
Other investments .. ...ttt i 496 (3,538)
DAC and VOBA .. .ottt e e e (223,121)  (216,973)
Policy reserves and policyowner funds......... ... .0 i (1,109) 1,402
Minimum pension liability adjustment ........... ... ... o i (10,468) (5,475)
Policyowner dividend obligation ............ ... ..o i (108,860)  (101,441)
Deferred INCOmME 1aKeS . .. vttt et ittt e e e e e (45,246) (47,654)

$ 84,5519 § 88,522
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The change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturity securities was an increase of
$8.9 million, an increase of $325.0 million and an increase of $158.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively; the corresponding amounts for equity securities was an increase of
$1.4 million, an increase of $0.4 million and a decrease of $0.3 million, respectively.

The following table shows gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by investment category and
length of time the individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, at December 31, 2003:

Unrealized Loss as a Percentage of Market Value

December 31, 2003
($ in millions)
Less than 7 months 7-12 months More than 12 months Total

Gross Gross Gross Gross
. Fair unrealized Fair unrealized Fair unrealized Fair unreslized

Total Temporarily Impeaired Securities: value loss value loss value foss value loss
Corporate bonds ............... $1,6183 § 313 $2755 & 158 81180 $ 106 S$2,011.8 § 577
U.S. government bonds ......... 156.5 1.7 0.4 — — — 156.9 1.7
State and political subdivisions . . . 18.8 1.4 — — — — 18.8 {4
Foreign government bonds....... 51.2 0.3 — — 1.3 — 525 0.3
Asset-backed bonds ............ 74.1 0.5 4.6 — 18.5 1.0 97.2 1.5
CMBS ....... e 2219 2.7 — -, - — 2279 2.7
Mortgage-backed bonds ......... 598.1° 52 1358 27 0.2 — 731 7.9
Indexed Debt Instruments....... 240.9 37 1576 4.6 — — 398.5 8.3
Redeemable preferred stock ... .. - - - — — 1046 37.1 194.6 EIN!
. Equity securities AFS - - 0.8 . 0K2 . 03 0,2 11 . 504
" Short-term investments AFS..... 7 37 = = & 8 — 37 . —
Total........... NUVUTETITS 5298957 5 468 $5747 3 233 $2429 5 489 $3807.0 § 1190

Less then 7 months 7-12 months More thar 12 months ' Total

Gress Grass Gross Gross
Fair uarealized Fair unrealized Fair unrealized Fair unrealized

Less Than 20% Underwater: value loss value loss value loss value loss
Corporate bonds ............... $1,6183 § 313 §$2755 $§ 158 $1098 $ B2 $2,0036 $ 553
“-U.S. government bonds ......... . 156.5 o, - 13,7 047 37 T = 156.9 1.7
State and political subdivisions . . . 18.8 1.4 — —_ - —_ 18.8 1.4
Foreign government bonds....... 51.2 0.3 — —_ 1.3 — 52.5 0.3
Asset-backed bonds ............ 74.1 0.5 4.6 — 18.5 1.0 97.2 1.5
CMBS ... 227.9 2.7 —_ —_— — — 2279 2.7
Mortgage-backed bonds .. ....... 598.1 52 1358 27 0.2 — 734.1 7.9
indexed Debt Instruments....... 240.9 37 157.6 4.6 — — 398.5 8.3
Equity securities AFS .......... — — 0.8 0.2 - — 0.8 0.2
Short-term investments AFS..... 3.7 — — — — — 3.7 —

$2,989.5 § 468

$574.7

$3,6940 S 79.3
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Uarealized Loss as a Percentage of Market Value

December 31, 2
($ in millions)
Less than 7 months 7-12 months More than 12 months Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Fair unrealized [Fair unrealized Fair unrealized Fair unrealized
20%-50% Underwater: value loss value loss value loss velue loss
Corporate bonds .......... e $ — 8% — 8% — § — § 82 % 24 % 82 § 24
Redeemable preferred stock ... .. —_ — — — 1046 371 104.6 371
Equity securities AFS .......... \ — — —_ 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2
Total....oo o $ — 3 —-_— § — 3 — S$113.1-$§ 397 § 1131 § 397

There were no available-for-sale securities that were more than 50% underwater at December 31, 2003.

The evaluation of other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) for fixed income securities follows a three-
step process of 1) screen and identify; 2) assess and document; 3) recommend and approve. In identifying
potential OTTI’s, all securities that have a fair value less than 80% of amortized cost are screened. In addition,
we monitor securities for general credit issues that have been identified and included on a watch list which
may resuit in the potential impairment list including other securities that have a fair value at or greater than
80% of amortized cost. For asset backed securities, an impairment loss is established if the fair value of the
security is less than amortized costs and there is an adverse change in esnmated cash flows from the cash flows.
prekusly prolected

than temporary. Management makes certain dssumpnons or Judgmem“s;zm its assessmcnt of potennallyg
1mpa1red securities mc)udmg but not limited to:. 5 b :

B
Y 18

=y o [ndustry charactenstlcs and trends, company to mdustry profile, quality oﬁ management
> Financial conditions and trends including strength of balance sheét and financial liquidity
o Significant events affecting the company and/or industry

o Viability of the business model incorporating an evaluation of default probability and associated
recoverablc value :

ey e o . L arw o

S N N - i e E O

° Length of time the fair value was below 80% of amortized cost
= Ability and intent to retain the investment to maturity or for a sufficient period of time for it to recover

If the determination is that the security is OTTL, it is written down to fair value. This is reviewed and
approved by senior management. The difference between amortized cost and fair value is charged to net
income.

As of December 31, 2003, we have recorded impairments on twelve issuers of investments which were
considered to be OTT! amounting to $21.0 million.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company had investments in variable interest entities as described by FIN 46 as of December 31,
2002, most of which were sold in 2003. The following is a description of those interests for which the Company
would have been considered primary beneficiary as well as those for which the Company would not have been
the primary beneficiary. If an enterprise is considered to be a primary beneficiary, the variable interest entity
would be consolidated upon adoption of FIN 46. During 2003, most of the investments for which the
Company would have been considered a primary beneficiary were redeemed.
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Interests as Primary Beneficiary

The Company held investments in trusts that contained a limited partnership interest and either
U.S. treasury strips or Aaa/AAA rated corporate strips as of December 31, 2002, The purpose of these entities
was to enable the Company to invest in limited partnerships in a defeased form. The investments were made
between 1998 and 2001. The Company’s carrying value of these fixed income investments was $463.9 million
at December 31, 2002. The total assets of the entities at that date were $472.1 million. In addition to the
Company's interests, there were $8.2 million of minority interests. The holders of those minority interests had
no recourse against the Company. No Company assets were used to collateralize any obligations. The
Company’s maximum exposure to loss at December 31, 2002, was its carrying value of the investment. At
December 31, 2003, an investment in a limited partnership, for which the Company provides indirect
management functions to a non-registered investment company that invests in convertible securities, has been
consolidated rather than carried as an equity method investment resulting in an increase in total assets,
primarily fixed maturity securities, and total liabilities, in other liabilities, of $21.1 million and no change in
stockholders’ equity or net income. There is no recourse to the Company by creditors of the partnership.

The Company issued a $250 million collateralized bond obligation (CBO) in 1996 and 1997 and held
interests in several of the tranches, most of which were held in trusts along with U.S. treasury strips. The
purpose of the CBO was to securitize high yield bonds and earn a spread over the cost of the funds from the
different tranches issued. The collateral for this transaction was high yield and emerging markets debt. The
outstanding balance of all tranches was $203.3 million at December 31, 2002, of which third parties held
$146.1 million. These third parties- had no recourse against the Company. The total value of the CBO assets
was $220.0 million at December 31, 2002. The total carrying value of the Company’s interests was

... $60.7 million at December 31, 2002, The face amount of these treasury strips exceeded the total carrying (...
- value;of the Company;s interests. The. remaining assets did not collaterahze any obligation other than the

tranches of the CBO. ;The CBO was, 11qu1datcd in 2003. ’ ’ F R »«:

v

e oy
& £

}z’mereszs Not as Pv-mfary Beneﬁcmzy

The Company holds residual interests in structures that contain first and second lien residential
mortgages. The purpose of these structures is to provide a form of financing for the lender. The investments
were made in 1999, 2000 and 2001. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the total assets of these structures are
$168.6 million and $291.6 million, respectively. The Company’s maximum exposure -to loss is its carrying
value of the residual interests, whxch was $9 2 rmlllon and $22.1 million at. December 31, 2003 and 2002
respectively. '

The Company held an investment in a limited partnership which was formed to construct multifamily
housing. The investment was made in 2001 and terminated in 2003. As of December 31, 2002, the total assets
of the partnership were approximately $45 million. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss was the
carrying value of its asset which amounted to $10.4 million at December 31, 2002.
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(4) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

§ The Company’s outstanding derivative positions shown in notional or contract amounts, along with their
+ carrying value and estimated fair values, are summarized as follows:
December 31, 2003
Netional Carrying
amount value Fair value
{$ in thousands)
INEETEST FATE SWAPS - « oot te et s ettt e e $ 616,500 $ 3,166 $ 3,166
Credit default swaps ... 150,000 399 599
OPIONS ..o e 1,836,783 134,942 134,942
$2,603,283  $138,707 $138,707
December 31, 2062
Notional Carrying
ameonmt value Fair value
($ in thousands)
Interest rate SWaps....ovviiveeerevinnneennns PP $ 849,000 § (5,571) $ (5571)
Credit default swaps ........... P cee- 145,000 (231) (231)
Options ........oovvviiiinn. e .. 1,161,653 65,753 65,753
$2,155,653 $ 59,951 - § 59,951
o . - B . R . ) . ) =
o .~ The following table shows the maturities of derivative products as of December 31, 2003: . . 5
Maturity Schedule by i’éar for Derivat{%e Products
- 2004 2085 2006 . 2007 2008 2009 - 2010 201t 2012 2613
(8§ in thousands) -
Interest rate swaps: _
= Notional amount ... .. $ 177500 3 — § — $187000 § — § — $ — § — $252000 § —
'f: Weighted average: C
] Receive rate (A) ..... 3.504%  3379% 3379%  3.379% - — —_ - 3.495%  —
e ... Payrate (B) ........ 2687%.  3313%  3313%  3313% 0 —  — =l 3895%. —
*es o7 Credit default swaps: ' . S ER L e I
—;,... Notional amount ..... $§ 80,000 § 40000 § — §$20,000 $10000 § — § — & — % - —
e Weighted average: i .
- Receive rate (C)..... 0.660% 0.600% 0.460% 0.480%  0.440% — — - — —
Options:
. Notional amount . .. .. $1,282,546 $438,324 $16,720 $ 10,706 $ 6,997 §5905 §19,420 $22,263 § 24204 $9,698 Erey

st (A) The actual variable rates in the agreements are based on a constant maturity treasury (CMT) plus a
__: spread and one-month LIBOR and the table assumes that such rates will remain constant at
== December 31, 2003, levels. To the extent that actual rates change, the variable interest rate information
= will change accordingly.

(B) The actual rates in the agreements are either fixed or based on three-month LIBOR and the table
assumes that such rate will remain constant at December 31, 2003 levels. To the extent that actual rates
change, the variable interest rate information will change accordingly.

(C) The actual rates in the agreements are fixed based on the amount of risk assumed at the time of the i
transaction.
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The Company has equity-indexed life and annuity products that guarantee the return of principal to the
customer and credit interest based on certain indices, primarily the Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Stock
Price Index® (S&P 500 Index). A portion of the premiuni from each customer is invested in investment grade
fixed income securities and is intended to cover the minimum guaranteed value due the customer at the end of
the term. A portion of the premium is used to purchase call options to hedge the growth in interest credited to
the customer as a direct result of increases in the related indices. The amounts to be paid or received pursuant
to these agreements are accrued and recognized in income over the life of the agreements. Both call options
held by the Company and the options embedded in the policy, which the Company has designated as a natural
hedge, are valued at fair value. The change in fair value for the call options is included in realized/unrealized
gains (losses) on investments and the change in fair value of the embedded options is included in policyowner
benefits in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company has certain products that credit interest based on a total return strategy. Under the total
return strategy, the policyowner is allowed to allocate their premium payments to different asset classes within
the Company’s general account assets to which the selected strategy is linked, less certain charges. The total
return adjustment is paid when a policyowner accesses the funds. The Company gnarantees a minimum return
of premium plus approximately 3% interest per annum over the life of the contract. The general account assets
backing the total return strategy of these products are fixed marturity securities and are designated by the
Company as held for trading. Both the trading securities held by the Company and the product contracts are
valued at fair value. The change in fair value for the trading securities is included in realized/unrealized gains
(losses) on investments and the change in fair value of the contracts 1s included in policyowner benefits in the
consolidated statements of income.

To manage interest rate risk, the Company entered into interest rate. swaps that effectively fixed the,
interest. payments of.a floating rate funding agreement liability andrether interest swaps that,hedged markets; -
risk from fixed income securities. These interest rate swap agreements were accounted for-as cash flow and fairs -
value hedges, respecuvely Generally credit default swaps are coupled with a bond to synthetxcally crcate an: o
investment cheaper than the equivalent instrument traded in the cash market. e

The Company documents its hedge relationships, including 1dent1ﬁcatxon of the hedging instruments and
the hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge
transaction. Free standing derivatives are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value in other
investments and option derivatives embedded in equity-indexed products are marked to fair value and

classified in the consolidated balance sheets as “policy reserves and policyowner funds.” This process mcludesw;... s
" linking derivati¥es that are destgnatcd as hedges of specific assets, liabilities, firm commitments or forecasted "

transactions. The Company also formally assesses at inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions, other than natural hedges, are highly effective in offsetting
changes in either the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. When a determination is made that a
derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting for the
derivative.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, realized/unrealized gains (losses) on investments included an unrealized
gain of $62.9 million, an unrealized loss of $40.0 million and an unrealized loss of $54.2 million, respectively,
from the change in fair value on call options used as a natural hedge of embedded options within equity-
indexed products. Additionally, an unrealized gain has been recognized amounting to $26.8 million, an
unrealized loss of $5.2 million and an unrealized loss of $5.9 million for 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively,
from the change in fair value on the trading securities backing the total return strategy products. Policyowner
benefits included an offsetting adjustment to (increase) reduce contract liabilities for fair value changes in
options embedded within the equity-indexed products and fair value changes on total return strategy annuity
contracts of ($65.7) million, $28.8 million and $52.7 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In addition,
basis swaps were terminated during 2001 and an increase in fair value of $1.8 million on those swaps were
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included in net investment income. AOCI included an unrealized gain of $2.5 million, an unrealized gain of
$3.4 million and an unrealized loss of $5.9 million from the fair value change in interest rate swaps used to
hedge the floating rate funding agreement liability during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In 2002, the
Company undesignated a cash flow hedge and is now amortizing the amount in AOCI to earnings over the
remaining life of the swap, which amounted to $3.8 million and $4.4 million expense in 2003 and 2002,
respectively, from the fair value change in interest rate swaps used to hedge the floating rate funding
agreement liability. The Company estimates that $0.6 million after-tax of derivative losses included in AQOCI
will be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months. The ineffectiveness of the interest rate swap
cash flow hedge was not considered significant for 2001, 2002 or 2003.

The following table summarizes the income (loss) impact of the market value adjustment on trading
securities and derivatives and the cash flow hedge amortization:

Year Ended December 31, 2003
Total Return Equity Linked

Products Products Other Teotal
(8 in thousands) :
Fixed maturity securities held for trading ............ $ 24,593 $ — $ 2227 § 26,820
OPtIONS ..o i e e — 58,711 4,238 62,949
Equity-indexed and total return strategy liabilities . . . .. (17,894) (50,454) 2,607 (65,741)
Cash flow hedge amortization.................. e — - (3,827) (3.827)
DAC amortization impact of net adjustments above . .. 751 (4,563) {3,231) (7,043)
_ Pre-tax total T s . 1450 3,694 2014 13,158
Income taxes......... S coel. (2,607) . (1,293) . (705) . (4,605) -

After-tax total

. § 4843 $ 2401  $ 1309 $ 8553

Year Ended December 31, 2002
Total Return  Equity Linked

Products Products Other Total
(§ in thousands)
Fixed maturity securities held for trading ............ $ (4,349) $ — $ (841) § (5,190)
. Options ..... st e e e T aak42,693) 2,674 (40,019)
Equity-indexed and total_return strategy liabilities ... .. (10,816}~ 39,595 (20) 28,759 .
Cash flow hedge amortization...................... — —_ (4,351) (4,351)
DAC amortization impact of net adjustments above . .. (789) (1,418) 488 (1,719)
Pre-taxtotal ........oioiiniiiniin i, (15,954) (4,516) (2,050)  (22,520)
Incometaxes........co it e 5,584 1,581 717 7,882
After-tax total .. ... ... e $(10,370) § (2,935)  §(1,333) $(14,638)
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Year Ended December 31, 2001
Total Return  Equity Linked

Products Products Other Total
($ in thousands)

Fixed maturity securities held for trading ............ $ (6,113) b — $ 250 § (5,863)
OpHONS ... — (54,186) — (54,186)
Equity-indexed and total return strategy liabilities . . . . . (1,353) 54,100 — 52,747
DAC amortization impact of net adjustments above . . . — {1,664) — {1,664)

Pre-tax total ... ... ... i (7.,466) (1,750) 250 (8,966)
INCOME taXES . . v v e e s e e e 2,613 612 (&) 3,138

After-tax total . ......... .. $ (4,853) $ (1,138) $ 163 8 (5823) ;

Initially, upon adoption of the new derivative accounting requirements, and prospectively, on the date a
derivative contract is entered into, the Company designates the derivative as either (1) a hedge of a
recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment (a fair value hedge), (2) a hedge of a
forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or
liability (a cash flow hedge)}, or (3) a natural hedging instrument whose change in fair value is recognized to
act as an economic hedge against changes in the values of the hedged item and which does not meet the
‘accounting hedge criteria for SFAS 133 (a natural hedge).. K :

For fair value hedges, both the effective and ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the
derivative, along with the gain or loss on the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk, are recorded
“* in earnings and reported net in the consolidated statements of incom&. The effective poition of the changes in

" % the fair valug of a derivative that is-designated ds a“cash floWw hedgeals recorded in ACCI. When the'hedged .
i cash transaction is realized, the gain or loss included i in AOCI is reported net in the consohdated statements of
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" value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are reported in net mvestment income in the consolidated
statements of income. For derivatives designated as a natural hedge changes in fair value are classified as
realized/unrealized gains (losses) on investments in the consolidated statement of income.

E The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Derivatives Implementation Group issued DIG Issue B36
i which applies to modified coinsurance and coinsurance with funds withheld arrangements where interest is
_’”;—i . determined by referenice.to a pool of fixed maturity‘dssets or a total return debt index. Such-arrangement§innid 3 ~
_,E " which funds are withheld by the ceding insurer cause the reinsurer to recognize a receivable from the ceding
s insurer as well as a liability representing reserves for the insurance coverage assumed under the reinsurance
= arrangements. The terms of the ceding company’s payable provide for the future payment of principal plus a
P rate of return on either its general account assets or a specified block of those assets which is typically
«:_T.E composed of fixed-rate debt securities. DIG Issue B36 considers the payable from the ceding company to

contain an embedded derivative that must be bifurcated and accounted for separately under SFAS 133. We
— adopted DIG [ssue B36 on October 1, 2003, which included establishing an embedded derivative liability of
$6.5 million and the reclassification of certain securities supporting the products being reinsured from
available-~for-sale to held for trading. The net cumulative effect of the change in accounting for DIG Issue B36
was a decrease of $2.0 million ($1.3 million after-tax) in net income and a decrease of $5.2 million in
accumulated other comprehensive income (ACCI), net of tax. The basic and diluted earnings per common
share for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting for derivatives in accordance with DIG Issue B36
amounted to $0.03 for 2003.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 133 which requires that all derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, be reported on the balance
sheet at fair value. Accounting for gains and losses resulting from changes in the values of derivatives is
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

dependent upon the use of the derivative and its qualification for special hedge accounting. In accordance with
the provisions of SFAS 133, the Company recorded a transition adjustment as of January 1, 200! upon
adoption of the standard to recognize its derivative instruments at fair value resulting in a pre-tax reduction to
income of $12.4 million ($8.2 million after-tax) and an increase to AOCI of $2.7 million, net of tax. The basic
and diluted earnings per common share for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting for derivatives
amounted to $0.22 for 2001. The reduction to income, which is classified as a “cumulative effect of change in
accounting for derivatives, net of tax’ in the consolidated statements of income, is attributable to losses on
basis swaps that were natural hedges and losses on interest rate swaps reclassified from AOCI that have been
redesignated as cash flow hedges of a floating rate funding agreement liability effective January 1, 2001. In
addition, the reduction to income includes adjustments to fair value for options being used as natural hedges of
embedded options contained within equity-indexed life and annuity products. The increase in AQCI, which is
classified as “change in accounting for derivatives” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, is
attributable to the reclassification of the interest rate swap’s fair value adjustment from AOCI to the
consolidated statements of income.

(8) MORTGAGE LOANS

Mortgage loans consisted of the following:

December 31,
2003 2002
(% in thousands)

Single-family real estate .......... ... i $122,486 §$ 1,671 -
Multx -family real estate. . .......... St LT 76,151 63,805 "¢
* Commiercial real estatd .......... LR TR 778338 - 831,607 LB

Commercial 7...... ’ e .::?"7. R ©1,247 - 1,324 7.

T 975222 898,407
Allowance for credit 10SSES . . ..o vrtvne ettt e (6,650)  (15,373)

$968,572  $883,034

The Company manages its credit risk associated with these loans by diversifying its mortgage portfolio by

_property tyfie and geographic location and by seeking favorable loan: to value: ratios on secured properties. At

December 31, 2003, the states with the highest concentration of mortgage loans were Texas, Florida, Ohio and
California with principal balances of $129.7 million, $114.5 million, $87.5 million and $83.3 million,
respectively.

The amounts the Company will ultimately realize from these loans could differ materially from their
carrying values because of future developments affecting the underlying collateral or the borrower’s ability to
repay the loans and leases. As of December 31, 2003, there were no material commitments to lend additional
funds to customers whose loans were classified as nonaccrual or restructured.

No mortgage loan on any one individual property exceeded $9.0 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002.
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Provisions for losses are summarized as follows:
Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
. ($ in thousangds)
Balance at beginning of year ......... ... $15,373 817,250 315,671
Charge offs, net of recoveries ........... ... ... i, — — (3,690)
Acquired during the year . ....... ... i i e — — 6,375
ProviSION fOr J0S8ES + v vttt ittt e e (8,723) (1,877) (1,106)
Balance atend of year ... ... .ot i e e e $ 6,650 $15,373 317,250

Write downs on loans sold or transferred to real estate fluctuate between periods in relation to foreclosure
activity and the related underlying collateral values.

(6) DEFERRED POLICY ACQUISITION COSTS
A summary of the policy acquisition costs deferred and amortized are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

" 2603 2002 2001
- - ($ in thousands)
Balance at beginning of vear............... e $ 983,445 $672,690 $404,143
Policy acquisition costs deferred............. U D, . 391,583 © 389,035 318,653
A ' Policy acquisition costs amortized .. 11, A PR ¢ § T 040) (67,698)  (49,379)
S o :’Reclasmﬁcatxon of deferred VOBA expensc IR f.'?' .......... EE - (10 582) C e
] " “'Amortization of cumulanve effect of change m accountmg for R S
— B derivatives : ey = — (727)
— TTUT1,255988 983,445 672,690
il Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities ................... (135,858) (99,206)  (30,010)
= Balance at end of Year. .......oueiiiitiiiii $1,120,130  $884,239  $642,680
L reg BT g S0y UpnEs o T ki ‘ v e ten WIS LI e TR IR E 7T s
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NQTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ (Centinued)

(7) YALUE OF BUSINESS ACQUIRED

A summary of VOBA established and amortized is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(8 in thousands)
Balance at beginning of the year............... ... it $571,926  $614,028  $479,695
VOBA established during the year ..............coo it 9,219 19,183 6,422
Amortization of VOBA asset. ..........oviiiiiiteniiiiiiniins, (74,300)  (71,867)  (83,520)
Amortization of cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives .................. e — — (400)
Acquired during the year . ... ... ... . it — — 211,831
Reclassification from deferred DAC expense ...................... — 10,582 —
506,845 571,926 614,028
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities..................... (87,263) (117,767)  (30,199)
Balance atend of year . ... e $419,582  $454,159  $583,829

Amortization is recognized in proportion to expected future gross profits over a 20 year period and is

based on the average interest crediting rates which range from 3.07% to 7.00% for 2003 and over the next five
years. Interest accrued on the unamortized VOBA amounted to $30.8 million, $32.1 million and $28.5 million

in 2003,:2002 and 2001,;respectively, which is netted with the VOBA amorti;ation expense.

The estimated amottization for in force business for the next five iyears is as follows ($ in<thousands):

$56,437 o+
52,912
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(8) NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable consist of the following:

December 31,
2003 2002
(8 in thousands)

Optionally Convertible Equity-linked Accreting Notes due on March 6, 2032(A) .. $187,723  $186,233

PRIDES notes(B) . ...ttt e 143,750 _
Senior notes bearing interest at 6.95% due June 2005. . ........ .. ... ... 125,000 125,000
AmerUs Capital 1 8.85% Capital Securities Series A due February 1, 2027(C) ... 50,755 48,095
Revolving credit agreement due December 2007 (D) ...t 27,000 113,000
Surplus notes bearing interest at 8.66% due on April 11, 2011(E) ............... 25,000 25,000

Federal Home Loan Bank community investment long-term and short-term
advances with a weighted average interest rate of 3.04% at December 31, 2003
and 6.37% at December 3, 2002 maturing at various dates through

June 12, 20020 ) L. o e e 36,873 13,871
AmerUs Capital II 7.00% Quarterly Income Preferred Securities due
July 27, 2003 oo e e — 154

$596,101  $511,353 °

(A) On March 6, 2002, the Company issued $185 million aggregate original principal amount of OCEANS.
The OCEANS are senior subordinated debt and wére issued and- Sold in ‘an original principal améunt of
$1,000 per OCEAN, with a principal amount®at matunty of $1,270 per OCEAN. The miaturity date of-
the OCEANSs is March 6, 2032, The OCEANs:will have aggrégate principal amount at maturity of .
$235 million. The notes are convertible into shares of the Companys common stock at an initial::
conversion price (subject to adjustment) of $37.60 per share only if the sale price of the common stock
exceeds $47.85 per share for at least 20 trading days in a 30-day trading period or in certain other limited
circumstances. The yield on the QCEANs (without taking into account contingent interest) is
3.83% per annum compounded semiannually through March 6, 2007 and 2.28% per annum compounded
semiannually from March 6, 2007 through maturity. A portion of the yield is paid semiannually at a rate

. of 2.00% per annum on the issue price. The difference between%he yield and.the interest paid is accreted..o-
to the OCEANSs principal. In addition, contingent interest will be" paid quarterly based on the regular
cash dividend on the Company’s common stock. The Company has agreed, with certain limited
exceptions, not to declare or pay dividends on or make distributions with respect to the Company’s
capital stock during any peried in which the stated interest on the OCEANSs has been deferred.

(B) On May 28, 2003, the Company issued $125.0 million of PRIDES which were registered on Form S-3
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Gn June 5, 2003, the underwriters exercised their
over-allotment option in full and the Company issued an additional $18.8 million of PRIDES. The
PRIDES initially consist of a $25 senior note and a contract requiring the holder to purchase the
Company’s common stock. The note has a minimum term of 4.75 years, which may be extended by the
Company in certain circumstances. The PRIDES have quarterly payments of interest at an annual rate
of 5.5% and quarterly contract adjustment payments at an annual rate of 0.75%, both payable on
February 16, May 16, August 16, and November 16 of each year, commencing August 16, 2003, Under
the purchase contract, holders of each contract are required to purchase the Company’s common stock
on the settlement date of August 16, 2006 based on a specified settlement rate, which will vary according
to the applicable market value of the Company’s common stock at the settlement date. The value of the
common stock to be issued upon settlement of each purchase contract will not exceed $25, the stated
value of the PRIDES, unless the applicable market value of the Company’s common stock (which is
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Countinued)

measured by the common stock price over a 20-day trading day period) increases to more than
$33.80 per share. The present value of the contract adjustment payment, amounting to $2.9 million, has
been reflected as an other liability with a corresponding charge to additional paid-in capital. Subsequent
contract adjustment payments will be allocated between the liability and interest expense based on a
constant rate over the life of the PRIDES. Expenses incurred with the offering were allocated between
the senior notes and the purchase contracts. The expenses allocated to the senior notes, amounting to
$0.8 million, have been capitalized and will be recognized as interest expense over the term of the notes.
The expenses allocated to the purchase contracts, totaling $4.4 million, was charged to additional paid-in
capital. The Company has agreed, with certain limited exceptions, not to declare or pay dividends on or
make distributions with respect to the Company’s capital stock during any period in which the contract
adjustment payments to holders have been deferred.

The Capital Securities were issued through a wholly-owned subsidiary trust, AmerUs Capital I. The sole
asset of the trust is the junior subordinated debentures of the Company in the principal amount of
$88.66 million with interest at 8.85% maturing February 1, 2027. The Company has fully and
unconditionally guaranteed the obligation of the trust under the Capital Securities and is obligated to
mandatorily redeem the securities on February 1, 2027. The Company may prepay the securities at
anytime after February 1, 2007. On March 26, 2002, $20.8 million of the Capital Securities were
repurchased which did not result in a material gain. Dividends on capital stock cannot be paid until all
accrued interest on the Capital Securities has been paid. AmerUs Capital 1 is a finance subsidiary which
was deconsolidated in accordance with FIN 46 in 2003, as the securities holders are considered the
pn'mary beneficiaries rather than AmerUs Group Co. The deconsolidation of AmerUs Capital I resulted
in an increase in total assets and total liabilities of $2 7 rrulhon and no change in stockholders’.equity or
net 1ncome

,2’:. : . 3 R (1—
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The rcvolvmg credlt agrccmcnt provxdes for a maxxmum borrowmg of $200 million with the ‘balance
maturing in Dccember 2007. The interest rate is variable; however, itie Company may elect; to fix the -

rate for periods from 30 days to six months. The loan agreement contams various financial and opcranng
covenants which, among other things, limit future indebtedness and restrict the amount of future
dividend payments.

Payment of interest and principal on the surplus note, may only be paid from ILIC’s earnings, subject to
approval by the Indiana Department of Insurance.

(F) The Company hase,multlplc credit arrangements with theFederal Home Loan Bank (FHLB). The .oy pupse MA.“ .

carfrying value of the securities pledged to the FHLB under all -agreements was $38.7 million at
December 31, 2003.

Maturities of notes payable are as follows for each of the next five years is as follows (§ in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2004 L e $ 24,103
2005 L e e 125,606
2006 . e e 647
2007 e 27,690
2008 .. e e 144,487
Thereafter .............. P 273,568
$596,101
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() INCOME TAXES
Comprehensive federal income tax expense (benefit) is summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(8 in thousands)

Income tax expense (benefit)

Continuing OPerations . .. ... vttt et treet it i $78,610 $28,375  §39,522
Other comprehensive income ... i 647 40,844 14,645
Cumulative effect of change in accounting .............. [T (698) — 4,202
Discontinued operations . ... .......vvrrier it rne e 1,238 1,389 859

$79,797  $70,608  $59,228

The effective income tax rate on pre-tax income varies from the prevailing corporate federal income tax
rate and is summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Corporate federal income tax rate

Acquisitions costs and reorganization expenses

.........................

Net benefit of tax credits

............................................

35.00% - 35.00% - 35.00%
~ * 0.53% 0.64%
— (0.19%) (1.59%)

- Im 231%

Goodwill'amortization ......%. " SO . g 5
L (0.80%)  (042%)  (1:23%)

“Dividend-received deduction ."..

| Tax exempt income ......... .. C(2.14%)  (5.37%) - (2:50%)
Other items, net .......... P E DR 0.80% _2.28%  0.42%
Effective tax Tate . ... v e e e e 32.86% 31.83% 33.11%

The Company’s federal income tax expense (benefit) from continuihg operations is summarized as
follows: ..

T Years ended December 31,

o st SRR 2063 2002 2081
(8 in thousands)
UM . o vttt et et e e e e e $11,841 $41,938 $43,661
DEIEITed . . ..ttt e 66,769  (13,583)  (4,139)
Total inCOmE 1aX EXPENSE . .« v\t v vt vttt eiie e iite e einneeens s $78,610 $28,375 $39,522
F-36
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T The significant components of net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are summarized as follows:

: December 31,

’ 2603 2002 -

RERHR

(8 in thousands) -
Deferred income tax assets: b

= Policy reserves, policyowner funds and dividends.................... e $728,015 $699,964 -
o DAC and VOBA related to unrealized appreciation on available-for-sale :1
securities and investments reflected in AOCIL. . ...... ... ..o it 78,092 75,941
Employee benefits and deferred compensation................cooievinn... 26,202 22,024
Credit CaITYOVET . o oottt ittt et et e ittt e e et s 62,738 58,607
i 1121 A RN 5,989 21,063
~ ) Total gross deferred income tax asset ........ ... .ol 901,036 877,599
Valuation aOWanCe . . ... vttt et it e 15,773 15,773

|
|

= 885263 861,826
Deferred income tax liabilities:

i

= DAC ........ PRI S (333321)  (246,214) i

- Net unrealized appreciation on available-for-sale securities and investments

= reflectedin AOCL ........................... F (123,339)  (123,595) -

= 4 VOBA ot . (178,204)  (200,175)

= Reinsurance receivables............ SR i EI .. (246,979) ¢ (265,856) =

— S 7 Other invested asséts ... ©.. .. ... ..l . 5oL LA .o (55.872) % (36,800) ___

. Others.........ovun.s PP SRR SRR e o _(28,409) _(5,685) |

= Total gross deferred income tax Hability ... .....0¢.oovesoerrrenenn. . .. (966,124 = (878,325) 5
Net deferred income tax asset (Hability) .. ... .....ureeerrernrnnnn.. L. $(80,861)  $(16,499) e

The Company is required to establish a “valuation allowance” for any portion of the deferred tax asset
that management believes will not be realized. A valuation allowance has been established at December 31,
2003-and-2002 for-certain credit carryovers which may not be realized. . . e B AT At

Federal income tax returns for the Company for years through 1996 are closed to further assessment of
taxes. The internal Revenue Service is examining federal income tax returns of the Company for 1997 through
2001. Management believes adequate provisions have been made for any additional taxes which may become
due with respect to open years.

(10) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
. Defined Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan which covered substantially all of the Company’s
— employees. The plan provided for benefits based upon years of service and the employee’s compensation. The ,
_— Company froze the plan effective December 31, 1995. Effective January 1, 1996, the plan was replaced by a -
- defined contribution savings and retirement plan which also replaced the Company’s defined contribution -
prapes pension plans.

In addition, ILICO had a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan, which generally covered ail
qualified employees that had attained the age of twenty-one. Benefits were based on years of service and
compensation levels during employment. All plan assets consisted primarily of deposit administration funds

TR
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and group annuity contracts held by ILICO. The Company froze the plan effective December 31, 2001 and
merged this plan into the Company’s defined benefit pension plan. Effective January 1, 2002, the plan
participants are included in the Company’s defined contribution savings and retirement plan.

The Company also has nonqualified defined benefit pension plans to provide supplemental retirement
benefits to certain agents and executives. The measurement date for all defined benefit plans is December 31.
The Company expects to contribute $0.6 million for the defined benefit plans in 2004. The defined benefit
plans’ funded status, reconciled to amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

L bbbt el di |

December 31,
a— 2003 2002
(3 in thousands)

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ....... ... . oo i $ 79,913 $ 78,619
SErVICE COSt. .. e e — —_
Interest COSt ..o i e 5178 5,368
AcCtuanal J08S . ... . . e e e 5,604 1,131
Settlements and termination benefits. ........ ... i 1,570 —
Actual benefits paid . ... ... e e (5,354) (5,205)
Benefit obligation atend of year ...... ... ... i $ 86,911 $ 79913
- Change in plan assets:
b Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year. e :: ........... - § 61,713 $ 68,550
7 Actual return on plan assets . ... ... v el 2. S 5523 3,766+
E Companycontnbunon..‘....~......4...'...................3...;.; ...... 2 633 602
o Benefits paid and APANSFELS « v v ot et e et et e R - (5,354) - (5,203)
: :“"“:_;_':-' Fair value of plan assets at end of year. ....... ... ... .o vt $ 68.515 3 67,713
___% Reconciliation of funded status
;_J Accumulated benefit obligation ....... ... i $(86,911)  $(79,913)
;3 Projected benefit. obligation. .- 2.t ivsair s ST L b $(86.911) $(79913).. - = g
= Market value of Planm SSe1s ... ......vveereeees e 68,515 67,713 '
= FURAEd STATUS . ..o vttt e e et e e (18,396) (12,200)
t;é Unrecognized transition obligation.......... ... it (4) (5) .
- Unrecognized prior SETVICE COSE . ..o\ttt er et eet et i eie e 415 391
= Unrecognized net 108S ... viviii i e 10,488 5,547
:,E Prepaid (accrued) benefitcost..... ... $ (7,497) $ (6,267) -
F-38 3
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) g%
December 31, —k
2003 2002 -
($ in thousands) %
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of: -
Liabilities -
Accrued Pension COSt. .. ... .. u ittt e e $ (9,385) S (7,762) =
Additional minimum lability ........... ... (10,899) (5,932)
Assets
Prepaid pension COSt . ......iiii ittt e e 1,888 1,495
Intangible @sset. . ... vuut it e e e 431 457
Accumulated other comprehensive income. . ........ .o ciii e 10,468 5,475 -
Net prepaid (accrued) pension COSt .........oveirerrevievrineanenns $ (7,497) $ (6,267) '
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine obligations at December 31: -
DASCOUNT TALE . ot i ettt e e e e e 6.00% 6.50%
Expected return on plan assets. ... ..o vee it e 7.50% 7.50%
Rate of compensation increase . ... ... o i i N/A N/A (,
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for v
fiscal year: - : =
Discountrate .................. e e 6.50% 6.50% P
Expected return on plan assets....<..... R L T 1.50% 7.50% '
" Rate of compensation increase .......... e SEEE U #...... . N/A + ~ N/Ab —
C - £ Years ended December 31, ‘
: - 2603 2002 2001
($ in thousends)
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
SEIVICE COSt oottt e e $ — & — 81,035
Interest cost...oov v, e e e e e e 5,178 5,368 4,154
. A_;w::f_gxpcq,t_qd,:fcmm on plan assets . ... ... PR L [(4,905) 1“}(4,9.3&) . (,4,064) s
Amortization of transition obligation ............... T Ty W (1)
Amortization of prior service cost .. ... ... i (24) (49) (49)
Amortization of actuarial loss .. ..............oiii it 44 39 —
Net periodic benefit cost ... $ 292 $§ 423 $1,075 -
SettlemEnt COSt . o\ ittt e 1,570 — — ""”
TOtAl EXPENSE. . .o vttt r et e e $ 1,862 § 423 $1,075 [~

Three of the defined benefit pension plans, with liabilities of $9.4 million, do not have separate plan
assets. The frozen pension plan, which has a prepaid benefit cost of $1.9 million at December 31, 2003 has
plan assets,

The expected return on plan assets is determined based on long-term investment yields effective at the
valuation date. The Moody’s Aa bond rate, for example, is used as a benchmark to determine a rate of return.

Past rate assumptions are compared to historical experience to identify potential adjustments to the estimated
return. v
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The objectives of the plan assets are to provide adequate returns for inflation protection and to meet
future increases in benefit payments that are expected to occur as additional participants reach eligibility to
draw benefits. These long-term liabilities are funded through a mix of bonds and equity securities. The fair
value of plan assets at December 31, 2003 is as follows:

($ in thousands) % of total

il L sl bl i o )

[ BTN

= Corporate bonds ... $54,958 80.2%
— EQUILY SECUTIHES « . .o vttt ettt e e e 8,441 12.3%
ﬁ Cash and cash eqUIVAIERIS .. .. .ottt et e e e e e 4,357 6.4%

‘Z: Accrued InvesStmMent INCOME. .. ...ttt it i i et e et ans 759 1.1%
”:J_“; Benefit obligation atend of year.......... ... ... i e $68,515 100.0%

|

fi

Defined Contribution Pension Plans

LI L

The Company has a defined contribution savings and retirement plan. Company contributions are non-
discretionary and consist of a matching contribution of an amount equal to 125 percent of the first 4 percent of
employee contributions and an annual core contribution of an amount equal to 4 percent of annual employee
compensation. The Company uses a combination of cash and Company common stock for the annual
contribution. The shares for this purpose are provided by the Company’s Employee Stock Ownership Plan
(ESOP). Compensation expense for the employer match and annual centribution amounted to $5.4 million,
$5.3 million and $4.2 million, including $1.6 million, $1.3 million and $09 million of ESOP compensation
expense, in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

tidshlni.m:;ud!ﬂ;iumhhihl

Py )

In addition, ILICO had a defined. contnbutlon savings plang %ﬂompany contributions: were. non-
discretionary and consisted of a matching contribution equal to 50 percent of the first 3 percent: of employec .
contributions. This plan was merged in the Company’s defined contribiition savings and retirement plafi as of -
October 1, 2001; however, certain provisions of the plan remained m effect through Deceémber 31, 2001.
Compensation expense for the employer match amounted to $0.3 million in 2001.

L L

i

imh
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Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan

The Company has a leveraged ESCP. The shares of the ESOP are-used to fund a portion of the annual
core contribution savings and retirement plan: The ESOP was originally sponsored by AmVestors, an acquiredy = =i o §
subsidiary of the Company The ESOP acquired AmVestors stock, which was subsequently exchanged for the
Company’s stock, through the proceeds of a note payable to American, a subsidiary of AmVestors. The note

-y was repaid in December 2002. During 2002, the ESOP purchased 80,000 shares of the Company’s stock which o

e was funded by an employer loan from the Company. i
=% The Company accounts for its ESOP in accordance with Statement of Position 93-6. Accordingly, as

“__it_': unallocated shares are allocated, compensation expense, or a reduction in the annual defined contribution

: savings and retirement plan liability, is reported equal ta the current market price of the shares, and the shares .
— become outstanding for earnings-per-share (EPS) computations. ESOP compensation expense was $1.6 mil- -

lion, $1.3 million and $0.9 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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The ESQOP shares were as follows:
Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Allocated shares ...........co i, 293,278 259,671 211,987
Unallocated shares ..., e — 45,773 12,912
Total ESOP shares . ... 293,278 305,444 224,899
Fair market value of unallocated shares (in thousands) ... § — $ 1,294 § 463

Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company has deferred compensation plans covering certain agents, directors and officers in addition
to the defined benefit plans previously described. Accumulated benefits of these plans are unfunded and are
included in other liabilities at December 31, 2003 and 2002, amounting to $76.0 million and $75.5 million,
respectively. Total deferred compensation plan expense for these plans amounted to $12.7 million, $6.5 million
and $9.3 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,

Postretirement Benefit Pﬂms

The Company has postrenrement benefit plans wh1ch provide eligible participants and dependents with -
certain medical, dental and life insurance benefits. The medical and dental plans are contributory with

participants’ contributions adjusted annually The life insurance benefits are noncontributory. The Company .

expects to contnbutc $1.6 mllllon to ~the postretirement benefit plans in 2004. The plans’ _obligations and
funded status using a measurement date of December 31 reconcﬂed to amounts. recogmzcd in the
consolidated ﬁnancxal statemcnts are as follows:

December 31,
2093 2002
{$ in thousands)

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at begmmng ofyear ............... e § 16,239 $ 14,698
= Setvide cost.. .. T e st T L UTRED RUT L T 2837 3457
Interest cost ............ e 1,021 1,087
Plan participants’ contributions ......... ... ... .. . 469 332
Actuarial (gain) 1oss ... .. e 1,270 2,153

Curtaillments . .. ...ovv e e N — {796)
Actual benefits paid .. ... e e (1,635) (1,580)
Benefit obligation at end of year ..... ... ... ... i i § 17,647 $ 16,239
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year............................. $ — $ —_
Company contribution . . ... ... e e 1,166 1,248
Plan participant contribution. . ...... .. .. e 469 332
Benefits paid . ... oo e e (1,635) (1,580)

Fair value of plan assets atend of year................................ $ — $ —

.....
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December 31,
2003 2002
{3 in thousands)

Reconciliation of funded status:

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ,.............. ... ... ... $(17,647) $(16,239)
Market value of plan assets ..... e e e e — —
Funded Statis . . ..o .o ittt ittt et $(17,647) $(16,239)
Unrecognized Prior SEIVICE COST . . uvuuvi ittt aeatreeeenennn 454 518
Unrecognized net (Zain) . ...covnnr it i 2,293 1,022
Accrued benefit COSt . ... ... e e $(14,900) $(14,699)

Weighted-average assumptions for year end obligation determination as of
December 31:

Discountrate ........... ... iiiiiinn.L. N 6.00% 6.50%
Initial weighted health care cost trend rate ............................ 12.00% 10.40%
Ultimate health care cost trend rate ............ ... coiviiieenien.... 5.00% 5.00%
Yearstoulfimate trend ... ..o ovii i i e e e e 7 9
Weighted-average assumptions for expense determination;for fiscal year: :
Discountrate ..........coovuivniiinnn. e e 6.50% 7.00%
Initial weighted health care cost trend rate 10.40% 11.00%
Ultimate health care cost trend rate ........... " : 5.00% -5.00%
Years to ultimate trend ... .......0 .. ... S T S P10
- ‘ ’ ) ' . Years ended December 31,
B U o 2003 2062 2601
¥ “ (8 in thousands)
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
S ETVICE COS. . o\ttt ittt ettt e e e e e e $ 283 § 345 3204
J 653 (=T T -3 (N 1,021 1,087 792
Amortization of prior service cost ........ PRPR e 64 63 53
“Afnottization of net (2ain) .............oeriei.... T A e (0]
Net periodic benefit Cost......ouurriirei e i $1,368  $1,495  $988

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care
plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects in 2003:

1% Point 1% Point

Increase {Decrease)

($ in thousands)
Effect on total of service and interest cost components. ..............covuvven... § 56.2 $ (50.9)
Effect of postretirement benefit obligation ............. ..o, $944.1 $(841.7)

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (Act)
was signed into law. In accordance with FASB Staff Position {FSP) No. FAS 106-1, the Company has
elected to defer recognition of the effects, if any, of the Act in its disclosures as of December 31, 2003 as the
Company has not yet determined the impact, if any, on its plan. Specific authoritative guidance regarding
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recognition of the effects is pending. According to the FSP, that guidance, when issued, could require the
Company to change previously reported information.

(i1) REINSURANCE

The Company has indemnity reinsurance agreements with various companies whereby life insurance in
excess of its retention limits is reinsured. The Company’s retention of the net amount at risk is generally
between $150,000 and $500,000. Insurance in force ceded to nonaffiliated companies under risk sharing
arrangements at December 31, 2003 and 2002, totaled approximately $63.7 billion and $59.7 billion,
respectively. The Company has entered into modified coinsurance arrangements to cede between 70% and
80% of certain annuity products. Under this arrangement, the Company transfers the risks and rewards of the
business to the assuming company; however, the ceding company retains the assets and liabilities associated
with the business.

Net premiums and amounts earned were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2601
N . (8 in thousands) -
Direct premiums and amounts assessed against policyholders. .. ... ... $377,588  $419,503  $373,421
Reinsurance assumed ...t e e 45,854 49,544 .26,351
Reinsurance ceded e SO e (126,254)  (117,747) - (93,867)

Net premlums and amounts earned ... .... ST ST S $297,188:3 $351,300 . $§OS,905%§

B

Reinsurance recoveries on ceded reinsurance contracts were $222.1 million, $134.2 million and $98 4 mll-":

hon during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

(12) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

At Deccmber 31, 2003, the Company is obligated..to make future. capital contributions te' various
partnershxps of up to $1.3 million: Iri addition, at Decembér31, 2003, the Company had loan guarantees which -
totaled approximately $1.3 million.

The Company has an agreement with Bank One, N.A. whereby the Company guarantees the payment of
loans made to certain of the Company’s managers and executives for the purpose of purchasing Common
Stock pursuant to the Stock Purchase Program. The liability of the Company in respect of the principal
amount of loans is limited to $3.3 million as of December 31, 2003, which is due to be repaid in March 2004.
The Company has also guaranteed interest and all other fees and obligations owing on the loans. Each
participant in the program has agreed to repay the Company for any amounts paid by the Company under the
guarantee in accordance with a reimbursement agreement entered into between the participant and the
Company.

AmerUs and its joint venture partner are contingently liable in the event Ameritas Variable Life
Insurance Company (AVLIC) cannot meet its obligations. At December 31, 2003, AVLIC had statutory
assets of $2,379 million, liabilities of $2,282 million, and surplus of $97 million.

The Company leases office space under various operating leases with terms through 2007. Rental expense
for operating leases amounted to $5.4 million, $5.3 million and $4.8 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
respectively. At December 31, 2003, future minimum annual lease commitments under these non-cancelable
operating leases were as follows ($ in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2004 L e e $ 6,131
2005 e e 5,596
2000 .. e e 3,029
2007 L e e 2,465
2008 . e e 872
Thereafter ... . o i e e 570
$18,663

In recent years, the life insurance industry, including the Company and its subsidiaries, have been subject
to an increase in litigation pursued on behalf of purported classes of insurance purchasers, questioning the
conduct of insurers in the marketing of their products. The Company is routinely involved in litigation and
other proceedings, including class actions, reinsurance claims and regulatory proceedings, arising in the
ordinary course of its business. Some of these claims and legal actions are in jurisdictions where juries are
gwen substantial latitude in assessing damages, including punitive damages. Although no assurances can be
given and no determinations can be made at this time, the Company beheves that the ultimate liability, if any,
with respect to these claims and legal actlons would have no material effect on its results of operations and
financial position.

(13) STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Generally, the stockholders’ equity of the Company s msurancc sub51d1anes avaﬂable for distribution to
the Company is limited to the amounts that the insurance submdzanes ‘net assets, as determined in accordance
with statutory accounting practices, exceed minimum statutory capltal requirements; however, payments of
such amounts as dividends may be subject to approval by regulatory authorities. In 2004, the Company’s
insurance subsidiaries can distribute approximately $78 million in the form of dividends to the Company
without prior approval of such regulatory authorities.

N I sy B . L me e v s amas LT

The Company has four stock incentive plans authorizing the issuance of incentive and non-qualified stock
options to employees, officers and non-employee directors of the Company. The Company has reserved
4,650,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance under these plans.

~ In conjunction with the acquisition of AmVestors, the Company has two additional plans in which no . ..
additional shares may be granted. They are a non-qualified stock option plan and.an incentive stock option- - - -

plan.

The date of grant and the term of the option may not be longer than ten years. The 2003 stock incentive
plan, which has 1,500,000 of Common Stock reserved, provides for a five-year vesting schedule with one-fifth
of the options granted vesting at the end of each of the five years. Generally, the remaining option plans have a
three-year vesting schedule with one-third of the options granted vesting at the end of each of the three years.
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1] A summary of the Company’s stock option plan follows:
”:,— Years Ended December 31,
£ 2003 002 2001
- Weighted Weighted Weighted
t average average average i
- Number of exercise Number of exercise Number of exercise -
= shares price shares price shares price ..
“: Outstanding, beginning of year .... 2,735,363  $27.64 2,370,134  $24.64 1,942,054  $22.65 —
Granted at market price. ......... 531,082 27.03 626,086 37.95 776,250 31.73 B
Exercised ..............ovuunne (131,065} 17.10 (151,501) 22.87 (169,778)  24.99 '
Forfeited....................... (610) 32.26  (109,356)  26.90 (178,392)  33.66
QCutstanding, end of year ......... 3,134,770 $27.91 2,735,363 $27.64 2,370,134 $24.64
Exercisable, end of year.......... 2,159,777 $26.48 1,859,471 $24.99 1,329,557 $23.35
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under the Company’s option i
e plan as of December 31, 2003: ‘3
= Optiens Cutstanding . .
e ‘ . Weighted  Weighted -
= " Range . Remeining -¢  average average -
of exercise options contractual exercise il
prices outstanding - fife in years price -
— ETSIL9B - 81596 . Lo 2329460 10 $15.63 —
o $1597-819.95 . an e ER £209,4305% 23 1904 7 -
< 81996482394 . i T 724656 0 58 2056 —
= - $2395-827.93...7 L J 864,082 67 27.25 .
b $27.94 - $31.92 .. 599,268 6.8 30.20 -
= $31.93 - $35.91 Lot e 141,286 7.4 35.10 -
o $35.92 - 839.90 . . ..ttt 563,102 7.9 38.09
) _ 3,134770 64 $27.91
;‘: The following table summarizes information about stock options exercisable under the Company’s option :““
N plan as of December 31, 2003: i
E Options Exercisable ,T"'
B ‘ Weighted -
| Range ' average I
of exercise Options exercise -]
prices exercisable price N
1108 - 15,06 . e e 32,946  $15.63
15,97 - 810005 i e 209,430 19.14
B10.06 - §23.04 L e e e 724,656 20.56
' 823,95 - 327,03 L e e e 379,500 27.83
;- 827,04 - 8310 e e 455,442 30.28
i B31.93 - $35.01 L e 74,667 35.48
L $35.92 - $39.90 L .ottt e e 283,136 38.05

2,159,777  $26.48

F-45




AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25 and related Interpretations in accounting
for its stock option plans for employees, officers and non-employee directors. Accordingly, no compensation
expense has been recognized for its option plans. See note 1 for pro forma information if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123,

For pro forma purposes, the fair value of options granted was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes pricing model with an expected life equal to the contractual expiration and the following
weighted average assumptions:

2003 2802 2001
Expected VOIatility . . ... oottt 3400% 32.00% 32.00%
Risk-free Interest Rate............ ..o i i 4.31% 53%%  5.36%
Dividend Yield ... ... i e 1.48% 1.06% 1.27%
Weighted average fair value of options granted. .................... .. ... $11.43  $17.57 $14.33

Non-vested Stock

The Company has awarded common stock to eligible employees and non-employee directors under the
two stock incentive plans. The plans have restriction periods of one to five years tied to employment and/or .
service. The awards were recorded at the market value on the date of the grant as unearned compensation
since common shares were legally issued on that date. The initial values of these grants are amortized over the

restriction periods, net of forfeitures.

Non-vested stgick andf__c)mpcnsaét;ion expense information is as tﬁllows: o R a
) . v Yea‘é?Ended December 31, -
2003 s 2002 2001 =
Weighted & Weighted Weighted
Number .  average Number average Number average
of exercise of exercise of exercise
shares price shares price shares price
QCutstanding, beginning of year......... 31,927 $33.51 51,635  $29.36 30,835  $24.35
Granted at market gsxjce .............. 36,110 27.39 13,149 33.70 34,803 3378 .
B RPN saBmsen . o - P . PR g
"Exercised ......... e R - {10,663)  33.15 = (23:8S57) 24,66 (14,003) 29.32 -
Forfeited ............cccoi .. —_ — (9,000) 33.45 — —
Cutstanding, end of year.............. 57,374 $29.72 31,927 $33.51 51,635  $29.36
Compensation expense ($ in thousands) $ 521 § 554 $ 648

Steck Appreciation Rights

As part of the stock incentive plans for employees and non-employees, the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors is authorized to grant stock appreciation rights (“SARs"”)
to non-employees. Issuance of SARs is made at the sole discretion of the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The terms and conditions under this plan are the same as
under the employee stock incentive plans.

F-46




AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The Company’s SARs are summarized as follows: -
Years Ended December 31, ]

2003 2002 2001
Number  Weighted =~ Number  Weighted  Number Weighed S
of average of average of average
shares value shares value shares value
QOutstanding, beginning of year............ 46,400 $27.28 39,233 $24.58 25,000 §22.22
Granted at market price ................. 16,000 27.80 12,000 35.30 16,900 27.77
Exercised ........oiiiiii i (7,833) 21.80 (2,833) 22.06 (1,668) 22.73
Forfeited ............ ... i — — (2,000) 29.85 (999) 22.67
Qutstanding, end of year................. 54,567 $28.20 46,400 $27.28 39,233 $24.58 }
Compensation expense ($ in thousands) ... $ 166 $ (140) $ 179

MIP Deferral ' o

The Company has a MIP deferral plan under which eligible employees can elect to defer their year-end
cash bonuses. The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors determines
each year the maximum amount of deferral and percentage of match by the Company. Employees ‘can defer
up to 100% of incentive payments received (50% for bonuses received prior-to May 10, 2001). Participant ' :
deferrals are 50% matched by the Company up to a maximum match of $10,000 in 2003 and a maximum e
match of $20,000 in 2002 and 2001. The total deferrals, including pammpant deferrals and Company match, - [~
.. have a restriction period of three years during which the. deferrals cannot be pald out except for,certam I TR
¥ specified events. _ - ve S

“.

Prior t0.2003, dcferralsfand match amounts were valued based on ‘the fair \}:alue of a share of the
Company’s common stock and at settlement were paid in cash. Beginnirg in 2003, deferrals and match
amounts are used'to purchase units equal in value to a share of the Company’s common stock. Shares of
common stock are distributed at the end of the restriction period. At December 31, 2003, the value of the - -
vested and partially vested units outstanding amounted to $0.7 million which is included in uneamed
compensation in stockholders™ equity in the consolidated balance sheet.

NS5 vy

Stock Warrants T o cTaewk TR

In conjunction with the acquisition of AmVestors, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase
shares of the Company’s Common Stock. The warrants were exercisable at $24.42 per share and expired on
April 2, 2002. The Company’s stock warrant activity is summarized as follows:

e Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001
Warrants outstanding, beginning of year.............. . oo 347,262 473,596
EXErcise of WarTamts. o o oottt et sttt e e e (344,154)  (126,334)
Forfeiture of WaITANTS . ...ttt ie e iee ettt et een e (3,108) —
Warrants outstanding, end of year . .......... ..o i — 347,262
g Compensation expense ($ in thousands)........ccviiiii it nnieann... $ — § - -
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NOTES TC CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {(Ceontinued)

(14) STATUTORY ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries had statutory net income of approximately $60 million for 2003,
statutory net loss of $30 million for 2002 and statutory net loss of $7 million for 2001. The Company’s
insurance subsidiaries’ statutory surplus and capital was approximately $828 million and $797 millicn at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The minimum capital and surplus requirements are met in all the
states in which the insurance subsidiaries are domiciled.

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are domiciled in Indiana, Iowa, Kansas and New York and
prepare their statutory-basis financial statements in accordance with accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by those respective state insurance departments. The National Association of Insurance Commis-
sioners (NAIC) has codified statutory accounting practices which have been adopted without exception by
the states in which the insurance subsidiaries are domiciled and which constitute the only source of prescribed
statutory accounting practices. Codification was effective January 1, 2001 and changed prescribed statutory
accounting practices and resulted in changes to the accounting practices insurance enterprises used to prepare
statutory financial statements. The impact of adopting Codification was an increase to statutory surplus of
approximately $25 million, excluding ILICO.

The respectlve insurance departments impose minimum risk-based capital (RBC) requirements on
insurance enterpnses that were developed by the NAIC. The formulas for determining the amount of RBC
specify various weighting factors that are applied to financial balances or various levels of activity based on the
perceived degree of risk. Regulatory compliance is determined by a ratio of the enterprise’s regulatory total

adjusted capital, to its authorized control level RBC.: The life insurance subsxdlanes exceed the authorized

control level RBC requ1rements e . e R} R

{15y ACQIUIISHTIONS S S : - i

On May 18, 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of ILICO for an amount of cash, policy
credits and shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the value of 9.3 million shares of the Company's
common stock. The purchase price totaled a value of approximately $326 million. The acquisition was
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and accordingly the total purchase price was allocated
to the-assets:and liabilities of ILICO based on the relative fair.values-as-of May 18, 2001, with-the.excess of
the purchase -price over the fair value of the assets acquucd less thé fair value of the liabilities assumed
recorded as goodwill. The operations of ILICO for the period subsequent to May 18, 2001 have been included
in the consolidated statement of income of the Company.

Demutualization costs for the ILICO demutualization of $1.0 million have been included in expenses in
2001. These costs consisted primarily of legal, actuarial and consulting expenses associated with the
Company’s and ILICO’s demutualizations. As a requirement of ILIC’s demutualization, the Company
undertook a commission-free program under which shareholders with less than one hundred shares were
permitted to redeem those shares for cash or purchase additional shares, commission-free, to reach a holding
of at least one hundred shares. The 2002 costs amounting to $1.2 million were primarily for commissions,
postage and printing under this program.,

On March 28, 2001, ALIC acquired an additional 5% ownership interest in AMAL Corporation
(AMAL) for $7.2 million increasing its ownership to 39%. During 2002, AVLIC made additional contribu-
tions to AMAL which diluted ALIC’s ownership percentage in AMAL to 34%. In December 2002, both

Ameritas and ALIC contributed additional cash, amounting to $5 million by ALIC, which maintained
ALIC’s 34% ownership.
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(26) RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the third quarter of 2001, the Company began consolidating various functions in connection with
a restructuring of its protection products and accumulation products operations and investment activities. The
objective of the restructuring plan was to eliminate duplicative functions for all business units and to reduce
ongoing costs. Corporate administrative functions were transitioned so they are performed primarily in Des
Moines, lIowa. Protection products administration processes were transitioned so they are performed primarily
in Des Moines; Woodbury, New York; or outsourced. Accumulation products functions were transitioned so
they are primarily performed in Topeka, Kansas. Investment activities were restructured to eliminate certain
real estate management services which have been outsourced.

The Company listed its office building located in Indianapolis, Indiana, with a real estate broker in 2003,
and the Company substantially vacated this location as a result of staff reductions. In addition, the Company
moved those employees who are going to continue to work in Indianapolis to a new location. The Company
determined that the plan of sale criteria in SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets,” had been meet. Accordingly, the carrying value of the building was adjusted to its fair value
less costs to sell, amounting to $15.5 million, which was based upon comparable properties recently marketed
in Indianapolis. The resuiting $7.7 million pre-tax impairment loss was recorded as restructuring cost in the
consolidated statement of income in 2003, The carrying value of the building that is held for sale is inciuded in
the other assets line item of the consolidated balance shegt and is an asset of the protection products segment.

During 2003, the Company initiated and executed a restructuring plan to merge one of its subsidiaries, IL

- Annuity, into its parent, ILIC. The merger was effective -June 30, 2003 and total restructuring costs associated
with thi§ plan amounted to $2.5 million pre-tax,; which primarily consisted of Iegal accountlng, and prmtmg

-costs and the write off of $2.2 million of insurance hcenses - _ SN & ,

Restructuring charges have been included as a separate 1tem«in the consolidated statement of income and
include severance and termination benefits associated with the elimination of approximately 10 positions, 240
positions and 80 positions in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The other costs in 2003 primarily related to the
impairment loss on the Indianapolis office building, expenses associated with the merger of IL Annuity into
ILIC, and systems conversion costs. Other costs in 2002 and 2001 primarily consisted of systems conversion
and relocation of employees. Charges for all restructuring activities were completed in 2003. A summary of
the pre-tax structunng cha.rges are as follows:

- cez

T d‘u by ‘ o, . Accmmﬂ at gy e Paymem‘s e ;,Accmnﬂ‘aft T
December 31, - 2603 Other and December 31,
2002 Charge Adjustments  Write-downs 2003
(S in thousands)
Severance and termination benefits. . ... $5,133 $ 3,494 $(486) $ (5,342) $2,799
Other costs. . ..ooviiieineininnenn.. 1,012 20,332 (46) (20,084) 1,214
$6,145 $23,826 $(532) $(25,426) $4,013
Accrual at Accrual at
December 31, 2002 Other Cash December 31,
2001 Charge Adjustments Payments 2002
($ in thousands)
Severance and termination benefits .. . ... $2,065 $ 9,869 $(342) $ (6,459) $5,133
Othercosts . .........coooiiiin it 36 11,936 (238) (10,722) 1,012

32,101 $21,805 $(580) $(17,181) $6,145

-
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accrual at Accrual at
December 31, 2001 GCther Cash December 31,
2000 Charge Adjustments  Payments 2001
($ in thousands)
Severance and termination benefits. ... .... $— 36,717 $— $(4,652) $2,065
Othercosts.......coovviiiiniiiinnnn,. - 1,849 — ( 1,813) 36
$— $8,566 $— $(6,465)  $2,101

(i7) ADOPTION CF SFAS 142

SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” changed the accounting for goodwill and other
intangible assets and became effective January 1, 2002. SFAS 142 adopts a nonamortization, impairment-only
model for the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. This includes a more stringent
impairment test methodology for measuring and recognizing impairment losses. The Company accordingly
discontinued amortization of goodwill on January 1, 2002. As of December 31, 2003, goodwill of $35.5 million
is in the protection products segment and $188.6 million is in the accumulation products segment. The only
intangible asset other than goodwill is VOBA, which is being amortized and amounted to a gross carrying
amount of $847.2 million and accumulated amortization of $340.4 million at December 31, 2003. Goodwill
changed from $219.0 million at December 31, 2002 to $224.1 million at December 31, 2003 primarily due to
contingent acquisition costs associated with an independent marketing organization of approximately $5.1 mil-
lion. The Company evaluated the transitional impairment analysis-for goodwill and othef intangible assets and
determined such assets were not impaired as of January 1, 2002. In_addition, the Company has completed its
annual impairment analysis for goodwill and other 1ntangxble assets as of October 1, 2002.and 2003, with.no
impairment indicated. ; . ; ; ;

A reconciliation of net income and basic and dlluted earmngs per share reported for 2001 to exclude

amortization expense of goodwill is as follows: : , - e N

For The Years Ended December 31,

2093 2002 . 2601

($ in thousands, except share data)
Netincome asreported . ... ...ttt i $161,147 $62,866 $72,907
Goodwill amortization expense .............................. P — — 8,324

- Adjusted net’ income T L *W e $161,147-- . $62,866 ° 7”3:-81‘,2:"3;};;‘-13""7‘1 e
Basic earnings per share asreported. ............ oo $ 41t $ 157 § 197
Goodwill amortization eXpense ... ... .t e — — 0.23
Adjusted basic earnings pershare ... ...t i, $ 411 § 157 § 220
Diluted earnings per share asreported .. ...l $§ 407 $ 136 § 1.95
Goodwill amortization eXpense ..........c.viiiiin i — — 0.22
Adjusted diluted eamnings pershare ...............ooiiii .. $ 407 % 15 § 217
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{18) EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

For The Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Number of Per Share Number of Per Share Number of Per Share
Net Income  Shares Amount Net Income  Shares Amount  Net Income  Shares Amount

(3 in thousands, except share data)

Basic EPS

Net Income from
Continuing
Operations . ........ $160,628 39,176 $4.10 $60,782 39,972 $1.52  §79,855 36,949 $2.16

Effect of dilutive
securities

Options .. ............ — 370 (0.04) — 404 (0.02) — 395 (0.02)
PRIDES............. - 72 (0.01) — — - - — _

Warrants. . ........... - — — — 2 — - 109 (0.01)
Diluted EPS ........... $160,628 39,618 $4.05 $60,782 40,398 $1.50 $79,855 317,453 $2.13

(19) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine the fair values of the -
Company’s financial instruments. The fair values for all other assets and liabilities have been reported at their -
carrying amounts. The-aggregate fair value amounts presented-herein do not represent the underlyingsvalue of =~
the Company and, accordingly, care should be exercised in deriving conclusions about the Company’ s‘busmesy 3
or financial condmon based on the fair value.information. presented ' o

Valuation Methods gxtmdl Assmmpcﬁoms : » ‘ .

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, pohcy Ioans and other mveszmems the carrymg
. T.,«.

Fixed maturities and equity securities: fair values for bonds are based on quoted market prices or dealer
quotes. If a quoted market price is not available, fair value is estimated using values obtained from
independent pricing services or, in the case of private placements, are estimated by discounting expected
future cash flows using a current market rate applicable to the yield, credit quality, and maturity of the
investments. The fair values for preferred and common stocks are based on quoted market prices.

Morigage loans: for all performing fixed interest rate loans, the estimated net cash flows to maturity
were discounted to derive an estimated market value. The discount rate used was based on the individual
loan’s remaining weighted average life and a basis point spread based on the market conditions for the type of
loan and credit quality. These spreads were over the United States Treasury yield curve as of each respective
year end. Performing variable rate commercial loans and residential loans were valued at the current
cutstanding balance. Loans which have been restructured, in foreclosure or significantly delinquent were
valued primarily at the lower of the estimated net cash flows to maturity discounted at a market rate of interest
or the current outstanding principal balance.

Derivative instruments:  fair values for derivative securities are based on broker prices or internal models
using current assumptions and are classified as other investments or policy reserves.
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Policy reserves: fair values of the Company’s liabilities under contracts not involving significant
mortality or morbidity risks (primarily annuities) are stated at the cost the Company would incur to
extinguish the liability (i.e., the cash surrender value). The fair values for insurance contracts other than
investment-type contracts are not required to be disclosed.

Notes payable: fair values for notes payable are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on
the Company’s current incremental borrowing rate for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Separate account assets and liabilities: fair values of separate account assets and liabilities are based on
the carrying values of the underlying funds.

The estimated fair values of the Company’s significant financial instruments are as follows:

December 31,
2003 2002

Carrying _Estimated fair Carrying Estimated {air
amount value amount vaiue

($ in thousands)

Finaacial assets:
Securities available-for-sale:

Fixed maturity securities............... $13,944,961  $13,944,961 $13,328902 $13,328,902
Equity securities. .................... 74,890 ~74,890 © 63,345 63,345
Short-term investments . ........ oo 28,556 28,556 32,318 32,318
Securities held for trading purposes: -
Fixed maturity securities ..... a0 8T 2,089,502 2:089;502 1,84"34,868 1,843,868
Equity sécurities.."..... FRRTC A 1,652 7,852 R
“°  Short-term investments ................ L 591 £57591 B —
_“Mortgage loans. .......... SO 968,372 1,034,373 883,034 - 978,291
POlCY IOANS . .o 494,646 “494,646 496,753 496,753
Other investments (excluding derivatives) .. 200,729 200,729 223,843 223,843
Derivatives:
Interest rate swaps . .................. . 3,166 3,166 (5,571) (5,571)
i v Credit default swaps ......... RIS 599 s 399 s (23B)recir gen(281) -
OPHONS . e - 134,942 134,942 65,753 65,753
Cash and cash equivalents ............... 274,150 274,150 102,612 102,612
Separate account assets.................. 261,657 261,657 235,913 235,913
Financial liabilities:
Policy reserves for annuities .............. $11,715,783  $10,893,778  $11,942,022  $11,259,523
Notes payable. .................... ... 596,101 481,998 511,353 404,344
Separate account liabilities . .............. 261,657 261,657 235,913 235,913

(20) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In November 2003, the Company entered into an agreement to sell a wholly-owned subsidiary which
conducts residential financing operations. The assets, liabilities and results of the residential financing
operations have been classified as discontinued operations. The sale was completed in January 2004, resulting
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in an after-tax gain of approximately $3.9 million to be recognized in 2004. Operating income from
discontinued operations was as follows ($ in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 :
(8 in thousands) =

Operating income from discontinued operations, net of income -
taxes of $1,238, $1,389 and $859, respectively ............ $ 1815 8 2,084 § 1,288 —
Net income from discontinued operations per common share: —
Basic ... 3 005 3% 005 § 0.03 —
Diluted ... . e $ 005 § 006 $ 0.03 -
Weighted average common shares outstanding: ' =
BaSIC L e e e 39,175,924 39,972,328 36,949,198 E
103 T 39,618,217 40,398,378 37,453,428 -

(21) OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Company has two operating segments: Protection Products and Accumulation Preducts. Products
generally distinguish a segment, A brief description of each segment follows:

Pmtectﬂ@m Products

The primary; product offerings-consist of interest-sensitive whole-life, term life, universal hfe and equity-
-indexed life insurance policies. These products are:marketed on a national basis primarily.through:a Preferred
‘Producer agency system, a ]Persona Producmg General Agent distribution system and Independent Marketing
Orgamzauons (]IMOs) L . . T

Accumulation ]P’mdunctts

The primary product offerings consist of traditional fixed annuities and equity-indexed annuities,
marketed on a national basis primarily through IMOs and independent brokers, and insurance contracts issued
through funding agreements.

A P R

The. Company uses the’samie accountmg pohcws and procedures to measure operating segment income B
and assets as it uses to measure its consolidated income from operations and assets with the exception of the
elimination of certain items which management believes are not necessarily indicative of overall operating
trends. These items are shown between segment pre-tax operating income and net income on the following
operating segment tables and are as follows:

1) Realized gains and losses on open block investments.

2) Market value changes and amortization of assets and liabilities associated with the accounting for
derivatives, such as:

= Unrealized gains and losses on open block options and securities held for trading.

o Change on option value of equity-indexed products and market value adjustments on total return
strategy annuities.

o Cash flow hedge amortization. =

3) Amortization of DAC and VOBA related to the realized gains and losses on the open block
investment and the derivative adjustments.
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4) Certain reinsurance adjustments.
5) Demutualization costs.
6) Restructuring costs.

7) Income from discontinued operations.

8) Other income from non-insurance operations.

9) Cumulative effect of change in accounting.

These items will fluctuate from period to period depending on the prevailing interest rate and economic
environment, or are not continuing in nature, or are not part of the core insurance operations. As a result,
management believes they do not reflect the ongoing earnings capacity of the Company’s operating segments.

Premiums, product charges, policyowner benefits, insurance expenses, amortization of DAC and VOBA
and dividends to policyowners are attributed directly to each operating segment. Net investment income and
Closed Block realized gains and losses on investments are allocated based on directly-related assets required
for transacting the business of that segment. Other revenues and benefits and expenses which are deemed not
to be associated with any specific segment are grouped together-in the “All Other” category. These items
primarily consist of holding company revenues and expenses,. operatlons of the Company’s real estate
management subsidiary, and accident and health insurance.

Assets are segmented basedoit policy: liabilities directly attributable*to each segment: There are no
significant intersegiment transactiofis: Depréciation and amortization; excludmg amortization: of DAC and
VOBA as prewously discussed, are not mgmﬁcant - gl ‘ :

iy
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Operating Segment Income

($ in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Protection Accumulation Total
Products Products All Other  Consolidated
Revenues:
Insurance premiums ................ i $290,707 $ 4,114 $ 787 § 295608
Product charges..........ccoiiiiineeinennnn, 138,215 43,139 — 181,354
Net investment iNComMe ... vvvvr v ennennnrees 321,532 672,141 8,241 1,001,914
Realized gains (losses) on closed block investments 9,326 — — 9,326
Other INCOmE . ..o it i it iaeeenns 4,224 61,849 988 67,061
764,004 781,243 10,016 1,555,263
Benefits and expenses:
Policyowner benefits . ............. ...t 387,068 478,256 (626) 864,698
Underwriting, acquisition, and other expenses ....... 76,042 69,225 18,367 163,634
Amortization of DAC and VOBA, net of open block
gain/loss-adjustment-of $16,257 :............... 74,211 102,872 — 177,083 7 . -
Dividends to policyowners ..............ooiiiit 98,393 — — 98,393
635,714 650,353 17,741 1,303,808
chment pre tax) operatmg mcome . o SUREE $12f§,290 $130,890 $( 7,725) 251 455 }
Realized galns (losses) on open block mvestments .. 32 196
Unrealized gains (losscs) on open block options and st .o
trading investments . ............ .o 89,769
Change in option value of equity-indexed products
and market value adjustments on total return
" ostrategy annuities. .. ....... i (65,741)
Cash flow hedge amortization .................... (3,827)
Amortization of DAC and VOBA due to open block i .
gains and [0SSes . ... o v vt e "(16,257)
Restructuring costs ................ P (23,294)
Reinsurance adjustments . ..................cc.n.. 3,854
Other income from non-insurance operations .. ..... 1,237
Income from continuing operations.................. 269,392
Interest (EXpemSe) .. .....vvvneenrenni (30,154)
Income tax (expense)} ............coiiiiiiiiiiian, (78,610)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax ...... 1,815
Cumulative effect of change in accounting, net of tax .. (1,296)

Net INCOME .. v e et e

3 161,147
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Operating Segment Income
($ in thousands)

Revenues:
Insurance premiums ........ ..o
Product charges........coiiiiiiiiiiieeennnnenes
Net investment income ............cvvvvrennnn..
Realized gains (losses) on closed block investments
Otherincome. ... ......oiiriiinineeien s,

Benefits and expenses:
Policyowner benefits . .......... ... ...
Underwriting, acquisition, and other expenses. . ...

Amortization of DAC and VOBA, net of open
block gain/loss adjustment of ($15, 002) e

Dividends to policyowners ........ e

Ségment 'pre-tax opcratmg income ....:.¢ AU S

“Reahzed gams (losses) on open block mvestments .-

Unrealized gains (losses) on open block optlons and
trading investments ...............0 ... oL

Change in option value of equity-indexed products
and market value adjustments on total return
strategy annuities. . .........oiiiiiiii i

Cash flow hedge amortization ....................

Amortization of DAC and VOBA due to open block
gains and losscs .............. S A

Demutualization costs...............o i,
Restructuring costs ........ ... il
Other income from non-insurance operations .......

Income from continuing operations..................
Interest (€XPENSE) .. vvvr ittt et
Income tax (€Xpense) ............ccvniiiiiiainiins
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax ......

Netincome . .ovovtien it SR

F-56

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Protection Accumulation Total
Products Products All Other Consslidated

$341,602 $ 8702 $§ 9% § 351,300

103,145 41,349 - 144,494
335,111 660,470 5,676 1,001,257
(2,400) —_ — (2,400)
4,026 60,420 2,675 67,121
781,484 770,941 9,347 1,561,772
403,293 490,401 2,606 896,300

80,319 68,585 13,363 162,267

63,267 91,300 — 154,567
104,866 — — 104,866

651,745 650,286 15,969 1,318,000

$129739  $120,655  $(6:622) - 243772

iy

(103310 .

(45,209)

28,759
(4,351)

- 15002
(1,186)
(21,225)
_ 1,392
114,644
(25,487).
(28,375)
2,084

$ 62,866




AMERUS GROUP CQ.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {Continued)

Orperating Segment Income

{$ in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2031

Protection

Accumulation Total

Products Products All Other  Counsolidated
Revenues:
Tnsurance premiums ..............cc0iiiiniii.... $300,690 $ 5,083 $ 132 § 305905
Product charges. ..o, 110,403 35,652 — 146,055
Net investmentincome ...........c.ccovivnii.... 283,330 577913 11,931 873,174
Realized gains (losses) on closed block investments 8,720 — — 8,720
Otherincome. ...t i 1,547 36,198 7,059 45,204
705,090 654,846 19,122 1,379,058
Benefits and expenses:
Policyowner benefits . ........... ... . i 384,159 419,132 2,459 805,750
Underwriting, acquisition, and other expenses ... .... 69,035 60,911 10,525 140,471
 Amortization of DAC and VOBA, net of open block _ o
' ' gain/loss adjustment of ($2,988) ............... 56,996 78,891 - v —- 135,887
‘Dividends to policyowners .................... .. 98,945 — - 98,945
o n | 609.135 558934  12.984 _L,181,053
~ Segment pre-tax operating income ... A $ 95955, $95912 . $.6138. 198,005,

Realized gains (losses) on open block investments ..

Unrealized gains (losses) on open block options and
trading investments ........... ... ...l

Change in option value of equity-indexed products
and market value adjustments on total return
strategy annuities............ooviiiiinii i,

Amortization of DAC and VOBA due to open block

ReStructuring COStS ... vvvvvvurneennnnnenenen..
Other income from non-insurance operations .......

Income from continuing operations..................
Interest (eXpense) ........ccovvviie e,
Income tax (expense) ...t
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax ......
Cumulative effect of change in accounting, net of tax ..

NetinCome ...ttt e

F-57

e (39,299)

(60,050)

52,747

(969)
(8,566)
532
145,388
(26,011)
(39,522)
1,288
(8,236)
$ 72,907

s € 20888 T o
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AMERUS GROUP CO. ‘
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Operating Segment Assets
{$ in thousands)

- . Protection Accumulation Tetat
Products Products All Other Consolidated

[ December 31, 2003

-;5 Investments ... ...t e $5,143,441  $12,780,990 $ 18,408 $17,942,839
:j DACand VOBA ... .. ... 789,725 749,987 — 1,539,712
— Otherassets ......coviiiiiiiiiiii e, 556,171 1,412,895 90,625 2,059,691

Total @ss€ts . ...t $6,489,337 $14,943,872 $109,033  $21,542,242

= December 31, 2002

_’“:5 Investments ........ ...t $4,966,449  $11,941,384 § 24,657 $16,932,490
DACand VOBA ........ ... i 691,849 646,549 — 1,338,398
Other assets . . ..o i e 703,697 1,235,412 83,668 2,022,777

“"'é TOtal @88€18 v e $6,361,995  $13,823,345  §108,325  $20,293,665

December 31, 2001

Investments ............. E - $4,595,113 $10,432660 $ 24,660 . $15,052,433
E DACand VOBA ......... ..., 613,945 612,564 — - 1,226,509
— Otherassets ...t i 547,812 1,340,123 132,275 = 2,020,210
T Total dssets ............. L ... 85756870 7 $12,385.347  §156,935 .~ $18,299,152

b

- F-58




AMERUS GCROUP CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) =g
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i (22) QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
2003 Quarterly Data
E Quarter Ended
- March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 R
= ($ in thousands, except share data) |
— Total FEVENUES ..\ttt ir e e, $ 407,75¢ $ 456273 § 374,656 § 441,357
"3 Total benefits and expenses ................ $ 348559 $ 383,519 § 307,102 § 371473 =
: Net income from continuing operations .. .. .. $§ 35302 $§ 43,178 $§ 40,291 § 41,857
Weighted average number of shares: -
BASIC .ottt 38,984,807 39,161,780 39,208,151 39,268,068
Diluted ........ccciviiiiiiiiii 39,217,951 39,404,467 39,650,473 40,133,053 i
i Net income from continuing operations per
5 share: o
= BASIC ..t $ 091 § 110§ 103§ 1.06 -
= Diluted .........covviiiii $ 090 § 110 8 102 3 1.03
- 2002 Quarterly Data
-] Quarter Ended -
- : . . - March 31 - June 30 2 - September 30 = December 31 —
- > s E ] . F i sl (8 in thousands, except share data) ° R . .
Total [EVERUES .\ v 'vveeeenrenieeneen, § 356691 $ 32288508 371,743~ 5 364326
Total benefits and expenses ................ $ 314674 $ 312,026 $ 326,642 - § 347,659 )
Net income from continving operations ...... $ 24,558 % 38260 $§ 25815 « § 6,583
Weighted average number of shares: B
BaSiC ...\t 41,349,785  40,155276 39,497,355 38,919,178
. Diluted ........ 0o 41,968,570 40,661,337 39,835,426 39,168,989
= . Net income from continuing operations per . . s e 8
i " o.sharg: 3T S S e T
— BasiC .\ i $ 059 $ 0.10 § 065 $ 0.18
. Diluted ......ooiviiiii .8 059 § 0.09 $ 065 8 0.17
: F-59 __
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

AMERUS GROUP CO.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule

Page
Independent Auditor’s Report on Schedules. ...l S-2
I Summary of Investments — Other than Investments in Related Parties ... .. .. S-3
II Condensed Financial Information of Registrant . .........covivreeerennnnn. S-4 through S-9
1 Supplementary Insurance Information. ............ ... .. o i S-10
v Reinsurance .. ... .. ..ottt i i e e S-11

All other schedules are omitted for the reason that they are not required, amounts are not sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or that the equivalent information has been included in the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto.
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-February 6, 2004

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS, ON SCHEDULES

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
AmerUs Group Co.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of AmerUs Group Co. as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, and have issued our report
thereon dated February 6, 2004 (included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). Cur audits also
included the financial schedules listed on page S-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These schedules are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Cur responsibility is to express an opinion based on our
audits.

In our opinion, the financial statement schedules referred to above, when considered in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein. As discussed in note 1 to the consolidated financial statement, in 2003 the Company changed its
method of accounting for embedded derivatives associated with certain reinsurance agreements, in 2002 the
Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangibles and in 2001 the Company
changed its method of accounting for derivative instruments and its method of accounting for its closed block

of business.
éwmﬂf ¥ L LLP

Des Moines, fowa
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AMERUS GROUP CO.

SCHEDULE I
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS
OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES

December 31, 2003

Amount at
. which Shown
Amortized Market in the Balance
Type of Investment Cost (1) Value Sheet
s ($ in thousands)
Fixed Maturities:
Bonds
v United States Government and government agencies

— and authorities ....... ... .. i i e $ 2,536,109  $2,725992 $ 2,725,992
States, municipalities and political subdivisions . ....... 65,724 67,137 67,137
: Foreign governments ...t 123,360 128,543 128,543
Public utilities. ........ ... 1,473,996 1,546,582 1,546,582
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached ........ 988,475 1,020,189 1,020,189
Indexed debt instruments .............. ... .. ... ... 404,383 396,126 396,126
All other corporate bonds . .................. ... ... 9,761,542 9,976,211 9,976,211
Redeemable preferred stock ..... ... e 210,815 173,683 173,683
Total fixed maturities. . . .......... ... ... ... ..., 15,564,404 16,034,463 16,034,463

Equity securities:
Common stocks . < ’ R
Banks, trust and insurance companies’........... I 58,428 ° 58438 v 58438
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other ..........- SO 4,282 4,756 . . 4,756
Non-redeemable preferred stocks................ e 11,738 13,348 . 13,348
Total equity securities .. .........oiiiiiiii . 74,443 76,542 76,542
Mortgage loans. ........... i e 968,572 : 968,572
Realestate ... ... .. i i i 33 33
Policy loans. .............. S 494,646 494,646
Other long-term investments ...... e ol o 338902 0 339,436 T 339,436
Short-term INVEStMENTS « . .« o' vv e re e e e e eeereen, 28,473 29,147 29,147
Total INVESTMENtS . . o et et $17,469,478 $17,942 839

(1) On the basis of cost adjusted for repayments and amortization of premiums and accrual of discounts for
fixed maturities, other long-term investments and short-term investments; original cost for equity
securities; unpaid principal balance for mortgage loans on real estate and policy loans; and original cost
less accumulated depreciation for investment real estate.

S-3
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AMERUS GROUP CO.

SCHEDULE II
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(Parent Company)

December 31,
2083 2002
(8 in thousands)

ASSETS
Investments: _
Equity securities available-for-sale at fairvalue . ........... .. . ...... ... $ 270 $ 311
L T4 0T B 1A oY 8 1113 11T OO 52,758 50,000
Investments in subsidiaries, at equity ......... ... . i 1,896,004 1,735,782
Cash and cash equivalents ....... ... .. . i i 7,574 . 15,512 ..
Accrued INVESTMENT INCOMIE . v .ottt ittt ettt iee e e eennns 1,125 1,161 -
: Property and eqUIpment . ...t e e 14,485 13,534
: Deferred INCOmMIE taKES . .ottt t ettt e ettt e —_ 12,502
DT B85S . o v v i e 28,707 11,335 i
= $2,000,923  $1,840,537
—3
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
= CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT ]

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
{Parent Company)

December 31,
2003 2002
{8 in thousands)

Liabilities and Stockheolders’ Equity

e Liabilities:

“ Accrued expenses and other liabilities.............. .. ... oL $ 42424 $§ 57,736

. Income taxes payable ........ ..ot e 4,872 6,709

Deferred INCOME taXes . .. ..o vt it i e e e 5,105 —_

= NOtES PAYADLE . .« ..ottt et e 538,711 479,626
= Total HabIlES . ... ... veeee et etee ettt 591,112 544,071 =
ES MIROMILY IMIETESt . « « v v et v e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e, —_ 33,518 —
Ko Stockholders’ equity:

o Preferred Stock, no par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized, none issued . . .: — —_

. Common Stock, no par value, 230,000,000 shares authorized; 43,836,608

shares issued and 39,194,602 shares outstanding in 2003; 43,656,280 shares . {

= issued and 39,011,578 shares outstandingin 2002 ...................... 43,836 43,656

* Paid-in capital . ... ... e 1,184,237 1,179,646

] Accumulated other compr;};ensive Ineome. .. ... ... e P 84,519 88,522 o .

Ep A Uneamned compensation................ P [T NG (1,361) _;: (458) . .. =

— Unallocated ESOP Shares .. .............c.oooovienn.. S 3. — 2(L,443) 0 n
HA Retained ammingS. ... . .\t ersesenrennrese e a e L 255,006 109,517 L -
B Treasury stock .. ..... s _(156,426) (156,492) =
— Total stockholders” equity ... .. ..ovorrr it 1,409,811 1,262,948 —
- Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ........coviuriiriinnnnnn $2,000,923  $1,840,537 -

-~ See .accompanying notes to condensed financial statements. .

S
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AMERUS GROUP CQ.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Parent Company)

i i et

Ll

Years ended December 31,
2803 2002 2001
($ in thousands)

lili.i 4 -'éil

Revenues:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries ............... .. ... ol $186,633  $88,563  $88,829
Net investment iNCOME . ... ..ttt et it 4,647 4,139 5,191
Realized investment gains (1osses) .........ooviriiiiieennnnannn, (42) 874 -
Otherincome (108S) . ... viti it e et et 274 (178) 13

191,512 93,998 94,033

Expenses: :
Operating eXPeNSES . . . ..ot ittt et s 12,919 8,906 4,832
Demutualization Costs ..........iiiriiiiiiiiiie e i — 954 — X
Restructuring costs .. ... S 3,034 11,021 1,843 -
INterest EXPEISE . . oottt e e e e e 26,635 22,165 23,583

42,588 43,046 30,258

Income from continuing operations. .................couian. SRR 148,924 50,952 63,775
Income tax (expense) benefit ... ... ... ... i 15,072 14,593 10,016
Minority interest .. ....... e e, L (2,849) (2,679) - (763)
161,147 62,866 73,028
. — — (121)
Net income . .....oooveviieniniinnn.. ST Leeeiieo.o.o. $161147 862866 $§72,907

)
==
3

-l
el
=)
=
3
=
5
|
3
3
=
=3
-
|
e
<z
sl

Net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting . . .
Cumulative effect of change in accounting, net of tax ... .. .

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements.
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AMERUS GROQUP CO.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Parent Company)

Cash flows {rom operating activities:
NELINCOME .ttt ittt e e e e
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting ......................
Equity in undistributed eamnings ............ ... oo
Dividends from subsidiaries .. ................ .. . oo
Realized investment gains ........... ... i il
MInority INterest . ... oottt ettt
Change in:
INCOmMe 1aXes . ..ottt e e
Other, net. ... . e e e

Net cash provided by operating activities......................

Cash flows from (nvesting activities:

Purchase of investments ... ... v eiiie i i
Sale of INVESMENtS . o .\ vt ittt e e e
Proceeds from repayment of loans ........... ..ot
Acquisition of ILICO.............. S O

_Otherassets, net ........ooooiiiiiiiiii [,

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ...... ......

" Cash flows from financing activities: {

Change in debt and capital securities, net ........... PR R
Allocation of shares in leveraged ESOP.................... e
Purchase of treasury stock, net of issuance ........................
Issuance of OCEANS. ... it i i
Issuance of PRIDES ... .. it it eie e
Retirement of company-obligated mandatonly redeemable capital

LSECUMtes - . e e
Capital contribution to subs:dlanes ...............................
Dividends paid to stockholders ............ ... ... . ool
Stock issued under various incentive plans, net of forfeitures .........
071 =) O o -5 PR

Net cash (used in) financing activities .......................

Net increase (decrease) incash ......... ...,
Cash at beginning of period . .. ........ ... .

Cashatendofperiod.............. ... ... il

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements.

S-7

Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(8 in thousands)
$161,147 $ 62,866 $72,907
— — 121
(186,633)  (88,563) (88,829)
83,758 45,332 75,900
42 (874) —
2,849 2,679 763
16,265 (8,463) 12,141
(30,641) 12,783 (19,997)
46,787 25,760 53,006
— —  (19,505)
— 3 18,000
— 3 142
— —  (4,980)
— 403, (387)
— 443 (6,730)
(84,664)  (38,430) 75,747
11,597 1,333 939
—  (114,638) (44,985)
— 179,593 —_
135,701 — _
. - -— (20-,8054).¢ BN _. .
(102,696)  (58,930) (39,306)
(15,658)  (15,536) (16,787)
11,060 14,623 8,678
(65) (109) 117
(54,725)  (52,899) (15,597)
(7,938)  (26,696) 30,679
15,512 42208 11,529
$ 7,574 $ 15512  $42,208
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AMERUS GROUP CO.
(Parent Company)

NCTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ll e !iuiLilLI lU;l i,l

(1) Basis of Presentation

;
H
|

gkl ds

AmerUs Group Co. (the Company) is the parent company of its primary subsidiaries, AmerUs Life
Insurance Company (ALIC), AmerUs Annuity Group Co. and its subsidiaries (collectively, AAG), AmerUs
Capital Management Group, Inc. (ACM), and ILICO Holdings, Inc., the holding company of Indianapolis
Life Insurance Company (ILIC) and its subsidiaries (collectively ILICQO). Prior to 2003, ALIC had a
7.8 percent ownership in ILICO which was recorded as minority interest. In 2003, ALIC dividended its
ownership in ILICO to the Company. The Company’s investment in its subsidiaries is stated at cost plus
equity in undistributed earnings of the subsidiaries. The Company’s share of net income of its unconsolidated
subsidiaries is included in income using the equity method. These financial statements should be read in ‘
conjunction with AmerUs Group Co.’s consolidated financial statements. .

il

f
L
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(2) Notes Payable i

w% Notes payable consist of the following:
;; December 31,
4 2003 2002
. _ij ($ in thousands)
: :-_; OCEANS due on March 6, 2032 (A) ..ot i e $187,723  $186,233
= PRIDES 00tes (B) + v\ cvverretetnieaeanieieannennn PR 143,750 —
g Senior notes bearmg interest at 6. 95% due June 2005........... ; .............. . 125,000 125,000. .
|- = Revolving Credit Agreement (C) ......ovuvveenenienenn. O L. 27,000 113,000
5 Junior Subordmygtcd debentures bearing interest at 8.85% (D) .. e *50;755 50,735 -
- Other intercompany (eliminated in consolidation) .............. R 4,483 4,638 -
— §538,711  $479,626 B
S (A) On March 6, 2002, the Company issued $185 million aggregate original principal amount of OCEANS, -
= The OCEANS are senior subordinated debt and were issued and sold in. an original principal amount of N
= $1,000 per-®CEAN, with' a pnnmpal amount at maturity of $1,270 per CCEAN. The maturity daté*of .

the OCEANSs s March 6, 2032. The OCEANs will have aggregate principal amount at maturity of
$235 million. The OCEANSs were registered on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 20, 2002. -

le;Ji

In

!
(‘li

(B) On May 28, 2003, the Company issued $125.0 million of PRIDES which were registered on Form S-3 .
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The PRIDES initially consist of a $25 senior note —
and a contract requiring the holder to purchase the Company’s common stock. The note has a minimum
term of 4.75 years, which may be extended by the Company in certain circumstances. Under the
purchase contract, holders of each contract are required to purchase the Company’s common stock on the .
settlement date of August 16, 2006 based on a specified settlement rate, which will vaty according to the =
applicable market value of the Company’s common stock at the settlement date.

1Ll. 1 1 i\i \imi.x“.i.i{xl‘

i
11

s

(C) The revolving credit agreement provides for a maximum borrowing of $200 million with the balance
maturing in December 2007. This agreement replaced the $175 million credit agreement in 2003. The
interest rate is variable, however, the Company may elect to fix the rate for periods from 30 days to six -
months. The loan agreement contains various financial and operating covenants which, among other
things, limit future indebtedness and restrict the amount of future dividend payments.
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AMERUS GROUP CQ. -
(Parent Compaiy) —
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) =
(D) The Company issued $88.66 million of junior subordinated debentures to a wholly-owned subsidiary trust
in connection with capital securities issued by the trust. The debentures bear interest at the rate of 8.85%
and mature February 1, 2027.
Maturities of notes payable are as follows for each of the next five years is as follows:
($ in thousands)
2004 L e $ 4,483
200 e e e 125,000
2006 e e e e —
2007 e e e e e e e 27,000
2008 L e e e 143,750 -
Thereafter .. ..o e 238,478 —
$538,711 —




AMERUS GROUP CO.

SCHEDULE I
B SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
B FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002, AND 2001
($ in thousands)
;‘ Benefits,
-5 Future policy Other policy claims,
j benefits, losses ¢claims & Net losses &  Amortization Other
= DAC & claims & loss  Unearned benefits Premium  investment  settlement of DAC&  operating Premiums
) 3 Segment VOBA expenses (1)  premiums payable (2)  revenue income expenses VOBA expenses  written
3:: Protection Products
5: 12/31/2003 ... ........... $ 789,725 $5917278 § — $52,506  $292,287 § 321,532 § 501,229 $ 76808 § 76048 n/a
;f; 1273142002, .....c.o0a et $ 691,849 8’5,428,918 § - $36,058  $341,602 § 335111 § 505123 $ 62523 § 80319 n/a
.—E 12/3172001 ...l $ 613945 §4752903 § — $29,152  $300,690 § 283,330 § 482,362 § 59,693 $ 69,035 n/a
E Accumulation Products
E 12/3172003.............. $ 749987 $12614576 § — $588 § 4114 § 672,141 § 534,122 $116,532 § 61,054 n/a
E 12/3172002. ..o $ 646,549 $12,363,587 § — $2570 § 8,702 § 660470 § 464678 $ 77,042 5 68,585 n/a
Bl 123172000 . ............. $ 612,564 $10,925389 § — $3505 $ 5083 $ 577913 § 367,127 § 73206 § 60911 nfa
J— Other
‘—" — 12/31/2003 ...t $ — 5 8979 § — § 506 5 787 § 8241 5§ 3200 § — $41660 n/a
p— 1273172002, ...t e e 3$ - § 89717 § — $ 941 5 9% § 5676 8§ 6957 § —  $35774 n/a :
?'_3% 12/3142000 .. .ooevnnn $ — § T8 S~ $§ 490 § 112§ 191 S 245 § — $2000 nsa -
- Tonl ) L |
::_‘:‘ .- A2/31/2003. ..l $1,539,712 $18,621,648 § — $58,880  $297,188 $1,001,914 $1,038,551. $193,340 $178,762 . n/a -
T S 12312002 $1,338,398 §17.882222 § — $39,569  8351,300 'v;$l,0g],257 $ 976,758  §139,565 . $184,678 n/a 2
- R Y 117 DU $1,226509 $15756166 S —  $33147  $305905 @ijﬁg,m § 851948  $132899 §IS0006 n/a -

i'.l

(1) Policy reserves, policyowner funds and dividends payable to polityowners

i

(2) Policy and contract claims -
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Year ended December 31, 2003
Life insurance in force ..........

Premiums
Life insurance ...............

Annuities ...................
Other ... i,

Total premiums ................

Year ended December 31, 2002
Life insurance in force ..........

Premiums
Life insurance ...............
Annuities ........ ..o,
Other ...........

Total premiums ... ... T
, i

Year ended December 31, 2001%
Life insurance in force ...... e

Premiums

Life insurance ...............
Annuities ....... .. i
Other ....onn.... EEERE RPN

Total premiums ...... PP

AMERUS GROUP CO.

SCHEDULE IV
REINSURANCE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002, AND 2001

Percentage
Ceded to Assumed of Amount
Qther From Other Assumed
Gross Amount Companies Companies Net Amount to Net
(S in thousands)
$83,441,177 $75,316,449  $14,826,361  $22,951,089 64.60%
$ 365302 § 118,644 § 45629 § 292,287 15.61%
4,114 — — 4,114 —%
8,172 7,610 225 787 28.59%
$ 377,588 $ 126254 § 45854 § 297,188 15.43%
$78,828,540  $71,067,236  $16,211,471  $23,972,775 67.62%
$ 402,282 § 109,846 § 49,166 § 341,602 14.39%
8,702 — — 8,702 —% .
8,519 7,901 378 996 37.95% .. .
$ 419,5(3_3» $ 1117,74.7 $ 49;544 $ 351,300 14.10% .
$66,268,038 $49,45‘3,962 $ 4,206,218 $21,020,294 20.01%
$ 366,666 $ 92,327 §% 26,351  $ 300,690 8.76%
5,222 139 — 5,083 —%
$ 373421 $ 93867 $ 26351 § 305905 8.61%




Earnings
Pre-tax from continuing operations........
Less: Minority interest ..................
Less: Income (loss) from equity investees. .

Add: Distributed income from equity
INVESteRS . . .ot

Fixed charges..........................

Total Earnings . ..........ooiiiiiinnne.

Fixed Charges
Interest credited to policyowners..........
Interest expense ondebt ................
Amortization of debt issuance costs .......
Estimate of interest within rental expense . .

Total Fixed Charges ................... ..

Ratio of Eamings to Fixed Charges .. ... SIS

I

AMERUS GROUP CO.

EXHIBIT 12 — STATEMENT RE: COMPUTATION OF RATIOS
RATIC QF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
($ in thousands, except ratio data)

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
$239,238 $ 89,137 $119,377 $115,737 $101,113
- - — 21677 28,107
12,563 (3,993) 5,072 3,481 (603)
1,521 2,591 7,730 4,449 1,304
228,196 95741 122,035 95028 75413
570,646 492,093 371,667 344363 356,617
$798,.842  $587.834  $493702  $439,391  $432,030
$538,622  $464,022 $341,575 $312,008  $352,941
30,154 25487 26,011 29723 28,983
1,137 985 3,155 1,833 1,538
733 1,599 926 799 155
$570,646  $492.093 - $371,667 $344,363 « $356,617
1.40 1.19 - 133 & 128 ¢ 121 %




EXHIBIT 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name Jurisdiction
AmerUs Life Insurance Company .............ovvvminnen.... e Towa
AmerUs Annuity Group o . .. ov it e e Kansas
American Investors Life Insurance Company, Inc. ............ it iiiiiiiiiinenn. Kansas
AmerUs Capital Management Group, Inc............ it i Iowa
ILICO Holdings, InC. .. vvvtt i e e e e e Indiana
Indianapolis Life Insurance Company .. .......ooruitine et iiiianeeens Indiana
Bankers Life Insurance Company of New York ....... ..., New York
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